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The Annual General Meeting of Orkia ASA will be held at Gamle Logen

Grey Wedels plass 0151 Oslo on Thursday 23 April 2009 at p.m

The agenda is as follows

Approval of the financial statements for 2008 for Orkla ASA and

the Orkla Group and the annual report of the Board of Directors

including approval of share dividend for 2008 of NOK 2.25 per

share except for shares owned by the Group

Amendments to the Articles of Association

President and CEO Dag Opedal will be proposed as candidate for

the offices of member and chairman of the Board of Directors of

Renewable Energy Corporation ASA REC at the Annual General

Meeting of REC on 19 May 2009

To ensure clarity in relation to governance Orkla finds it appropriate

to draw formal and real distinction between on the one hand

the functions of potential member of the Board of REC and that

of President and CEO of Orklas other operations and on the other

hand that of highest administrative executive of Orklas wholly-

owned solar business in Elkem Solar AS It is therefore proposed that

Orklas Articles of Association be amended to enable the Board of

Directors of Orkla ASA to appoint one additional general manage

with the object of giving the latter delimited
responsibility

for Elkem

Solar if Dag Opedal is elected to the Board of Directors of REC This

is being done to preclude any governance-related issues

In connection with the amendment of the Articles of Association it

is also deemed appropriate to make certain
linguistic changes to up

date the provisions in question It is proposed that the term mana

ging director be amended to general manager and that the term

chairman of the Board be amended to the chair of the Board

It is also proposed that the wording of Article of the Articles of

Association be simplified by deleting from among or outside the

circle of its members without any intention of this entailing any

change

It is accordingly proposed that Article of the Articles of Association

be amended to read as follows

The Board of Directors shall appoint one ormore general managers

as head of the overall administration

It is proposed that Article of the Articles of Association be amended

to read as follows

The following persons shall be authorised to sign for the company

the Chair of the Board of Directors together with one of the Board

members the general manager oç pursuant to the decision of the

Board specifically designated employees

it is proposed that Article 10 first sentence of the Articles of

Association be amended to read as follows

elect the members of the Board of Directors and deputy members

if appropriate in accordance with Article third paragraph elect the

Chair of the Board of Directors and determine the fee of the Board of

Directors

follows

It is proposed that Article second sentence of the Articles of

Association be amended to read as follows

The registered office of the company is in Oslo

As consequence of the proposed amendment to Article second

sentence it is proposed that the second sentence of Article 12 be

deleted

It
is proposed that Article 15 first paragraph second sentence of the

Articles of Association be amended to read as follows

Notice of the General Meeting shall be given by letter to all share

holders with known address and by announcement in advertise

ment in national newspaper

Authorisation to acquire treasury shares

At the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2008 the Board of

Directors was authorised to acquire shares in Orkla ASA until the

Annual General Meeting in 2009

The Board of Directors proposes that this authorisation be renewed

Authorisation to acquire treasury shares was granted for the first

time at the Annual General Meeting on May 1998 and has been

renewed every year In accordance with this authorisation the com

pany has acquired 79737630 shares in Orkla ASA since May 1998

and up to the present date

The reason for this proposal is as before to enable the Board to

avail itself of the possibility pursuant to section 9-2 et seq of the

Public Limited
Liability Companies Act to acquire treasury shares

up to maximum value of 100/0 of share capital Shares acquired

pursuant to this authorisation must be cancelled or used for em

ployee incentive programmes cf item of the agenda

The Board of Directors proposes the following resolution cf section

9-4 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act

The General Meeting of Orkla ASA hereby authorises the Board

of Directors to permit the company to acquire shares in Orkla ASA

with nominal value of up to NOK 125000000 divided between

maximum of 100000000 shares provided that the companys

holding of treasury shares does not exceed 0/o of shares outstanding

at any given time The amount that may be paid per share shall

be no less than NOK 20 and no more than NOK 120 The Board of

Directors shall have free hand with respect to methods of acqui

sition and disposal of treasury shares This authorisation shall apply

from 24 April 2009 until the date of the Annual General Meeting in

2010

Authorisation for the Board of Directors to increase share capital

through the subscription of new shares

At the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2008 the authorisation

granted to the Board of Directors to increase share capital by up

to NOK 90000000 through the subscription of new shares was
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renewed The authorisation applies until the Annual General Meeting Approval of the Auditors remuneration

in 2009

The Board of Directors proposes that the authorisation be renewed

Such authorisation has regularly been granted by previous General

Meetings The reason for this proposal is as before that the authori

sation will simplify procedures if it should prove desirable to further

develop the Groups core businesses by acquiring companies in

return for consideration in the form of the subscription of new shares

or otherwise increase share capital by means of private placings

The Board of Directors proposes the following resolution cf sections

10-14 to 10-19 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act

The Board of Directors is authorised to increase share capital through

the subscription of new shares with an aggregate nominal value of

up to NOK 90000000 divided between maximum of 72000000

shares each with nominal value of NOK 1.25 This authorisation

may be used for one or more share issues

The Board of Directors may decide to deviate from the pre-emptive

right of shareholders to subscribe for shares pursuant to section 10-4

of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act

The Board of Directors may decide that payment for the shares shall

be effected in assets other than cash or the
right

to subject the

company to special obligations pursuant to section 10-2 of the Public

Limited Liability Companies Act If payment is made in assets other

than cash the Board may decide that such assets shall be transfer

red to subsidiary in return for corresponding settlement between

the subsidiary and Orkla ASA

The authorisation also applies to decisions to merge pursuant to

section 13-5 of the Public Limited
Liability Companies Act

This authorisation shall apply from 24
April

2009 until the date of the

Annual General Meeting in 2010

Orklas terms and conditions policy remuneration of executive

management and the Groups incentive programmes

5.1 Explanation of Orklas terms and conditions policy and the Board of

Directors statement of guidelines for the pay and other remune

ration of the executive management

5.2 Advisory vote on the Board of Directors guidelines for the remune

ration of the executive management for the coming financial year

5.3 Approval of guidelines for share-related incentive arrangements for

the coming financial year

Election of members and deputy members to the Corporate

Assembly

The recommendation of 27 March 2009 is attached herewith

Election of members to the Nomination Committee

The recommendation of 27 March 2009 is attached herewith

Election of the chair of the Nomination Committee

The recommendation of 27 March 2009 is attached herewith

Pursuant to Article 17 of the Articles of Association the Annual General

Meeting will be opened and chaired by the Chairman of the Corporate

Assembly

Shareholders are entitled to
participate

in the Annual General Meeting

either in person or by proxy of their own choice Notice of attendan

ce must be received no later than 4.00 p.m on 21 April 2009 Notice

of attendance may be given electronically through Orklas website

www.orkla.com or VPS Investor Services or by completing and sending

the attendance form to DnB NOR Bank ASA Securities Service

Shareholders who wish to be represented and vote at the Annual General

Meeting by proxy may send the proxy form electronically through VPS

Investor Services or to DnB NOR Bank ASA Securities Service within the

time limit stated above Proxy forms may also be brought to the Annual

General Meeting Proof of the identity of the proxy and the person

represented by proxy and the company certificate if the shareholder is

legal entity must be submitted along with the proxy

Attendance and proxy forms are enclosed

The company has issued 1028930970 shares Each share carries

one vote at the Annual General Meeting but no voting right may be

exercised for shares belonging to the Group Shareholders are entitled to

vote the number of shares that they each own and that are registered

with the Norwegian Central Securities Depository VPS on the date of

the General Meeting If shareholder has acquired shares shortly before

the General Meeting the voting rights
for the transferred shares may

only be exercised if the acquisition has been recorded by the VPS or if

the acquisition has been reported to the VPS and documentary evidence

thereof is presented at the General Meeting Shareholders may bring an

advisor and may give one advisor the right to speak

Shareholders are entitled to submit items of business for consideration

at the Annual General Meeting provided the items have been submitted

to the Board of Directors in writing early enough to be included in the

notice of the Annual General Meeting or been submitted at least two

weeks
prior to the Annual General Meeting so that new notice may be

sent out As rule the General Meeting may not consider any matters

other than those specified in the notice of the meeting Proposals of

candidates for election to the Corporate Assembly and/or the Nomination

Committee may also be submitted during the Annual General Meeting

The shares will be quoted exclusive of the dividend on 24 April 2009

Subject to the decision of the General Meeting regarding the share

dividend the dividend will be paid on May 2009 to shareholders of

record as of the date of the Annual General Meeting In order to avoid

loss or delay shareholders must give notice of their acquisition of shares

and any change of address as soon as possible and specify the account

into which dividends are to be paid to the bank/stockbroker selected

as account manager in respect of the Norwegian Central Securities

Depository

The notice of the Annual General Meeting and other documents relating

to items of business may be found at www.orkla.com

Oslo April 2009

Knut Brundtland

Chair of the Corporate AssemblyAppendix
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APPENDIX TO ITEM ON THE AGENDA

To the General Meeting of Orkla ASA Elisabeth Grieg has informed the Nomination Committee that she

will not stand for re-election

The Nomination Committee recommends that the following persons

ELECTION OF MEMBERS AND DEPUTY MEMBERS TO THE be re-elected

CORPORATE ASSEMBLY

No of shares owned personally/company affiliation and share-

Introduction holding at 31 December 2008

Johan Andresen Jr 0/Ferd AS 3266500
The Nomination Committee has considered the composition of the

Idar Kreutzer 0/Storebrand 1941175
Corporate Assembly and its deputy members at four meetings The

Knut Brundtland

Nomination Committee has contacted the 20 largest shareholders
Rune Bjerke 0/DnB NOR 27129164

for suggestions or comments in connection with the coming elec-

Kjetil Houg 600/Oslo Pensjonsforsikring 8500000
tioris and has spoken with representatives of several shareholders

Nils-Henhik Pettersson 80/Advokatfirma Schjdt AS

Information on the way shareholders may submit comments and
Gunn Wisted 0/Nordea 6392818

suggestions to the Nomination Committee has been available on
Lars Windfeldt 126265

the companys website
Anne Gudefin 0/Franklin Templeton Investments

86438738
In connection with the coming elections the Nomination Committee

Olaug Svarva 0/Folketrygdfondet 121313110
has considered it desirable to ensure the greatest possible degree

Dag Mejdell 13450/Posten Norge AS
of continuity among the members of the Corporate Assembly

Marianne Blystad 0/Advokatfirmaet Ro Sommernes DA

Nils Selte 51000/Canicasystemet 238342000t
Further grounds for the recommendation of the Nomination

mci shares owned by related parties

Committee will be provided at the Annual General Meeting

The Nomination Committee further recommends that the following
Members

person be elected as new member of the Corporate Assembly

At Orklas Annual General Meeting in spring 2007 the following

Terje Venold 1000
members of the Corporate Assembly were elected for term of

two years
Further information regarding Mr Venold may be found in the

attachment to this recommendation
Elected from

Elisabeth Grieg 2001
Pursuant to section fourth paragraph of the Articles of

Johan Andresen
Jr 2001

Association the term of election may be set at up to two years The

Idar Kreutzer 2003
Nomination Committee is of the opinion that an annual assessment

Knut Brundtland 2007
of the overall composition of the Corporate Assembly will ensure

Rune Bjerke 2007
somewhat greater flexibility and therefore proposes that the term

Kjetil Houg 2007
of election be set as last year at one year i.e until the Annual

General Meeting in 2010
At Orklas Annual General Meeting in spring 2008 the following

members of the Corporate Assembly were elected for term of

Deputy members
one year

At Orklas Annual General Meeting in spring 2007 the following
Nils-Henrik Pettersson 2003

deputy members were elected for term of two years the number
Gunn Wrsted deputy 2001-03 member 2003

in brackets indicates the order in which they are to be summoned
Lars Windfeldt 2006
Anne Gudefin 2006

Elected from

Olaug Svarva deputy 1995-01 member 2006 Te Venold 2001
Dag Mejdell 2006

Anne Birgitte
Fossum 2003

Marianne Blystad 2006
Scilla Treschow Hokholt 2003

Nils Selte 2008
Andreas Enger 2007

Consequently all the members are now up for election



At Orkias Annual General Meeting in spring 2008 the following Further information regarding Ms Berdal may be found in the

deputy members were elected for term of one year the number in attachment to this recommendation

brackets indicates the order in which they are to be summoned

Pursuant to section fourth paragraph of the Articles of Association

Ann Kristin Brautaset 2006 the term of election may be set at up to two years As stated above

Benedikte Bjrn 2006 the Nomination Committee is of the opinion that an annual assess

ment of the overall composition of the Corporate Assembly will

Consequently all the deputy members are now up for election ensure somewhat greater flexibility and therefore proposes that

the term of election be set at one year i.e until the Annual General

The Nomination Committee has recommended that Terje Venold be
Meeting in 2010

elected as member of the Corporate Assembly

In view of the fact that Mr Venold has been recommended for

The Nomination Committee recommends that the other deputy election as member of the Corporate Assembly the Nomination

members be re-elected Committee proposes to maintain the order in which the deputy

members will be summoned to attend meetings in the event of the

No of shares owned personally/company affiliation and share-
inability of member to attend as follows

holdinu at 31 December 2008

Ann Kristin Brautaset 0/Folketrygdfondet 121313110 Ann Kristin Brautaset

Anne Birgitte Fossum 6500/Foinco Anne
Birgitte

Fossum

Scilla Treschow Hokholt 71965 Scilla Treschow Hokholt

Benedikte Bjrn 0/StatollHydro ASA 4655950 Benedikte Bjrn

Andreas
Eriger 5000 Andreas Enger

Mimi Berdal

The Nomination Committee further recommends that the following

person be elected as new deputy member of the Corporate

Assembly

Mimi Berdal

Oslo 27 March 2009

Knut Brundtland Idar Kreutzer Elisabeth Grieg

Leiv Askvig Olaug Svarva

Appendix
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APPENDIX TO ITEM AND ON THE AGENDA

ELECTION OF MEMBERS TO THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Pursuant to Article 18 of its Articles of Association Orkia has

Nomination Committee that is charged with submitting recommen

dations to the General Meeting regarding its election of members

to the Corporate Assembly recommendations to the shareholder-

elected members of the Corporate Assembly regarding their election

of members to the Board of Directors and recommendations to the

Corporate Assembly regarding its election of the Chair of the Board

In connection with the preparation of recommendations regarding

the election of the Chair of the Board the Nomination Committee is

supplemented by one representative designated by the employee-

elected members of the Corporate Assembly

The following member and chair of the Nomination Committee is

up for election

Knut Brundtland

Elected from

2007

Furthermore Elisabeth Grieg has stated that since she is not standing

for re-election as member of the Corporate Assembly she will also

resign as member of the Nomination Committee

When the Nomination Committee contacted the 20 largest share

holders it also requested suggestions and comments in connection

with the election of members to the Nomination Committee

Information as to how shareholders may submit suggestions regar

ding the composition of the Nomination Committee has been avai

lable on Orklas website

The undersigned who are members of the Nomination Committee

are not up for election this year

The undersigned recommend that Knut Brundtland be re-elected as

member and chair of the Nomination Committee

The undersigned also recommend that Nils-Henrik Pettersson be

elected as new member of the Nomination Committee Nils-Henrik

Pettersson has been nominated by Canica AS Pettersson owns 80

shares in Orkla ASA

Further information regarding Nils-Henrik Petteisson may be found

in the attachment to this recommendation

Pursuant to Article 18 first paragraph of Orklas Articles of Association

it is proposed that the term of election be set at two years i.e until

the Annual General Meeting in 2011

Oslo 27 March 2009

Idar Kreutzer Leiv AskvigOlaug Svarva

Appendix
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APPENDIX TO THE RECOMMENDATION OF

THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Information concerning the new member for the

Corporate Assembly

Terje Venold year of birth 1950

Education

1973 MBA Sivilkonom Norwegian School of Management BI

Elected positions

Deputy member of the Corporate Assembly of Orkla ASA since 2001

Chairman of the Board Norwegian School of Management BI

from August 2009

Chairman of the Committee of Representatives Storebrand ASA

Chairman of the Board AksjeNorge Foundation

Member of the Corporate Assembly Norsk Hydro ASA

Member of the Central Board of the Norwegian Confederation of

Enterprise NHO
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the AFF Foundation

Information concerning the new deputy member for the

Corporate Assembly

Mimi Berdal year of birth 1959

Education

1987 Law degree University of Oslo

Work experience

2005-

00 1-2005

Own law and consultancy firm

Partner Arntzen de Besche Advokatfirma AS

law firm Oslo

1996-2000 Partneç Arntzen Underland Er Co law firm Oslo

1991-1996 Assistant advocate/Advocate Arntzen

Underland Er Co

1988-1990 Legal Adviseç Total Norge AS

1985-1986 Assistant lecturer Scandinavian Institute of Maritime

Law University of Oslo

Elected positions

Since 2003 Itera Consulting Group ASA listed IT consultancy

company Deputy Chairman

Since 2004 Rocksource ASA listed petroleum company

Deputy Chairman

Since 2006 Gjensidige lnvesteringsrªdgivning ASA

investment consultancy

Since 2006 Gjensidige Pensjon og Sparing Holding AS

pensions and savings

Since 2006 Synnave Finden ASA listed consumer goods company

Since 2006 Copeinca ASA Peruvian fishery group listed on

the Oslo Stock Exchange

Since 2007 Gassco AS state limited liability company

responsible for operating and developing the gas

pipe network on the Norwegian continental shelf

Since 2007 Q-Free ASA listed technology company

Since 2007 24SevenOffice ASA supplier of web-based business

solutions listed on the Oslo Axess list

Since 2007 Infratek ASA construction operation and security of

critical infrastructure demerged from Hafslund ASA

and listed Q4 2007

Since 2008 DnB NOR Eiendomsfond AS and subsidiaries

Since 2009 Wavefield Inseis ASA geophysical products and

services for the maritime sector

Since 2005 Sevan Marine ASA listed petroleum production

company member of the Nomination Committee

Information concerning the new member for the Nomination

Committee

Nils-Henrik Pettersson year of birth 1957

Education

1982 Law degree University of Oslo

1984 Basic course socio-economics University of Oslo

Work experience

1988- Partner Advokatfirmaet Schjdt DA law firm

1984-1988 Advocate Advokatfirmaet Schjadt DA

1983-1984 Deputy Judge Alstahaug

1981-1983 Auditors assistant Fladstad Mjelve stb

Elected positions

2003- Member of the Corporate Assembly of Orkla ASA

2002- Canica AS member of the Board

2003- Datarespons ASA member of the Nomination Committee

2008- AF Gruppen A5A Chairman of the Board

Work experience

1989 Group CEO Veidekke

1985-1989 Finance Directoç Veidekke

1981-1 985 Finance Manageç Veidekke

1979-1 981 Finance Managec Blystad Group

1974-1 979 Finance Secretary/Accounting Mariagec Norsk Data A/S
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Report of

the Board of Directors

2008 was the most dramatic year for the global economy since World War II Triggered by

serious financial crisis the problems have gradually spread to the real economy with sharp

decline in demand in many market segments Moreover it is not inconceivable that the global

economy will see negative economic growth in 2009

The global economic crisis has had negative impact on the Orkla Group However with

differentiated portfolio strong balance sheet and robust long-term financing structure

the Group is well equipped to meet the challenges ahead In addition Orkla has the capacity

to exploit any new opportunities that may arise in the wake of the crisis

Main trends in 2008

Although the year was characterised by

financial crisis and declining markets

Orkla strengthened its strategic posi

tions and carried out significant

structural moves in 2008

In 2008 Orkia had two businesses

jointly owned with Alcoa Elkem

Aluminium which produces primary

aluminium and Sapa Profiles the lead

ing global manufacturer of aluminium

extrusions Towards the end of the

year Orkia entered into an agreement

with Alcoa to exchange its stake in

Elkem Aluminium for Alcoas shares in

Sapa Profiles The agreement is subject

to the approval of the relevant compe
tition authorities and is expected to be

completed in the first quarter of 2009

Elkem Aluminium was contractually

prevented from operating outside

Norway Since Orkla did not have any

ownership interests in or control of

important raw material this position

offered little potential for development

The swap agreement will give Orkla

sole ownership of global business

system with solid competence base

and leading market positions in the

USA and Europe The aim for Orkla

Aluminium Solutions which is not

highly capital intensive business

is to develop decentralised business

structure with
stronger

focus on

customer needs

In the Solar sector Orkla has moved

its positions forward in 2008

Construction of the first factory for

solar grade silicon based on Elkem

Solars own technology and
process

was mechanically completed at the end

of the year The start-up programme

has been initiated and the factory will

gradually be ramped up in the course

of 2009 as the subsidiary processes and

flow of materials through the factory

are optimised and verified The facto

rys annual capacity is approximately

6ooo tonnes and volume of 1500-

2500 tonnes is anticipated in the start

up year The Renewable Energy

Corporation in which Orkla owns

39.3 stake continued to expand

throughout 2008 with both the devel

opment of the new technology

Fluidized Bed Reactors FBR and co

herent construction of silicon factory

in the USA the expansion of wafer

capacity in Norway and the start-up of

the construction project for Phase of

an integrated wafer cell and module

factory in Singapore

In 2008 Orkla sold its 40 interest in

Hjemmet Mortensen to Egmont for

NOK 950 million The sale of shares

enerated book gain of NOK 830 million

which is reported in the financial state

ments on the line for profit from associ

ates Following this sale Orkla is no long

er involved in the media business and

total proceeds from the sale of Orkla

Media amount to almost NOK billion

Sharp price increases for raw materials

and other input factors and the weak

performance of Bakers and the Eastern

European businesses resulted in decline

in profit for Orkia Brands in 2007 With

the help of extensive improvement pro

grammes and price adjustments Orkla

Brands compensated for this in 2008 and

in line with its stated intentions brought

the business back to its normal profit

trend Both profit and margins improved

for all business units

The financial crisis intensified in the

second half of the year while the full

impact on the real economy was not

felt until the end of the
year

Orklas

businesses are exposed to this impact

to differing degrees Orkla Brands and

Orkla Materials energy production are

expected to be less affected while

Orkla Financial Investments has al

ready been hit hard due to the fall in

the value of the Share Portfolio

Orkla Aluminium Solutions markets

react rapidly to changes in GDP

growth and there was significant

decline in demand in both the USA

and Europe in the course of 2008

while the Asian market was somewhat

more resilient In Orkla Materials both

Borregaard and Elkem experienced

falling demand towards the end of the

year Orkla has introduced strong

measures to adapt capacity and the use
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has been it duced around it

Similarly Ikein sun on telated bust

ness has intioclu ed measutes to adapt

capaci yto changing demand on an

ongoir basis Ot Ua has tiso iniple

tented genetal uneasutes to bce up

woiking capital and has intioduced cx

etnely dric oritisation nteasuic

for ins etment funds

xtensivc opt tattonal impiovemi nt

togtammes cot tinned throughout

the
year

lie aim of the Ttoups cost

cuttinf nogtainincs was to tcchtce

tic cotbasebsNOK bdltonliythc

end of co8 conipated with Liii level at

the nd of icc his tar3.et has been

eceedecL but in det lying cost inflation

las also inc reasecl din big tin period

Ihecasi lion an ccSwasalfectcclbs

the completion of major nsesttnc itt

projec such as Ikent Solar and the

sdropower cit velopnient prograanmc

at hauda Only minor outstanding

comm tments temain in connection

with thc se expansion piojec ts itt oo9
In addition to this aftet two years of

substantial capt ii realisat ion born

tin Shari Poitfo lo thcre isete net

purchases of shaies in oo8 lotal an

it ialised woikin capital developc In

negative dhectton due to high pnces

tot ta mate ial anti finished pro

ducts andawc ikNOKatcarcnd
Measuies habe teen irnplemc nted to

reducc operatin capital leaclmg to

rc cluction of apinocimately NOL
billion in lie fottr th quat ter alone

Net lnterc 51 heat big liabilities totalled

NOK billion at year end Ozkla

liabilitic atc cut iclecl between c.urren

ties in linc with thc roup eqttitv

capital etposwc and weak NOK
towatcls the end of the ycat iesulteci

in higher liabilities mc asu red only in

NOK Based on ecchange tafts as of

ih Ic btuar liabilities measutecl ott

in 10K would have been around

NOK billion low ci than tin weic

at yc at end Orkla has stiong solid

balanc shec total with au equut to

total astts iatioof ihis in

conjunction hIt long itt tobust

financing enswes that the stoup ha

ample leeway even in mon challeng

big markets the Otkia Gtoup has no

fnmanc ial covenants in its hot towing

agteernents
and has tunusecl long Urn

tedit facilities that mote than cover

loin tepayments itt 209 and 1010

Otklas tesults for zooS weic affectedb

shaip fall an same and accounting

write clnnns oit the Short Iortfcllo due

to the hnanc Lii crisis and substantial

industrial uestiuctuiing and capacit

adjustnicttts In step with niaukc trends

towards the end of the year In total

these write downs and testuucturlng pto

ttsioit annunted to NOK 801K sharc

and are thc main reason why stoop

earntngs pet shaic diluted aid adjusted

sine weak unountmg to NOL t.t

conipared with NOk 8.8 In zoo

In scab the pike of the Onkla shore

dropped front NOK 105/5 to

NOK 1545 Including teinvested

dividends this represented ietuin

to shareholdets of By con

paruson
the Oslo Stock Fxchauge is

down

the Boaid of lihec totspan

ordinary dividend of NOk 225 per

share the sante amount fot the

oo act outiting year
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Contacts and financial

hedge instruments

Otk1albandsgerterill ha few 10%

riii putt iiasirrg iii ale ..ontrtic

Within Ot lila Materials 11cm has

cc rtain long terrrt power contracts

while both ilieon and 11cc Solar

havc c..t Lain ion%c term sales

contra ts with lift of more than

one yen uither details of contracts

and fina icial instrument ma be

found in Note to the roup

consolid itt hnanc id statements

Capital structurc

In the couuse of coS thc balaruc

sheet totil mdc sect by just out

NOJ io billion his is largely ascriha

ble to the expansion investments in

Ikem Solar and Saucefalderre the

in ret enables and inventor res and

lot eigjr cxc hang effects ftc sharp

decline in the due of OrUa linancial

Investments Sh ire Portfolio reduced

ccltuty capital by 10K .2 4a8 rnifllon

rller lix and at the same time reduced

the balance slrec total At yea end thc

cquity to total at sets ratio was .7

comprcdssith attheendol

ocr let gearing defined as net

interest iwaring liabilitic as pc it eni

age
of equits Capital was at thc

end of io8 01 ipared with 019 in

doo th Orkla Brands and Oikla

Mater als energy businesses pros ide

strong stabk cash flow even in ss

stable niarkets ow thet with strong

alancc shect with large lrcluicl tssets

Oikb thtiefoie etains its robust Ii

nauc ic position even in todays weak

markets Refinancing needs will lx

modest the tint en ye its and the

warp
has undrawn credit facrlities

that niore than ctscr loan instalments

iii 2009 intl eoi

Pensions

In reccnt ycars
dl Orkias Noint gian

companac hase changed over front

defined benefit chemc to defuiecl

onti utiorr schemes Outside Morn ay

defined contribution schc mes ate also

to somc extc mit sect onsc quentfy the

Groups exposure to future pension

liabilities is morc predictable Pension

Costs in 2008 were on par with the

pres tons ear

The Okla share

On 14 April aoo8 the General Mettrng

adoptcd rcsolution to cancel oo oo

tic aswy share and at thic end of ao

theic were total of io.zh 930970

Orkla shares he number of sharehold

cas Increased by96bO to o6r Ihc

proportion
of shares held by foreign

investors chopped 6.9 pet centage points

to 35.9

11w price of the Orkia share was

NOK io.i5 at the beginning of the

year yc ar end the prkc was

Mfl 44 taint into account ix

rnested dividends of NOX z.i this

represcntsareturnof By Corn

par isori the dividend adjusted retiun

on the MorFan Stanley Nordic lndc ii

was 46.0 and on the Ia Stock

xchange Benchmark lnckx

further detiris conccrnmg shares arid

shareholders may lx found on pages

84

Risk management
It is neither desirable nor possible to

eliminate aft risk relating to thc

Gioups business actisitre% lire Board

of lrrcctois rreserthekss conccrned

to ensure that risk is managed can liii

ly and systematically iii all parts of the

Group and regards this as preic qua

siti for long term salue rcation for

shareholdc is rnpioyee and soc rety

at large iron th potential must always

lx assesscd against thc assoc.r ited ask

picture

Risk managerncnt in tIre Orkla Group

is coordrnated by the Chic Risk

Officer ItO this role is desc riheci

in more detail In thc chapter on corpo

ratc governance on pages 5993
Orkla ovi raIl risk pic tur is con oh

datedarrddiscusscdwith theGroup

xecutive Board If unacceptablc

fat tots are icfentrfic nrc asures arc

lmplentcnt to mnitig itt risk he

mc tall risk picture is also

presented to the Board rf lMrec tots

tudit Committee and to rlij Bnarj of

Directors ihis includes tisk me atrnrg

to profitability US focal salt ty info

matron sec unt fmanc ial report big

repartatlorr and contphancc In tdcli

tron to this
espec

ialh import tnt risk

fat tots ate rehweci nrore rcqrilrrly art

otder to consider nhethtr the Groups

exposuic
is

accept
rblc lix goal is to

ensure th it over tine the organisa

non in general and the sanous dec

sian inakina bodies in nat tic ular

improve the abrht to astss risk

in rtfation to the antrcipatcd relrnn

This will contribute towards urther

improving thc Groups dcc isrcn

making processe

Ac cording to the rot Risk

Managemen Instructions risk tssc ss

wants must bet uriS out in all unit

mrrcluding major project tract therc after

be reported to the next orj misalion il

LeveL lix risk pictures of thesatious

units ate piesented and cli cussc

the various rnternal board of ch cc tot

as partof the budgct prncc
lherc is

special focus on ch rnc intel ition to

thc pies roars war and the 0cc of risk

reducing nietswcs Whcn import tnt

decisions arc to be takcn such as those

concerning acquisitions disc Intents

or major lnvc stmc tits the saint for antI

mc quuensent rrsk is ssmc nt appfs

as lot ongoing risk manaec inent

units risk pactwe idcntrfrc the ma

risk factoas cri the basrs of that wut

saluc chain ac.h senior cxc cutrsc in

the Orkla Group is rcsponsthl for

swing that ire or she is iwate of dl the

srgnifrc ant sk fac tot within hr cii

bet own area rt ponsibiits so that

they are rnagecl in utanc ialh ant

administi rUst lv sound in tinter

lix Groups dlvc fred onip and

product portfolio teducc die risk of

industiy specific volatility and damj

ens the 11cc ts of cconoinic cc
the sunc tanie tire breadth of tin

Cvroups at ti itrd results in lowc ii
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tOF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

the year but some of this weakness

was reversed at the beginning of 2009

Comments on the individual

business areas

Orkia Brands

Orkia Brands operating revenues

amounted to NOK 23398 million in

2008 equivalent to underlying growth

of NOK 1318 million EBITA ended

at NOK 2590 million compared with

NOK 2218 million in 2007 This

progress
shows that Orkla Brands in

ternal improvement programmes have

been successful and the business areas

positive profit performance is back on

track Price hikes for finished products

that have compensated for higher

costs for instance for raw materials

and labour were also vitally impor

tant While all business units achieved

growth Orkla Foods Nordic made the

most progress

Orkla Foods Nordic reported operating

revenues of NOK 9913 million equiva

lent to underlying growth of NOK 415

million compared with 2007 EBITA

was NOK 1050 million compared with

NOK 893 million in 2007 Profit growth

was driven by large companies such as

Stabburet and Procordia and was large

ly ascribable to price increases intro

duced to compensate for higher raw

material prices as well as to the posi

tive effects of improvement projects

This was counteracted by an under

lying decline in volume and general

wage and price growth Bakers which

had difficult year in 2007 improved

its performance

Operating revenues for Orkla Brands

Nordic totalled NOK 7719 million in

2008 equivalent to underlying2 growth

of EBITA was NOK 1324 mil

lion equivalent to underlying growth

of NOK 86 million compared with the

previous year The main contributors

to growth were Axellus the Pierre

Robert Group and Goteborgs Stre

while the results for other large busi

nesses such as the Chips Group and

Nidar were on par with 2007

Lilleborg had weak year
Profit

growth flattened out towards the

end of the year partly due to weaker

volumes and partly due to higher

investments in advertising and rise

in fixed costs

Operating revenues for Orkia Brands

International amounted to NOK 2440

million equivalent to underIying

growth of 12 compared with 2007

EBITA was NOK million an under

lying rise of NOK 37 million Greatest

progress was made by the Russian

chocolate manufacturer Krupskaya

SladCo reported positive perform

ance in 2008 and is largely pursuing

the improvement plan it has initiated

However due to the uncertainty relat

ed to the Russian economy in general

Orkla has in the internal impairment

tests applied more conservative esti

mates and higher WACC and has

therefore written down the companys

total goodwill by NOK 547 million

Orkla Food Ingredients posted operat

ing revenues of NOK 3670 million in

2008 equivalent to underlying growth

of EBITA was NOK 211 million

an under1ying increase of NOK 32

million compared with 2007 Both

Dragsbk and KªKâ improved their

performance

Orkla Brands made number of

structural changes in 2007 and 2008

partly related to the winding up and

sale of unprofitable businesses and

product areas and partly related to

the acquisition of new businesses The

net effect on EBITA was positive and

contributed to the profit growth in 2008

Orkia Aluminium Solutions

Operating revenues for Orkla

Aluminium Solutions totalled

NOK 27809 million in 2008 compared

with NOK 25335 million in 2007 The

rise in revenues was due to the merger

of Sapas and Alcoas aluminium ex

trusions businesses where Alcoas ex

trusions operations were consolidated

in the accounts with full-year effect in

2008 as opposed to only seven months

in 2007

EBITA was NOK 697 million down

NOK 490 million from 2007 Profiles

negative profit performance was large

ly due to decline in volume on very

challenging markets However prices

were relatively less affected especially

for more customised value-added

products Heat Transfers results also

weakened towards the end of the year

as Sweden gradually felt the effects of

the economic slowdown in Europe

while Building System was less affect

ed and reported relatively steady de

velopment

The establishment and implementa

tion of the business plan adopted for

the extrusions business are proceeding

as planned The factories in Banbury

UK and Noblejas Spain and smaller

factory in the USA were closed down

during the year
and several restruc

turing projects were carried out In

parallel with improved operations the

main goal is to integrate Sapas busi

ness model throughout the business

As result of the demand situation

all variable manpower has been dis

missed and work is in
progress

on

adapting the remaining organisation

to the uncertain markets decision

was made to expand the Sapa Heat

Transfer plant in Shanghai in 2007

and this process is proceeding accord

ing to plan Production is expected to

be scaled up during 2010

Orkla Materials

Operating revenues for Orkla

Materials amounted to NOK 13600

million compared with NOK 12234

million in 2007 EBITA was

OK 1373 million down from

NOK 1420 million in 2007

Elkems operating revenues totalled

NOK 8939 million in 2008 EBITA
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was NOK 942 million down 10

from 2007 Good markets and high

prices through large parts of the year

contributed to sales and profit growth

for the silicon-related businesses In

terms of profit however the improve

ment was offset by increased expens

ing of costs for Elkem Solar Due to the

financial crisis demand for Elkems

products declined significantly and it

was necessary to close down parts of

the production in both the Foundry

and Carbon segments Further adjust

ments in step with market develop

ments are being considered on con

tinuous basis Elkem Energy reported

decline due to weak trading results

in 2008 compared with good year in

2007 despite higher volumes generat

ed by its own power plants and higher

average power prices

decision was made in 2006 to invest

in new factory for the production of

high-purity solar-grade silicon for the

solar cell industry Elkem Solar The

factory was mechanically completed

at the end of 2008 and the start-up

programme has been initiated with

view to ramp up production through

out 2009 The book
expense

for Elkem

Solar was NOK 381 million in 2008

compared with NOK
195

million in

2007

Elkem Aluminium is presented in the

financial statements on the line for

discontinued operations following

the exchange of assets with Alcoa in

the fourth quarter Elkem Aluminium

had weak year mainly due to in

creased raw material costs unfavour

able exchange rates and negative

hedging effects on sold volumes

Borregaards operating revenues to

talled NOK 4673 million in 2008

equivalent to underlying growth

EBITA was NOK 431 million com

pared with NOK 369 million in 2007

The energy business reported profit

growth due to increased production

volume and higher market prices al

though the contribution from financial

power trading was lower Profit from

the Chemicals business declined over

all although Speciality Cellulose im

proved slightly compared with 2007

Results in the second half of the year

were affected by difficult market con

ditions especially for products for the

construction industry and cellulose

for textile production from the Swiss

factory Raw material and
energy

prices were very high and decisions

were made to close down the factories

in Switzerland and Finland which

entailed total restructuring costs of

NOK 6i million in 2008

In summer 2008 five cases of

Legionnaires Disease were registered

in Sarpsborg where Borregaards

chemicals business is located Two

people died as result of the disease

Although Borregaard complies with

the official control procedures traces

of legionella bacteria were found at the

plant and several measures have been

implemented to find long-term solu

tions in order to eliminate the risk of

legionella infection In the short term

these measures have led to certain

changes in operating and logistics

routines which had negative impact

on profit in 2008

Orkia Associates

RECs revenues for the year came to

NOK 8191 million up 23 from

2007 Top priorities for REC in 2008

have been to execute on expansion

projects and at the same time optimise

current production capabilities

Delayed start-up of new polysilicon

capacity had
negative consequences

for the wafer production volume and

to lesser extent also for cells and

modules Overall 2008 production

volumes were thus somewhat lower

than expected although polysilicon pro

duction increased by wafers by 21

and cells and modules by 182 and

90 respectively Average selling pric

es were higher than expected in 2008 in

particular for polysilicon and silane
gas

EBITDA for REC increased by to

NOK 3279 million whereas the

EBITDA-margin declined from 48 to

40 in 2008 This is partly explained

by growth initiatives which increased

expansion costs by NOK
230 million

to NOK 383 million In addition the

EBITDA margin was negatively im

pacted by ramp-up of new capacity

scheduled shutdowns and production

yield issues

In connection with the further acquisi

tion of REC in the first quarter of

2007 Orkla issued three put options

in REC to Q-Cells AG At the same

time Orkla had certain contractual

rights linked to possible sale of these

shares by Q-Cells All in all the put

options represented almost i6

of the underlying shares in REC

Approximately 75 of the put

options had strike price of NOK 90
while the remainder had strike price

of NOK 70 In the first
quarter of 2008

an agreement was entered into with

Q-Cells whereby the put options were

cancelled in exchange for Orkla giving

up its rights related to the shares

Jotuns operating revenues increased

by i8 to NOK 10442 million in

2008 while EBIT increased by 14

to NOK 919 million Most of Jotuns

business areas made good progress for

the year as whole

In addition to general market trends

Jotun will always be exposed to fluc

tuations in raw material prices and

exchange rates In the latter months

of the year the markets gradually

weakened due to the turbulent global

economy Jotun Powder Coatings was

the first of Jotuns divisions to notice

the effects but the other divisions

were also affected In parts of Jotuns

important markets in Asia and the

Middle East the level of activity re

mained relatively high also towards

the end of the year but the outlook is

weaker Jotun has worked hard to

adapt its organisation to the challeng
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ing market situation ahead by both

implementing cost reduction measures

and postponing investments Jotuns

financial situation is sound and the

established borrowing facilities will be

sufficient for the coming years

Jotun opened new factory in India in

2008 and will be opening another new

factory in South Korea in spring 2009

The company has also decided to build

new factory to replace the current

one in the USA

Orkia Financial In vestments

Pre-tax profit amounted to NOK -5371

million compared with NOK 5480 mil

lion in 2007 The weak trend on

the financial markets had negative

impact on Orkla Financial Investments

especially in the form of significant

decline in value and write-downs on

the Share Portfolio Net reported losses

on the Share Portfolio amounted to

NOK 6043 million in 2008 NOK 5656

million of which consisted of account

ing write-downs Dividends received

totalled NOK 470 million The return

on the Share Portfolio was -45.3

marginally better than the Morgan

Stanley Nordic Index the Share

Portfolios benchmark which was

down -46 At year-end the market

value of the Share Portfolio was

NOK 11.4 billion and unrealised gains

before tax totalled NOK 847 million

Orkla Finans which offers investment

services to institutional and private

investors reported strong decline in

both operating revenues and profit in

2008 Due to the uncertain financial

markets in the second half of the year

the demand for investment products

was very weak and EBITA ended up

at NOK -66 million compared with

NOK 192 million in 2007

Orkla Eiendom real estate reported

EBITA of NOK 13 million compared

with NOK 6i million in 2007 The de

cline was mainly due to fewer realised

real estate projects and write-downs of

shares in associates The activities are

concentrated on the development of

Ringnes Park and Idun

Research and Development RD
Research and development have high

priority at Orkla The Group has in

creased investments in this area in re

cent years and the RD function plays

an important role in the development

of individual business areas

Orklas RD activities seek to generate

results through inter-disciplinary focus

in all parts of the organisation The

result is improved transfer of expertise

and greater flexibility in the work At

Elkem industrial plants the divisions

RD departments and the Elkem

research centre in Kristiansand collab

orate on research and development

activities In addition to its business

units own departments Sapa has

central RD department at Finspang

Sweden Borregaard has common re

search centre for all its business units

and also collaborates with institutes

and universities in several other

countries At Orkla Brands consumer

and market insight is combined with

technological expertise to develop

innovative products that become

customers preferred choice

Research and development are crucial

for the further development of busi

ness areas market positions At Orkla

Aluminium Solutions great deal of

research and development work is

related to the long-term strategy to

create added value for customers

while much of the work is also con
centrated on practical objectives such

as productivity and costs Sapa has

established its own Centre of

Excellence for this purpose and with

new larger organisation increased its

investment in research and develop

ment in 2008 Elkem aims to be front

runner in the development of new en

vironment and energy-friendly tech

nologies The development and con

struction of the new industrial plant

for Elkem Solar is good example of

commercialisation of technology that

Elkem has developed itself total of

around 250 people work on research

and development at Elkem Borregaard

employs around 6o people in RD and

almost one quarter of industrial sales

come from products launched in the

past five years Borregaard also has

special unit working on business and

technology development in the field of

biofuel

At Orkla Brands innovation is in

corporated into every stage of the value

chain through the purposeful systemat

ic use of normative tools while deep

consumer and customer insight in

creases the quality of the innovation

process

Personnel and organisation

At year-end the Orkla Group had

31541 employees 346803 of whom

6i6 were in Norway 73933 7069

in the rest of the Nordic region 74693
and 17956 in countries outside the

Nordic region 198183

Cooperation between management

and the employees organisations

through the established cooperative

and representational systems func

tions well and makes valuable

contribution towards addressing the

challenges faced by the Group and in

dividual companies in constructive

manner The cooperative systems are

being adapted to structural changes in

the Group The election of new em
ployees representatives to the Board of

Directors and the Corporate Assembly

took place in spring 2008

At the meeting of the Corporate

Assembly on 22 May 2008 Peter

Ruzicka and Kristin Skogen Lund

were elected as new members of

Orkias Board of Directors Stein Erik

Hagen Svein Jacobsen Ase Aulie

Michelet Bjrg Ven and Lennart

Jeansson were re-elected as members

of the Board Stein Erik Hagen was re

elected as Chairman of the Board and

Figures in buakets ale or the same period the previous pear
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Svein Jacobsen was re-elected as

Deputy Chairman of the Board All

the above were elected or re-elected for

period of one year There are three

women out of total of seven share

holder-elected members on Orklas

Board of Directors while one of the

three employee-elected members is

woman Orkla ASA therefore fulfils

the requirements under section 6-i ia

of the Public Limited Companies Act

for the representation of both sexes

on the Board of Directors In the

Corporate Assembly there are five

women out of total of 14 sharehold

er-elected members Two of the seven

employee-elected members are women

The Group Executive Board consisted

of President and CEO Dag Opedal

Torkild Nordberg Ole Enger Roar

Engeland Hilde Myrberg and Terje

Andersen On 23 September 2008

Bjrn Wiggen became member

of the Group Executive Board and was

appointed Managing Director of Elkem

and Executive Vice President of Orkla

Materials

Orkla aims to achieve more equitable

gender balance and have more women

in leading positions than there are

today The business areas manage
ment teams comprise 77 persons

eight of whom are women the same

as in 2007 The number of women
in senior management at Orkla is

still too low and measures to increase

the proportion of women continue

The mentor programme special focus

on female managers in the annual

management evaluations priority on

management development courses

the requirement to always identify

female candidate for leading positions

and status reports on the situation are

all examples of
steps taken to increase

the proportion of women

The Board of Directors thanks all em
ployees for their contributions and for

the results achieved in 2008

Competence

It is important to develop competence

in
every part of the Orkla Group in

order to maintain and reinforce

Orklas competitiveness Development

activities are primarily linked to the

training each employee receives on the

job In addition number of central

ised training programmes in the fields

of management and technical disci

plines have been developed under the

auspices of the Orkia Academies

These programmes are continuously

reviewed and improved to ensure that

they meet the highest quality stand

ards

As well as giving participants technical

skills these programmes also play an

important role in the development of

common attitudes working methods

and corporate culture that tran

scends individual company borders

The Groups corporate culture is based

on the value statement Goals and

Values After the document was

revised in 2007 the implementation

of Goals and Values has proceeded

throughout 2008 This work will

continue in 2009

The central resource centres in the

fields of manufacturing/logistics pur

chasing and marketing work closely

with the line organisations and the

Orkla Academies to ensure that overall

human resource development activi

ties take place within consistent

framework

Environment Health and Safety EHS

Through Orklas Goals and Values

environment health and safety EHS
have been established as an important

value driver Targeted EHS activities

are necessary in order to achieve safe

effective operations and continuous

work is being done to ensure recogni

tion of the importance of EHS in all

parts of the organisation
All Orkla

employees must strive to achieve the

goal of zero harm in Orkla companies

safe working environment for em
ployees contract staff and suppliers is

fundamental prerequisite for sustain

able value creation Orkla is committed

to operating in accordance with the

principles enshrined in the UN Global

Compact The Orkla Group must

conduct itself with respect and

responsibility for people society and

the nvironment in all areas and in all

parts of the world

Orkla operates in very different

sectors using different production

methods and in different cultures This

entails variety of challenges and EHS

risks but also opportunities Work on

EHS primarily takes place at the local

level in individual companies but

benchmarking and learning through

out the organisation are important

Consequently corporate staff function

was established in 2008 to promote

network-building and focus within the

Group

Orkla will develop strong EHS culture

by encouraging correct behaviour and

attitudes This requires stronger focus

and commitment good planning and

willingness to learn and improve

Risk assessments are key element

of EHS activities Orkla companies

must identify factors that can have

significant consequences
for people

the environment and the Group and

promote focus on continuous im

provement An EHS risk picture and

the ten most important risk factors with

associated measures to mitigate risk

must be reported each
year

for each unit

Despite the strong focus on preventing

occupational accidents there were un

fortunately serious incidents in Orkia

in 2008 The most serious one was

car accident in which sales represent

ative in Latvia was killed while driving

on business

In 2008 the Lost Work Day Rate

LWDR was 6.2 injuries leading to
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INCOME STATEMENt

The income statement presents revenues and expenses for the companies

consolidated in the Group and measures the results tor the accounting

period in accordance with current IERS standards All internal matters have

been eliminated The income statement distinguishes between the Groups

operations the Groups associates and tinancial items Restructuring and

signiticant impairment charges only to limited degree serve as reliable

indicators of the Groups current earnings Ongoing changes in the value

of the Share Portfolio are largely
not presented in the income statement

Operating revenues

Cost ot materials

Payroll espenses

Other operating expenses

Oepreciations property plant and equipment

Amortisation intangible assets

write-down ot inventory in Sapa Protiles

Restracturinq and signiticant impairments

Operating profit

Protit trom associates

Oividends

Gains losses and mrite-downs on share Porttolio

rnance income

rinance costs

Profit/loss before taxes

Taxes

Profit/loss after taxes from continuing operations

Gains/protit discontinued operations

Profit/loss for the year

Minority interests share ot protit
tor the

year

Protit attributable to equity holders

Earnings per share NOK

Earnings per share diluted NOK

EBITA adlusted Operating protit before amortisation write-down ot inventory in sapa Protiles

restructuring and cigniticant impairments

EBITOA adjusted Operating prntit before depreciations amortisation write-down ot inventory in Sapa Profiles

restructuring and significant impairments

but taken directly to Group equity in the balance sheet These gains and

losses will not be recognised in the income statement until they are realised

or the value of the Share Portfolio is written down Substantial write-downs were taken

in 2008 The effective
part

of changes in the value of financial instruments

identified as hedging instruments is not recognised in the income statement

but temporarily taken to equity The notes explain the content of the various

accounting lines

Amoanis in NOK million

sales revenues

Other operating revenues

2007

60081

1336

61417

2006

49143

1131

50274

Note 2008

63937

1642

65579

32204

11622

15510

12 13 2003
12 228
15 372

1282

2358

2189

18 473

ix 6043
10 318

10 1310

2015

21 895

2910

3791

30811 24800

00999 9508

12917 9739

1865 0648

220 206

814 388

3985

848 289

1076 769

3627 3271

1561 595

0137 889

9766 8020

1532 0205

8234 6815

26 55 211 4473

2965 8445 1288

20 137 46 52

2828 8399 1236

11 2.8 8.2 109

11 2.8 8.1 10.9

4240 4825 4579

6243 6690 6227
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bAlANCE SHEET

The balance sheet presents the Groups total assets and the way they have

been financed broken down into equity and liabilities All internal matters

between companies in the Group have been eliminated According to the

system of classification applied to the balance sheet current assets and

liabilities belong to normal operating cycle are cash and cash equivalents

or have useful life/repayment time of less than one year Other assets and

liabilities are non-current IFRS are balance-sheet oriented and only items that

satisfy the criteria for definition as assets and liabilities may be recognised

Amounis in NOK miihon

ASSETS

in the balance sheet Equity is residual The various standards determine

how the items are to be treated The valuation of the balance sheet items

examples in brackets is therefore combination of fair value Share

Portfolio amortised cost trade receivables cost inventories cost minus

depreciation property plant and equipment and recoverable amount certain

written down property plant
and equipment and certain intangible assets and

goodwill The balance sheet items are explained in the notes to the financial

statements

Note 2008 2007

Non-current assets

Assets in discontinued opeiations

inventories

Receivables

share Portfolio etc

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

Total assets

26 3148

15 9564

16 14331

18 11445

17 4438

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities in discontinued operations

Current interest-bearing liabilities

income tax payable

Other current liabilities

Current liabilities

Equity and liabilities

26 665

23 3654

21 1005

16 14702

20026 17293

104926 94792

Oslo 18 February 2009

The Board of Directors of Orkia ASA

Stein Erik

Hagedj

Chairman

9utv oL2a
Gunn Liab

PeSolbe

Svein .J cobsen

Depu airman

iUuL
Kristin Skogen Lund

Bjrg yen

Qa
Aage Andersen

Ase Aulie Michelet

ag Opedal

President and CEO

LenntJeansson

Peter

A.Ruzicka

Property plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Oeferred tan assets

investments in associates

Other non-current tinancial assets

13 26368

12 16317

21 984

17112

14 1219

21481

16130

496

14619

380

62000 53106

8533

12628

17559

2966

Paid-in equity

Retained earnings

Minority interests

Equity

Oeferred tax

Provisions and liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

42926 41686

104926 94792

19 1993

45390

20 2686

2002

50661

2601

50069 55264

21 2872

22 2361

23 29598

3856

2286

16093

34831 22235

3188

1225

12880
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement shows how the Groups cash flows are broken down

into cash flow from operating investment and financing activities accor

ding to the indirect method The cash flow statement explains the general

changes in the Groups liquidity since the previous accounting period Cash

flow from operations before investments is the financial capacity available to

the Group when operating profit before depreciation is adjusted for changes

in tied-up working capital
This concept is maintained and compared with net

replacement investments sale of tangible assets replacement investments

in the segment information and constitutes the cash flow from operations

This is key figure for the Group and shows the capacity that is available

to the different business areas for expansion based on the cash flows they

themselves generate Cash flow from operations is also compared in the

segment information with implemented expansion investments and acquisi

tions of companies see Note

Cash flow from operations before net replacement expenditures

Dividends received

Financial items net

2007

3791

277

2568

799

5837

2006

3985

495

2383

273

Cash flow from operations before tax

Taxes paid

2895 7233

1327 1089

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid

Net share buy-back

Net paid to shareholders

Change in interest-bearing liabilities

Change in interest-bearing receivables

Change in net interest-bearing liabilities

Currency
translation net interest-bearing liabilities

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

1568 6144

335

3010
4142
1103

886
18 1829

158

8271

322

2378

2964
1900

7166

1821

132

8333

252

1915

1291

7797

4774
1710

375

2154

Amounts in NOK million

Operating profit continuing opelations

Operating profit discontinued operations

Amortisation depreciations and impairment charges

Changes in net working capital etc

Note 2008

2358

3058

690

4726

473

10 2304
1076

320

sale of propety plant and equipment

Replacement expenditures

Expansion investments

sold companies

Acquired companies

Net purchases/sales share Portfolio

Other capital transactions

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

6590

769

842

6517

1607

4910

2348 2114 1704

561 566 158

2909 2680 1862

13798 4532 4558

1039 1057 1001

12759 5589 5559

1675 458 266

8175 3367 7687

1472 1178 623

17 4438 2966 1788
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Amounts in NOK million

Equity 31 December 2005

Profit for the
year 2006 Orkla ASA

Dividends 2005

Net buy-back of treasury shares

Group profit for the year

Changes in minority interests see Note 20

Change in unrealised
gains shares

see Note 18

Change in hedging reserve see Note 23

Option costs

Translation effects foreign subsidiaries

Other changes

Equity 31 December 2006

Profit for the
year

2007 Orkla ASA

Dividends 2006

Cancellation
treasury

shares

Net buy-back
of

treasury shares

Group profit for the year

Changes minority interests see Note 20

Change in unrealised gains shares

see Note 18

Change in hedging reserve see Note 23

Option costs

Change in accounting principles/harmonisation

Equity adjusfmenfs PEC see Note

Gains on deemed disposals see Note

Translat on effects foreign subsidiaries

Equity 31 December 2007

Profit for the year 2008 Orkla ASA

Dividends 2007 for dividends 2008 see Note 19

Cancellation treasury shares

Net buy-back of treasury shares

Group profit for the
year

Changes in minority interests see Note 20

Change in unrealised
gains shares

see Note 18

Change in hedging reserve see Note 23

Option costs

Final determination of the shareholdings

Sapa Profiles see Note 20

Translation effects foreign subsidiaries

Equity 31 December 2008

Pre- Total

Share Treasury mium paid-in Other Total

capital shares fund equity equity Orkla ASA2

1302 13 721 2010 26065 28075

11798 11798

1551 1551
156 158

2502 2502
24 24

25 25

1296 15 721 2002 40241 42243

8916 8916
2282 2282

552 561

Trans

lation Group Total Minority Total

effects reserve Group interests equity

644 9746 37177 746 37923

11798

92 1643 1643
158 158

11236 11236 52 11288

18 18 462 480

376

14

268 8867 47773 336 48109

8149

2061 2061

566 566
8399 8399 46 8445

2219 2219

1063 11483 52663 2601 55264

8916

2282 2282

561 561
2828 2828 137 2965

70 70

StAtEMENT OF CHANGES INI

Equity changes from one period to the next in accordance with the Groups the average exchange rate in the income statement and the closing late in

financial profit and loss Furthermore under IFRS there will be items that are the balance sheet and between the rates in the opening and Closing balance

recognised temporarily in equity such as changes in the unrealised gains of sheets Changes in accounting principles can also affect equity The various

the Share Portfolio and changes in the hedging reserve which by definition elements in changes in equity are shown below Equity may not be distribu

come under hedge accounting In addition share issues or the Groups sale ted to shareholders in its entirety and the dividend
paid out by the Group is

and purchase of treasury shares are equity transactions Fluctuations in foreign calculated on the basis of the equity in Orkia ASA

exchange rates will also affect equity due to translation differences between

942 942

47 47

21 21

13 929

180 133
21

1302 15 721 2008 37166 39174

376 376

14 14

929

133
21

8149 8149

2061 2061

560 566

144 2646
38 14

25

30 30

1580 1580

938 938

795 795

2646
14

25

30

1580

938

795

2303 2303 31 2334 2334
65 68 68

21 21 21 21

152 152 152

2788 2788 2788

1287 15 721 1993 26212 28205 1725 17453 47383 2686 50069

Orhe equiry to Oik A5A as uf 31 Decembe 2008 ncludns tund tar unrealised gains roralling NOK 1410 Iliun NOK 3559 million as at 31 December 2807 and

orhe paid-in equity totalling NOK 93 mu inn NOK 72 million as of 31 Derember 2007
Free equity in Orkla ASA amusnted to NOK 21034 million as at 31 Oecenrbei 208n NOK 36685 million as uf 31 December 2007

Fina serllemenr at ownership in connecriun wirh the trunsactiun between Sapa Profiles and Alcoas profiles business
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

GENERAL INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements for Orkla ASA including notes tor the year

2008 were endorsed by the Board ot Directors ot Orkia ASA on 18 February 2009

Orkla ASA is public limited company and its ottices are located in Skayen Dslo in

Norway The companys shares are traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange Orkia mainly

operates in the branded consumer goods aluminium solutions renewable energy

materials and financial investment sectors Segment intormation for the various

business areas is provided in Note and the business areas are described in

separate section later in the annual report

The financial statements for 2008 have been prepared and presented in compliance

with the International Financial Reporting Standards IERS as adopted by the EU

All amounts are in NOK million unless otherwise stated Figures in brackets are

expenses or disbursements cash flow The functional
currency

of the parent

company Orkla ASA is the NOK and the Groups reporting currency
is the NOK

The information above the income statement balance sheet cash flow state

ment and notes is provided to give more detailed explanation of the various

presentations

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The following standards IERS and interpretations IFRIC have been issued

but have not yet entered into effect on the balance sheet date

Amendment to IFRS Share-based payment Vesting conditions and

cancellations

This amendment to IERS provides clearer guidance as to what constitutes vesting

conditions and what does not It also regulates the accounting treatment of option

rights that are cancelled due to non-fulfilment of conditions other than vesting

conditions The amendment to IFRS entered into force on January 2009

and the Group plans to apply the amendment from that date forward

IFRS revised Business combinations

Compared to the current IERS the revised standard introduces certain changes

and clarifications as regards the application of the acquisition method Specific

matters that are addressed include goodwill in connection with
step acquisitions

minority interests contingent consideration and acquisition costs IFRS is due

to enter into effect on July 2009 but it has not yet been endorsed by the EU

The Orkla Group plans to apply IERS 3R as from January 2009 The amendment

to this standard combined with the amendment to lAS 27 discussed below may

affect the accounting treatment of transaction costs and minority interests in

connection with the acquisition of the minority interest in Sapa

IFRS Operating segments

IERS replaces lAS 14 Segment reporting
This standard

requires
that the Group

identify operating segments on the basis of internal management reporting

Generally speaking the information reported must be the information used

internally by the president and CEO to evaluate the segments performance and to

determine how resources are to be allocated to segments IERS
requires

details

regarding the basis on which segment information has been prepared and regar

ding
the type of

products
and services from which each segment has revenues

IERS entered into force on January 2009 and the Group will apply IFRS from

that date forward The Group expects IERS to entail some changes in the presen

tation of segment information

lAS revised Presentation of Financial Statements

The revised standard makes changes in presentation particularly in the statement

of changes in equity and introduces statement of comprehensive income lAS

will enter into effect on January 2009 The Group will apply lAS as from

January 2009

lAS 23 revised Borrowing Costs

The
biggest change in lAS 23 is that borrowing costs relating to qualifying

assets may no longer
be recognised immediately as an expense Capitalisation

of borrowing costs will thus be the only option permitted lAS 23 entered into

effect on January 2009 The Group already applies the only solution permitted

under lAS 23R

lAS 27 revised Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Compared to the current lAS 27 the revised standard provides further guidance as

to the accounting for changes in an ownership interest in subsidiary and for the

disposal
of

subsidiary
The current rules

relating
to the allocation of loss between

the majority and minority interest have also been amended to the effect that any

deficit is to be charged to the minority interest even if this results in the latter

having negative balance lAS 27 is due to enter into effect from July 2009

but the standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU The Group plans to apply

lAS 27 as from January 2009

Amendment to lAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation and lAS

Presentation of Financial Statements Puttable Finance Instruments

The amendment to lAS 32 entails that certain puttable sales options are to be

classified as equity The amendment to lAS concerns the requirement to disclose

relevant information in notes The amendments to lAS 32 and lAS are due to

enter into effect as from January 2009 but the amendments have not yet been

endorsed by the EU The Group plans to apply the amendments to lAS 32 and lAS

as from January 2010

Amendment to lAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement

Eligible Hedged Items

The amendments to lAS 39 clarify the rules governing cases where financial

instrument hedged item has been hedged with
regard

to designated risks or

components of cash flows The adopted amendments primarily provide further

guidelines for the hedging of one-sided risk hedging by options and hedging

of inflation risk but also clarify the guidelines requiring that the designated risks

and cash flows are identifiable and reliably measurable The amendment to lAS 39

is due to enter into effect on July 2009 but the amendment has not yet been

endorsed by the EU The Group plans to apply the amendment to lAS 39 as from

January 2010

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IERIC 12 concerns contracts for the supply of public services related to infrastructure

that are granted to private operators
when the public authority regulates or controls

which services the operator is to supply to whom the services are to be supplied

and at which price The interpretation regulates how such arrangements are to

be accounted for The interpretation was to enter into effect on January 2008

but had not been endorsed by the EU on that date It has still not been endorsed

but the EU has proposed that the interpretation should be made effective from

accounting yearu beginning after 31 December 2008 The Group will apply the

interpretation as from January 2009

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

The interpretation addresses how loyalty programmes that an enterprise has estab

lished for its customers to reward them for
past purchases and to provide an incen

tive for further purchases are to be recognised and measured The
interpretation

was due to enter into effect on July 2008 but had not been endorsed by the EU

on that date
It

has now been endorsed by the EU for accounting years beginning

after 31 December 2008 The Group will apply IERIC 13 as from January 2009

IFRIC 14 lAS 19 The Limit on Defined Benefit Asset Minimum Funding

Requirements and their Interaction

The
interpretation

addresses limitations on the capitalisation of pension assets

where the minimum statutory or contractual funding payment exceeds the liability

The interpretation was to become effective as from January 2008 but had not

yet
been endorsed by the EU on that date

It
has now been endorsed by the EU

for accounting years beginning after 31 December 2008 The Group will apply

IERIC 14 as from January 2009

IFRIC iSAgreements for the Construction of Real Estate

The
interpretation

addresses accounting for real estate projects It provides

guidance on how to determine which
projects are to be considered an agreement

for the construction of real estate within the scope of lAS 11 and which projects

are to be recognised in accordance with lAS 18 The
interpretation was to become

effective on January 2009 but has not yet been endorsed by the EU The Group

will apply IERIC 15 as from January 2010 The amendment may entail that

deferred income from the sale of apartments in Orkla Elendom
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

IFRIC 16 Hedges of Net Investment in Foreign Operation

The interpretation addresses the accounting for hedge of foreign currency

exposure related to net investment in foreign operation The interpretation

clarifies the type ot hedges that quality for assessment as hedges and which risks

that can be hedged The interpretation was to become etfective on October 2008

but has not yet been endorsed by the The Group will apply ERIC 16 as from

January 2010

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners

The interpretation addresses the accounting for distributions to owners that are

settled in assets other than cash The
interpretation

is to become effective on July

2009 but has not yet been endorsed by the EU The Group will apply IFRIC 17

as from January 2010

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

The interpretation address the accounting for assets that are transferred from

customers to suppliers of electricity gas water and telecommunications utilities

industries and that are used to connect the customer to the suppliers
network

and thereby ensure the possibility of future deliveries of electricity gas water and

telecommunications to these customers The interpretation also addresses cases

where the supplier of such services receives cash from the customers that is to

be used to acquire such assets The interpretation is to become effective on July

2009 but has not
yet

been endorsed by the EU The Group will apply IFRIC 18 as

from January 2010

Besides the effects commented on above the implementation of the listed amend

ments is not expected to have significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements on the dates of implementation

IASBs annual improvement project

Amendments were adopted in several standards to become effective in the course

of 2009 The following is list of the most important amendments that may have

an impact on
recognition

measurement and disclosures

IERS Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations when an

entity
is committed to plan to sell the controlling interest in subsidiary all

assets and liabilities in the subsidiary are to be classified as held for sale even

if the entity
intends to retain non-controlling interest after the sale

lAS Presentation of Financial Statements Assets and liabilities classified as

held for sale in accordance with lAS 39 are not to be classified automatically

as current assets in the balance sheet

lAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment Items of property plant
and equipment

held for rental that are sold in the
ordinary course of business at the

end of the rental period are to be transferred to inventory

lAS 19 Employee Benefits

Revision of the definition of the terms past service costs return on plan assets

short term and other long-term employee benefits

Changes in plans that result in reduction in benefits related to future services

are to be accounted for as curtailment

The reference to lAS 37 regarding contingent liabilities has been deleted

lAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assis

tance Loans granted by the government in the future at an interest rate lower

than the market rate will not be exempt from the requirement to impute interest

The difference between the loan amount received and the discounted amount is

to be accounted for as government grant

lAS 28 Investments in Associates and lAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures Changes in

certain disclosures if such investments are recognised at fair value in accordance

with lAS 39

lAS 36 Impairment of Assets Certain disclosures must be made in connection with

impairment testing when discounted future cash flows aie used to estimate fair

value minus selling costs

lAS 38 Intangible Assets Advertising and promotional expenditure is to be recog

nised on the date when companies have access to goods or when the service is

received

lAS 39 Einancial Instruments Recognition and Measurement

Changes in the use of derivative when the derivative is identified as

hedging instrument or on cessation of hedging are not to be considered reclas

sifications Derivatives may therefore be included in or removed from the fair

value through profit or loss classification after initial recognition

When
recalculating

the amortised cost under AS 39.AG8 of an instrument that

is or has been the hedged item in fair value hedge the original effective

interest rate is not to be used but instead an effective inferesf rate that fakes

account of the hedging effect

The reference to segment has been removed in connection with identifying

and documenting hedges

lAS 40 Investment Property Property
under construction or development for

future use as air investment property falls within the scope of lAS 40

None of these amendments will entail any material change in the Groups applica

tion of accounting principles or disclosures

USE OF ESTIMATES IN PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management has made use of estimates and assumptions in preparing the consoli

dated financial statements This applies to assets liabilities revenues expenses and

supplementary information related to contingent liabilities Areas where estimates

have considerable significance are

Note Estimate/assumptions

12 Net present value future cash flows

12 Net present
value future cash flows

13

Recoverable amount and estimation of

correct remaining
useful life

18 Net present
value future cash flows

Economic and demographic assumptions

21

Assessment of future abilty to utilise

tax positions

22 Correctly and adequately estimated

The Group tested all intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and all good

will for impairment in the third quarter The financial statements for 2008 have

been prepared and presented in
very turbulent fluctuating market and the

impairment tests carried out have therefore been reviewed and reassessed as of

31 December Both interest rate assumptions and other economic assumptions are

difficult to estimate in such circumstances see Note 12

As of 31 December 2008 Orkla has
price-to-book

ratio of just below 0.98

which means that the market
prices

the Orkla Group marginally lower than ifs book

values warrant On the basis of recently prepared budgets and forecasts no further

impairments is required

The financial crisis makes it particularly difficult to determine the value of unlisted

shares To the
greatest possible extent external estimates of the values of these

items have been used see the information regarding valuation in Note 18 Listed

shares classified as available for sale have been valued at the share price quoted

on 31 December

The other areas where there is the greatesf risk of material changes are capitalised

goodwill
and trademarks with an indefinite useful life These assets are not routi

nely amortised but their value is tested at least once year The impairment tests

are based on estimates of the values of the cash-generating units to which good

will and trademarks have been allocated The estimates are based on assumptions

of anticipated
future cash flows and discount rate Finding both the correct required

rate of return and the
right

economic assumptions on which to base calculations

has been considerable challenge in 2008 See Note 12

Other estimates and assumptions are reported
in various notes and any information

that is not logically included in other notes is presented in Note 24 Other matters

and Events after the balance sheet date

Exercise of judgement

The financial statements may also be affected by the choice of accounting prin

ciples and the tudgement exercised in applying them This applies for instance

to the fact that most of the Share Portfolio is presented as available for sale and

not as fair value through profit and loss to the distinctions between operating and

finance leases and to the presentation of write-down inventory Sapa Profiles and

restructuring and significant impairment charges on separate lines

Amounts in NOK million

Accounting item

Goodwill

Trademarks

Property plant and

equipment

Unlisted shares

Pension liabilities

Deferred tax assets

Provisions

Book

value

10774

2308

26368

2044

1516

984

707
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Future events and changes in operating parameters may make it necessary to

change estimates and assumptions New interpretations ot standards may result in

changes in the choice ot principles and presentation Such changes will be recog

nised in the financial statements when new estimates are prepared and whenever

new requirements with regard to presentation are introduced These matters are

discussed in both the section on principles and the notes

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Groups liabilities are in various currencies according to its equity exposure

Orkla has strong solid balance sheet with an equity-to-total-assets ratio ot

47.7 s/u Combined with long-term robust tinancing this guarantees the Group con

siderable freedom of action even in todays more challenging markets The Orkla

Group has no financial covenants in its loan agreements and has unutilised long-

term credit facilities that are more than sufficient to meet any loan instalments

in 2009 and 2010 The weak NOK towards the end of 2008 brought an additional

increase in liabilities measured in NOK

As an industrial group Orkla is not subject to any externally imposed capital

requirements

The Groups net interest-bearing liabilities may be broken down as follows

Amounts NOK millinn

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

Current interest-bearing liabilities

interest-bearing receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Net interest-bearing liabilities

Group equity

Net gearing net interest-bearing abilities/equity

The Groups net interest-bearing liabilities broken down by interest rate and cur

rency are shown in detail in Note 23

NEW COMPANIES/DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Orkla Group acquired number of small companies in 2008 These are presen

ted in Note

decision was made to exchange the business in Elkem Aluminium ANS for Alcoas

minority interest in Sapa Profiles and the business has therefore been presented on one

line in the income statement and on
separate

lines in the balance sheet The
comparative

figures in the income statement have been restated
correspondingly

Elkem Aluminium

has been extracted from the ordinary figures
and

presented on one line as Discontinued

operations see Note 26 for further information The swap will be presented for acco

unting purposes as buy-out of minority interests iii 2009 See Note for the accounting

effects of the removal of the
minority interest in Sapa Profiles

PRINCIPLES FOR THE PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements show the overall financial results and the overall

financial position when the parent company Orkla ASA and its controlling interests in

other companies are presented as single economic entity Interests in companies in

which the Group alone has
controlling influence subsidiaries are fully consolidated line

by line in the consolidated financial statements If the Group does not wholly own the

subsidiaries the
minority interests share of profit or loss after tax and their share of equity

are presented on separate
lines Interests in companies iii which the Group together with

others has
controlling

influence
joint ventures are consolidated with the Groups interest

line by line in the consolidated financial statements
using

the
proportionate consolidation

method Interests in companies in which the Group has significant influence associates

are accounted for
using

the
equity

method The Groups share of profit or loss after tax

and equity in the associate is

presented on single
line in the consolidated income state

ment and balance sheet
respectively

The share of any translation differences and other

items charged against equity in the associate are charged against the capitalised value

with contra entry in Group equity Financial assets in the Share Portfolio are reported on

in
separate section below Other financial investments are treated as available for sale

and
recognised in the balance sheet at fair value with changes in value taken directly to

equity
All internal matters between Group companies have been eliminated

In connection with the acquisition of subsidiary the establishment of joint venture or

the acquisition of significant influence in an associate fair value analysis is carried out

The
acquisition is reported in the financial statements from the date the Group has control

The date of control is normally the date on which the acquisition agreement takes effect

and has been approved by all the relevant authorities and will normally be after the

contract date Assets and liabilities are valued at fair value at the time of acquisition

The residual value of the acquisition is classified as goodwill If there are minority

interests in the acquired company these will receive their share of allocated assets

and liabilities but not goodwill Buy-outs of minority interests are accounted for partly

as goodwill valued in relation to IFRS and partly as an equity transaction hybrid model

In companies where the Group already
owned interests before the business combination

the value of assets and liabilities at the time of the business combination will serve as the

basis for the fair value assessment The Groups equity will therefore be affected by the

fact that the assets are repriced as if the entire
acquisition

had been made at this time

Goodwill is calculated for each acquisition

CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES

The financial statements are primarily based on the historical cost principle HoweveF

this does not apply to the treatment of financial assets which are mainly reported

at fair value as available for sale or biological
assets forests which are reported

at fair value Cash flow hedges that
satisfy

the criteria for hedge accounting are

reported at fair value in the balance sheet and changes in value are taken directly

to Group equity Assets that no longer justify
their value are written down to the

recoverable amount which is the
higher of value in use and fair value less costs

to sell The accrual accounting principle and the going concern assumption are

underlying assumptions for preparing the financial statements

Classification An asset or liability is classified as current when it is
part

of normal

operating cycle when it is held
primarily for trading purposes when it falls due

within 12 months or when it consists of cash or cash
equivalents on the balance

sheet date Other items are non-current dividend does not become liability

until it has been
formally approved by the General Meeting

The amorfisation of
intangible assets restructuring

and
significant impairment charges are

presented on separate lines The amortisation of intangible assets will essentially consist

of the cost accrual over useful life for
intangible assets related to acquired companies

Restructuring
and

significant impairment charges
will

largely consist of material restructu

ring costs and any substantial write-downs of both
tangible

and
intangible assets Other

material and unusual one-time items may also be presented separately
This will make

the comparability of the other lines more relevant

The valuation and
recognition

of the items iii the financial statements have been

carried out in accordance with current IFRS standards The most important principles

are described below

PROFIT OR LOSS

Operating revenues are presented after deducting discounts value added tax

and other government charges and taxes The Orkla Group sells goods and services

on many different markets and revenues from the sale of goads or services are

recognised in the income statement when the goods have been delivered or the

service has been provided

Sales of goods produced by Orkla Brands and merchandise for resale are recognised
in

the income statement when the goods have been delivered and the risk has passed to

the buyer Sales revenues largely consist of sales of consumer goods to wholesalers

Sales of goods produced by Orkla Materials and Orkla Aluminium Solutions are recognised

in the income statement when delivered Deliveries are largely based on long-term

contracts External sales of electric power are recognised in the income statement based

on the
price agreed with the customer upon delivery

In the Financial Investments division rental revenues are taken to income as and when

they are received Remuneration related to sales assignments for which the company

is responsible is taken to income as and when the project reaches completion Sales of

financial services and products funds and alternative investments are taken to income

when the service has been provided Adjustments in the value of
biological

assets are

reported at fair value as an operating revenue

Gains on the sale of tangible assets are presented as uOther
operating revenues Any

substantial gains in the form of the sale of real estate properties that are no longer in use

are regarded as
part

of Group operations and will also be
presented as sOther

operating

revenuesn

2008

29598

3654

1390

4438

27424

50069

2007

16093

3188

137

2966

16178

SS264

0.55 0.29
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ACCOUNTING PRINCtPLES

Interest revenues are recognised when they are earned while dividends are taken to

income on the date they are approved by the company paying out the dividend

Gains losses on the sale ot shares trom the Share Porttolio are presented on separate

line after
operating protit Gains losses on shares and interests that have been reported

as available tor sale are calculated as the difference between the cost price ot the share

or interest oç if appropriate
the value of the share or interest written down for accounting

purposes and the sales value Any eacess value or shortfall in market value that has been

taken temporarily to equity is reversed at the same time See Note 18

ASSETS

Property pfont ond equiment are tangible items intended for production delivery of

goods or administrative
purposes

and have useful life of more than one year They are

recognised in the balance sheet at cost minus any accumulated depreciation
and write-

downs Direct maintenance ot assets is eapensed under operating ecpenses as and when

the maintenance is
carried out while expenditure on replacements or improvements

is added to the cost
price

of the assets
Property plants and equipment are depreciated

on straight
line basis over their useful life Residual value is taken into account and the

depreciation plan is
reviewed annually if there

is any indication that an asset may be

impaired the asset will be written down to the recoverable amount if the recoverable

amount is lower than book value

when carrying out fair value
analysis in connection with an acquisition excess values

are allocated to the assets concerned so that these are recognised
in the balance sheet

at the Groups acquisition cost Financing expenses related to the
production

of the Groups

own property plant and equipment are recognised in the balance sheet See Note 10

/ntong/b/e ossets Capitalised expenditure on internally generated or specially adapted

computer programmes is presented as intangible assets The reinvestment need of

specially adapted computer programmes and the like is
similar to that of other

tangible

assets and the amortisation of this type of intangible asset is presented together
with the

Group other depreciation

Expenditure related to internally generated trademarks etc marketing is expensed

directly
since the future economic benefits to the company cannot be identified and

shown to be probable with enough degree of certainty at the time the trademark
is

launched Expenses
related to intangible assets taken over by the company through

acquisitions are recognised in the balance sheet Drkla has drawn up special guidelines

royalty method for valuing trademarks taken over through acquisitions
Trademarks

that have existed for more than five
years

and have sound development at the time of

acquisition are expected to have an indefinite useful life and are not amortised An indefi

nite useful life means that it is impossible
to foresee on the balance sheet date when the

assets will no longer have any value Other identified trademarks will be amortised over

their useful life which is normally 5-iD years
Dther

intangible
assets will be amortised

over their useful life The Group has
capitalised

substantial intangible assets in the form

of time-limited power rights which are amortised over the term of the contracts

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested
annually

for impairment to

ensure that the values are intact The Orkla Group carries out this test prior to preparing

and presenting its financial statements for the third quarter If there are indications of

reduction in value impairment testing is carried out more frequently

Intangible assets arising
from new acquisitions are disclosed in Note and Note 12

Research and development RD expenditure is the expenses incurred by the Group in

conducting research and development studies of existing or new products production

processes etc in order to secure future
earnings Expenditure on research will always be

expensed directly while expenditure on development will be recognised in the balance

sheet if the expenses are identifiable and represent probable
future economic benefits

of which the Group has control The Group has large
number of

concepts
under conside

ration at all times See Note 12

Goodwi// is the residual value consisting of the difference between the purchase price

and the balance sheet value of an acquired company after fair value analysis
has been

carried out The concept of goodwill comprises payment for expectations of synergy gains

values related to employees other intangible values that do not qualify for capitalisation

as separate item future
earnings

and the fact that deterred tax may not be discounted

Capitalised goodwill
derives solely from acquisitions Goodwill is not amortised but is

tested at least once year
for impairment prior to preparing and presenting the financial

statements for the third
quarter

and if there is any indication of decline in value Good-

will from new acquisitions is disclosed in Note and Note 12

Bio/ogico/
assets The Group has biological assets in the form of forests The forests are

valued at fair value and any change in value is recognised in the income statement

The fair value of forests is calculated on the basis of cash-flow-based model Forests

are included in Note 13

Inventor/es of goods are valued at the lower of
acquisition

cost and net realisable value

Purchased goods are valued at cost according to the FIFO principle
while

internally manu

factured finished goods and work in progress are valued at production
cost Deductions

are made for obsolescence Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price minus sales

costs Parts of the aluminium inventory in Sapa Profiles are valued at replacement cost

see Note 15

Trade rece/vob/es are recognised and presented at the original invoice amounf and

written down if events causing loss have occurred that can be measured reliably

and that will affect payment of the receivable Trade receivables are thus valued at

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method The interest rate element is

disregarded
if it is immaterial

The Shore PortIa//a consists of financial investments and is separate from the Group

strategic
industrial investments The Share Portfolio is presented at fair value as cur

rent asset Shares and
equity

interests of less than 2D 0/n are recognised at fair value as

available for sale with changes in value taken directly to equity while shares and equity

interests of between 20 O/ and 50 /o are treated as associates and changes in value are

recognised in the income statement Items in the Share Portfolio defined as available for

sale which have value lower than carrying value are written down in the income sta

tement if the impairment in value is lasting or significant
In both

categories any further

value impairment will result in an immediate write-down of value by corresponding

amount The write-down cannot be reversed in the income statement until the value is

realised Dividends received are recognised in the income statement at the time they are

adopted by the company paying out the dividend which usually coincides with the time

of payment Purchases and sales of shares are recognised at trade date See Note 18

Cash and cash equ/va/ents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term fluctuations in

liquidity rather than for investment purposes Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash

bank deposits and current deposits In the presentation the Orkla ASA Group bank account

system is netted by offsetting deposits against withdrawals in the same countries

EQUITY DEBT AND LIABILITIES

Treasury
shares are reported in equity at the cost

price
to the Group

Pens/ons Pension costs related to defined contribution plans will be equal to the contribu

tions to employees pension savings
in the accounting period Pension costs and pension

liabilities related to defined benefit plans are calculated on the basis of linear accumula

tion of the present value of future benefits Calculations relating to defined benefit plans

are based on number of economic and actuarial assumptions Pension plan assets are

valued at fair value and deducted from net pension liabilities in the balance sheet Any

over-financing is capitalised to the extent it is likely
that the over-financing may be

utilised or repaid

Changes in the liability related to defined benefit plans
due to changes in pension

plans are reported in their entirety in the income statement in the case of changes

resulting in an immediate paid-up policy entitlement If not the variance is accrued

until the paid-up policy entitlement has vested Most of the plan changes at Drkla

are of the first type Changes in liabilities and pension plan assets due to changes

in and variances from the calculation assumptions actuarial gains
and losses are

spread over the estimated average remaining vesting period for the part of the

variances that exceeds 10 In of the
gross pension liability or of pension plan assets

if they are greater Gains and losses on curtailment or settlement of defined

benefit pension plan are recognised at the time of curtailment or settlement

Cant/ngent /iab///t/es prov/s/ans are recognised
in the financial statements when the

Group has legal or self-imposed financial obligation which is likely to be paid out and

for which reliable estimate can be given It after adoption
of resolution and plan

decision is announced to
carry

out measures restructuring
that substantially change

the size of the business or the way in it which it is operated provision must be made

The
provision

is calculated on the basis of the best estimate of anticipated expenses If

the effect is material anticipated future cash flows will be discounted using

current pre-tax
rate that reflects the risks specific to the provision
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FItTt/ ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Taxes The tax charge is based on the net
profit

and consists at the aggregate

at taxes payable and changes in deferred tax Tax payable is recognised in the

tinancial statements at the amount that is expected to be paid on the basis at

taxable revenues reported in consolidated financial statements The share at protit

tram associates is reported
after tax and the share of tax in these companies is

therefore not presented as tax charge in the consolidated financial statements

Tax payable and changes in deterred tax are taken
directly

to
equity

to the extent

that they relate to items that are taken directly to equity

Deterred tax liability in the balance sheet is calculated at the nominal tax rate

based on timing differences between accounting and tax values on the balance

sheet date Deterred tax has been calculated on excess values allocated in con

nection with the acquisition of companies Deferred tax liability relating to goodwill

has not been capitalised Deferred tax liability on power plants has been computed

by multiplying timing differences related to power plant taxation by the nominal

ground rent tax rate of 3D 0/0 in Norway for the power plants for which the Group

is liable for power plant tax

No deferred tax liability related to profit withheld from subsidiaries or associates

has been capitalised The reason for this is that the Group considers itself capable

of managing the reversal of these withheld profits so that no tax liability arises

If an entity has deferred tax asset the question of whether it can be capitalised is

considered Deferred tax assets are continuously assessed and are only capitalised

to the extent it is probable that future taxable profit will be large enough for the

asset to be usefully applied

Deferred tax liability and deferred tax assets are offset in so far as this is possible

under taxation legislation and regulations

FINANCIAL MATTERS

Foce/gn cucrency Foreign currency
transactions are presented at the exchange rate

on the date of the transaction while items in
foreign currency are presented at

the exchange rate on the balance sheet date and any gain/loss
is

reported
in the

income statement as financial items Revenues and expenses in foreign subsidiaries

are translated monthly at the average exchange rate for the month and accumula

ted Balance sheet items in
foreign

subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate

on the balance sheet date Translation differences are taken to equity Translation

differences
arising

from borrowing and
lending

identified as net investment in

another functional
currency are taken to equity

Dec/vat/yes Derivatives are valued at fair value on the balance sheet date and

reported as receivables or liabilities Gains and losses due to realisation or changes

in fair value are reported in the income statement in cases where the derivative

is not part of hedge relationship that satisfies the criteria for hedge accounting

Embedded derivatives in commercial contracts are identified and valued separately

Gains and losses on derivatives that are part of cash flow hedges are tempora

rily
taken to equity

until the hedged item is reported in the income statement

Gains and losses on derivatives that hedge fair value are reported
in the income

statement and wholly or partly offset by changes in the value of the hedged item

Purchases and sales of derivatives are recognised at trade date

Curcency dec/vat/yes Fair value changes of currency derivatives designated as

hedging instruments in cash flow hedges are taken to equity as and when they

occur and recognised in the income statement when the transaction hedged by

the derivative is carried out and the change in value is presented on the same line

as the hedged transaction Gains and losses on other forward
currency contracts

including forward
currency

contracts that hedge exchange rate risk in the Share

Portfolio are recorded as financial items and gains losses and write-downs Share

Portfolio respectively

Gains and losses on loans or
currency

derivatives in foreign currencies that are

identified as hedging instruments for net investments in
foreign

subsidiaries are

temporarily taken to equity and reported in the income statement together with

the gain or loss when the investment is realised The translation difference related

to borrowing and lending identified as net investment in another functional value is

recognised in equity

Changes in the value of financial contracts concerning future purchases or sales of

electric power that hedge future production are recognised temporarily in equity

Unrealised gains or losses on financial power trading contracts that do not consti

tute hedges are recognised in the income statement

Loons/cece/vob/es and /ntecest cote der/vot/ves Interest revenues and expenses

relating to loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost Thus changes in

value resulting from changes in interest rates during the interest rate period are

not reported in the income statement In the case of interest rate derivatives that are

identified as hedges for future interest expenses floating to fixed rate contracts changes

in value are temporarily taken to equity In the case of interest rate derivatives that are

identified as hedges for future fixed interest loans fixed to floating rate contracts both

the change in the fair value of the loan and the change in the value of the interest rate

derivative are recognised
in the income statement

OTHER MATTERS

Cash flow The cash flow statement has been
prepared according

to the indirect method

and shows cash flows from
operating

investment and
financing

activities and explains

changes in Cash and cash equivalents during the year

Segments Drkla has business areas as its primary segment and
geographical regions as

secondary segment The primary segment corresponds to the way in which the business

areas report figures to the Group executive management The accounting principles on

which segment reporting is based are the same as for the other parts of the consolida

ted financial statements The armS length principle is applied to pricing of transactions

between the various segments Drkla ASA provides services to the companies in the

Drkla Group and charges them for these services The various business areas are

defined and described in seperate section in this annual report

Leasing Leases are classified according to the extent to which the risks and

rewards associated with ownership of leased asset lie with the lessor or the les

see lease is classified as finance lease if it substantially transfers all risks and

rewards incidental to ownership of an asset Finance leases will be capitalised and

depreciated over the lease period Dther leases are operating leases Lease expen

ses related to such leases are reported as current operating expenses

Shoce-based cemunecot/on The Group has share savings programmes share

options
and share-based cash bonuses Shares issued to employees at share

price lower than the market value are accounted for by recognising
the difference

between the market value of the shares and the issue price as payroll expense

Dptions for executive management are valued at the fair value of the option at the

time the
option plan is adopted the date of issue using

the Black-Scholes model

for valuation The cost of the
option is accrued over the period during

which the

employee earns the right to receive it the vesting period Share-based cash

settlement means that the company has an obligation to make future cash

payments This arrangement is reported as liability in the balance sheet

The accumulated costs must correspond to the amount that is paid out at the

time of settlement

The liability must at all times reflect the vested share of the fair value of the

liability The cost is accrued over the
vesting period Any change in the value of

the
liability

is recognised in the income statement The value is calculated on the

basis of the same principles as far share-based options Provisions are made for

the employers national insurance contributions in connection with share
option

plans which are related to the difference between the issue price
and the market

price of the share at year-end on the basis of the vested amount

Govecnment gcants Government grants are recognised in the financial statements

when it is highly probable that they will be received The grants are presented

either as revenue or as reduction in expenses and in the latter case matched

with the costs for which they are intended to compensate Government grants that

relate to assets are recognised as reduction in the acquisition cost of the asset

The
grant

reduces the depreciation of the asset Government
grants

are not of

material significance for the Group

D/scont/nued operat/ons If significant part
of the Groups operations is divested or

decision has been made to divest it this business is presented as Discontinued

operations on separate line of the income statement and the balance sheet

As result all the other figures presented are exclusive at the discontinued ope

rations The earnings on internal sales by Elkem Aluminium to other companies in

the Group are retained in the Group The comparative figures for the discontinued

operations are restated and presented on single line Comparative figures in the

balance sheet are not correspondingly restated
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

NOTES GROUP

The Orklo Group orguired severol smoll componies in 2008 Acquisitions offect the romporison with lost yeors figures ond the chonges in the vorious notes must be

seen in the light of this Arguired romponies ore presented in the finonciol stotements from the dote on whirh rontrol tronsfers to the Group the dote is indiroted for

eoch investment The dote of rontrol is normolly the dote on whirh the rontroct tokes effect ond oIl of firiol opprovols hove been obtoined The dote of control will nor-

molly be ofter the rontrort dote

Amounts in NOK milline

2008

trims Vafler A/S Denmark

Molde Bakeri Norway

Belusa toods Slovakia

Miscellaneous acquisitions Orkia Brands

Ekonal Italy

Orkla Aluminium Solutions

tO Eiendom ioint ventare

Miscellaneous acquisitions

Acquisitions at enterprise value

Investments in associates

Acquisition in segments enterprise value

Interest-bearing
liabilities

acquisitions

Cash flow effect acquisitions2

2007

Alcoas entrasion
operations

MTR Toods India

Pastella Denmark

Saarionen vegetables Tinland

Miscellaneous tood Ingredients

Miscellaneous acquisitions Elkem

Acquisitions at enterprise value

RET-shares

Alcoas eutrusion operations

no cash flow effect

Acquisition in segments enterprise value

Interest-bearing liabilities acquisitions

Tush flow effect acquisitions2

2006

Krupskayu Russia

Brinkers Rumania

Baker Nordby Norway

OL Johansen Sweden

Ounuk Droge Denmark

Curumed Norway

Mulbuy Bruuil

Alufinul Slovukia

Ferruveld South Africa

Erdus and Sanvei

Acquisition of minority interests

Supa Oragsbwk and Mossefussen

Acquisitions at enterprise value

Investments in Mucom

Investments in associates

Not puid/prepuid 2005

Acquisitions in segments enterprise
value

Interest-bearing liabilities acquisitions

cash flow effect ucquisitions2

tebruary 100

May 100

October 100

january 100 38

March 33.33 352 141

538 242

521

1059

073

886

june
54 3149 000

April 100 482 387 76

May 100 73 31 34

AphI 100 112 112

100 28

36 26

3952 484 110

6450

2889

7513

347

7166

July 79 339 246

June 100 153 103

January 100 32 23

October 100

September 100 928 684 144

November 100 20 19 26

April 100 86 61

January
100 238 112

December 50 109 78

October 50 39

165 84

2117 1416 170

909

2519

451

5094

320

4774

196 55

196 55 100

532 52 91 393

18 29 328

49 24 21 18

12 16

13 16

49 477 25 51 776

245

96

23

40 580

31 30

112

78

10

47

60 7286

21 58

53

13 150

49

25

327

12 14

33

uncers/dnticir noise is rhe ditterence berween rhe purchase price ut rhe shares and rhe Orunps share ut equirp in rhe acquired company

tquinulent tu compensation fur equity

Operating

operating reveeues Operating

leterent ruceus/ Other Property profit after before profit before

Date of acquired Acquisition deficit Trade- ietangibte plant aed Other Deferred acqoinitioe acquisition acqoisitioe

purchase u/s cost value1 marks assets eqoipmeot matters tau Goodwill date date date

39 37

34 24

45 11

26 22

37 nu na

24 us 35

11 na nu na

22

92

76

31

68 10

74

48 1238

ORKtA ANNUAL nreonq suu 35



NOTES GROUP

The acquisition cost specified in the table for each investment is the sum of the

recognised value of the payment on the transaction date and the value of the

net interest-bearing liabilities that have been taken over 100 0/a
The

acquired

companies have been included in the consolidated financial statements at fair

value Acquisition costs totalled NOK million in 2008

The entities purchased in 2008 were all small companies Some of the companies

have been
integrated in other companies prior

to
acquisition Frima while others

will be directly integrated in the acquiring company Molde Bakeri making it

impossible
to

provide pre-acquisition
and

post-acquisition figures

Besides the purchase of 33.33 0/ stake in the property company FG Eiendom

where excess values have been allocated to the real estate portfolio
all excess

values in the smaller
acquisitions

have been allocated to goodwill This is because

the acquisitions were largely made for reasons related to synergies expertise
and

thus the potential ability to develop new products in the future Inventories of

21flNTURfS

finished products in this
type

ot business are small and the goods will essentially

be sold to existing customers

Orklas
equity

interest in Sapa Profiles after its non-cash contribution to the joint

venture with Alcoas extrusions business in 2007 was finally fixed at 45.45 O/

see Note 20

The swap transaction between Elkem Aluminium ANS and Sapa Profiles will be pre

sented in the financial statements as gradual acquisition of Alcoas equity interest

in Sapa Profiles In compliance with the new IERS the difference between

the purchase price transaction value see Note 26 and the carrying value of the

minority interest will be reported in Group equity if the standard will be adopted

by EU According to current IFRS the transaction will result in some increased

goodwill and charge against equity hybrid method In future the acquisition will

only affect the minority interests share of profit The transaction is expected to be

completed in the first
quarter

of 2009

joint ventures ore investments in companies in which the Group together with others has controlling
influence This type of collaboration is based on specific

agreement The Group accounts for its involvement in the joint venture by including its proportionate shore of revenues expenses ossets liabilities and cash flows in its

consolidated financial statements The Group naturally has more limited access to the liquidity for instance of this type of company than to that of Group subsidiaries

joint ventures may nob for example participate in the Group bank account system and normally have independent financing which is reported in their own balance

sheet Nor are they part
of the same Group for tax purposes

In 2008 the Group had only one major joint venture Elkem Aluminium ANS Elkem

Aluminium ANS in which Elkem has been managing partnec
has been jointly

operated on 50/50 basis with Alcoa On 22 December 2008 Orkla and Alcoa

entered into an agreement to swap assets in two jointly owned companies Orkla

is taking over Alcoas 45.45 0/0 minority interest in Sapa Profiles thereby becoming

sole owner At the same time Alcoa is taking over Orklas 50 /o interest in Elkem

Aluminium ANS which will then be wholly owned by Alcoa Elkem Aluminium ANS

is presented as Discontinued operations in the 2008 financial statements and in

the comparative figures in the income statements for 2007 and 2006 see Note 26

The other joint ventures in the Orkla Group are smaller Hjemmet Mortensen was

sold to Egmont in June 2008 after having been reclassified as an associate as of

31 December 2007 due to an arbitration award

There are no significant requirements as regards capital contribution in the joint

ventures in which Orkla
participates

Acquired companies total balance sheet

Amounis in NOK million

Property plant
and equipment

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current asseis

Inventories

Receivables

Shares in other companies

Assets

Provisions

Non-current liabilities not interest-bearing

Current liabilities not interest-bearing

Minority interests

Fair value net assets

Goodwill

Acquisition cost

Gains on deemed disposals Alcoa

Acquisitions at enterprise value

Fair value

2008

383

29

92

112

617

63

111

438

100

538

538

Book value acquired Fair value Book value acquired

companies 2008 2007 companies 2007

187 2749 3226

322 163

210 108

29 1729

92 1877

112

421 7107

470

111 1680

22

299 4929

1776

1877

6938

605

1687

2320

2320

327

1993

930

1063

Amounts in NOK million

Operating revenues

Operating profit

Protit for the year

Non-current assets

Current assets

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Hjemmet
Mortensen1

2008 2007 2006

697 666

100 108

74 78

248

181

57

208

Elkem

Aluminium2

2008 2007

2209

1106

215

1284

Hiemmei Mortensen has been reclassitied hum loini ventule in an associaie as ut 31 December 20u7

son Noie iegarding assuciaies

The tigures 1w Elkem Aluminium have been reclassified and presented on vee line us disconiinued

operations in 255u and 2007 see Noie 26
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NOTES GROUP

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES ACCOUNTED FOR UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD

Investments in associates accounted for under the equity method are investments of strategic nature in companies in which the Orkla Group has significant influence

by virtue of its ownership interest These ore usually companies in which Orkla owns 20-50 interest This type of investment is accounted for by the Group presenting

its share of the associates profit/lass an separate line in the income statement and accumulating the results reported for the share an single line in the balance

sheet Any excess values that are to be amartised are deducted from profit according to the same principles as for consolidated companies Goodwill is not amartised

Dividends received from associates are reported against the ownership interest in the balance sheet and regarded as repayment of
capital

The balance-sheet value of

associates thus represents
the

original cast price plus profit
accumulated up to the present minus any amortisatian of excess values and accumulated dividends received

and taking account of the share of any translation differences and the like in the associate

Figures for associates that do not report
in accordance with IFRS are restated prior to inclusion in the consolidated financial statements Associates that are part of the Share

Portfolio are presented in Note 18

Hjemmet

Amounts in NOK million REC JOtun SPDE Mortensen Others Total

Cost price 10076 174 628 21

Book value january 2006 936 1210 123 2269

Additions/disposals 2006 2739 106 2845

Additions/disposals 2007 6873 164 35 7002

Additions/disposals 2008 628 120 66 574

Share ot profit 2006 128 151 10 289

Share at
profit 2007 607 209 32 848

Share at profit 2008 1217 253 79 28 12 1431

Write-downs 2008 72 72
Gain on sale 2008 830 830

Dividends/translation effects 2006 34 40
Dividends/translation effects 2007 1580 65 1509

Dividends/translation eftects 2008 813 172 72 560

Book value 31 December 2006 3803 1327 233 5363

Book value 31 December 2007 12760 1471 164 224 14619

Book value 31 December 2008 14790 1552 477 293 17112

Share owned 31 December 2008 39.73 O/ 42.5 O/3 32.99 O/

of this is NOK ius million
gain on sale

Adiostmeot is largely due to the fact that Orkla did out participate in the share issue in 2006 share issue that was at higher rate than Orklas capitahsed caine of arc

The Group has 38.3 /u of the voting rights iv tutno

Scandinavian Property Oevelopmeot 5P0E

Main
figures 100 figures The market capitalisation of the Groups equity interest in REC as of 31 December 2008

Jotun REC
was NOK 12.6 billion 2007 NOK 543 billion while the market capitalisation

Amounts in NOK million 2008 2007 2008 2007
of the Groups interest in SPDE was NOK 73.9 million

Operating revenues 10442 8872 8191 6642

Operating profit 919 804 2529 2588

Profit after tunes and
The valuation at associates is not directly linked to their market price but if it is

minority interests 545 477 3064 1333
lower than the

carrying value it is obviously an indication that value impair-

Total assets 7932 5994 30209 17945
ment assessment must be carried out The price of the REC share has fluctuated

Total liabilities 3912 2869 13696 6188
significantly since the end of the yeac and based on overall assessment the

Group has not written down its investment in REC The recoverable value is

assessed as being higher than the
carrying

value The capitalised value of the

investment in SPDE is substantially higher than the market value but there is little

trading in the SPDE share The Group has assessed the recoverable amount based

on the value in use which is higher than the market capitalisation The value in use

is calculated as the estimated discounted cash flow from operations including the

sale of the
entity

Estimates are partly based on an external valuation of the real

estate projects The stake in SPDE was written down by NOK 72 million in addition

to the Groups share of negative profit amounting to NOK 79 million and book

value per share was NOK 18 as of 31 December 2008
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NOTES GROUP

SEGMENTS

Orkia has business areas as its primary segment and gea graphical regians as secandary segment In the segment infarmatian prafit cash flaw and capital emplayec

tagether with selected key figures are braken dawn between the different business areas thereby giving thase using the financial statements better basis far under

standing the Graups underlying aperatians See also Nate far capital employec investments and number af man-years per gea graphical market The Orkla Graup has

centralised finance functian and the
financing

af the variaus segments does not necessarily reflect the real financial strength of each segment Orkla has therefore

chosen to present only financial items for the Group as whole

SEGMENTS 2008

Amounts in NOK

REVENUES/PROFIT

Norway

Sweden

Denmark

Finland and Iceland

Nordic
region

Rest of Western Europe

Central and Eastern Europe

Asia

Rest of the world

Outside Nordic region

Sales revenues

Other operating revenues

Intercompany sales

Operating revenues

Cost of materials

Payroll expenses

Other operating expenses

Depreciations

Operating profit betore amortisation write-down of inventory

in Sapa Profiles restructuring
and

significant impairments

Amortisation intangible assets

Write-down of inventory in Sapa Profiles

Restructuring
and significant impairments

Operating profit

Profit from associates

Minority
interests share of

profit

Of this sales in EU

CASH FLOW

4313 4461 382

3305 1139 1026

624 702 1117

1020 639 108

9262 6941 2633

207 315 262 317

319 349 1824 480

291

50 52 19

578 723 2396 814

9840 7664 2396 3447

17

67 38 38 216

9913 7719 2440 3670

4612 3081 1378 2299

1977 1407 431 514

1935 1733 537 553

339 174 89 93

1050 1324 211

15

38 571

1042 1347 566 207

25
5448 3042 781 2923

Elimin- Sapa Heat Orkla

ations Transfer Elimin- Aluminium

Orkla Orkla Sapa Building ations Solutions

Brands Brands Profiles System OAS OAS

9156 170 119 289

5470 1403 857 2260

2443 256 138 394

1767 118 31 149

18836 1947 1145 3092

1101 10733 3581 14314

2972 1776 631 2407

308 272 1114 1386

130 6262 307 6569

4511 19043 5633 24676

23347 20990 6778 27768

36 34 41

344 15 880 124 1004

344 23398 21904 6909 0004 27809

323 11047 13037 4113 1004 16146

4329 3459 1047 4506
21 4737 4788 993 5781

695 511 168 679

2590 109 588

27 15
372

533 188

2030 466 588

697

15
372
188

122

202

18826

Cash flow from operations before net replacement expenditures 1380 1392 17 229

Net replacement expenditures 258 204 49 022

Cash flow from operations 1122 1188 66 107

Expansion investments 026 22 62
Acquired companies enterprise value 23 110

SEGMENT ASSETS

2984 417 348

633 613 337

2351 096 11

214 337 210

133 38

765

950
185
547
38

Accounts receivables

Other current receivables

Inventories

Pension plan assets

Investments in associates

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Total segment assets

1075 1161 410 541

151 94 60 60

1414 885 318 438

2484 4980 737 656

2149 1525 712 633

7273 8651 2237 2329

69 3118 2991 1475 336 4130

365 571 374 945

3055 2862 1097 3959

19 19

8857 1596 1387 2983

5019 5644 1613 7257

69 20421 13664 5965 336 19293

SEGMENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Value added tax employee taxes etc

Other current liabilities

Pension liabilities

Deferred tan excess values

Total segment liabilities

Capital employed book value2

KEY FIGURES

691 469 195 266

341 205 39 76
737 669 135 145

518 063 02 80
024 396 47

2411 0902 428 573

4862 6749 1809 1756

69 1552 2286 0007 336 2957
661

1686 1519 525 2044
773 214 234 448
573 41 41

69 5245 4060 1766 336 5490
15176 9604 4199 13803

Key figures are defined on page 75

Most of the lines xnder segment assets and segment liabilities can ho directly matched with the notes and the balance sheet tospectively the sariance between Other current roceisables and Other current

liabilities and Note 16 is ascribable to the tact that other current receisables and liabilities also comprise items that are not included in capital employed such as accrued interest while some of the derisatises are

inclsded in capital employed Deferrod tan related to eocess values is included in deterred tax

Evcluding Orkia Financial insestments

Orkla Orkia

Orkla Orkla Brands Food

Foods Brands Inter- Ingredi

Nordic Nordic national ents

25 202

12194 13706 5120

Operating margin u/n 10.6 17.2 0.2 5.7 11.1 0.5 8.5 2.5

Return on capital employed /n 18.2 20.3 02 12.1 15.7 1.3 14.9 5.7

Total man-years 4462 2972 4600 1315 13349 9944 2641 12585
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NOTES GROUP

The segment information tables show sales broken down by market for each business area based on the customers location The different business areas are defined

and described in the section on business areas in the annual report Orkla HQ/Other business primarily covers activities at the Groups head office and up to 2007

Hiemmet Mortensen HMs operations As of 31 December 2007 HM was reclassitied as an associate but is included line by line in the income statement for 2007

2006 as joint
venture KM was sold in the second quarter

of 2008 Elkem Aluminium has been removed from the segment disclosure for all three
years

and is

presented as discontinued operations Reference is made to Note 26 for segment disclosures relating to discontinued operations

Elkem

Elkem Silicon-

Energy
related

Elimin

ations

Elkem Elkem

Elimin- Orkia HQ/

Elimin- ations Orkla Other

Borregaard Borregaard ations Orkla Orkia Financial Business

Energy Chemicals Borregaard Borcegaard Mateiials Materials Investments Eliminations Orkla Group

1032 609 1641 41 198 239 1880 105 11435

195 195 114 114 309 8046

105 105 17 17 122 2959

105 105 27 27 132 2048

1032 1014 2046 41 356 397 2443 112 24488

2610 2610 1714 1714 4324 19739

384 384 204 204 588 5967

1639 1639 1236 1236 2875 10 4579

1442 1442 1023 1023 2465 9164

6075 6075 4177 4177 10252 10 39449

1032 7089 8121 41 4533 4574 12695 112 15 63937

80 645 725 80 81 806 744 15 1642

842 291 1040 93 198 19 199 18 12 99 20 134

1954 8025 1040 8939 240 4632 199 4673 12 13600 876 104 65579

1097 3550 948 3699 1559 199 1360 5057 50 96 32204

58 1309 13671 21 8921 894 2261 215 311 11622

172 2498 92 2578 32 1724 1756 10 4324 678 10 15510

49 304 353 224 232 585 31 13 2003

578 364 942 198 233 431 1373 98 322 4240

179 180 186 228
372

561 561 561 1282

399 363 762 198 334 136 626 98 322 2358

151 2340 2189

31 30 35 137

3215 3215 1911 1911 5126 36153

848 10 859 191 273 404 1322 187 158 4726

75 343 418 222 231 649 404 39 2675

773 333 440 182 51 233 673 591 197 2051

260 2951 3211 99 71 170 3381 4142
886 1059

185 1317 78 1424 24 656 677 2092 461 77 9724

292 1556 1848 215 221 2069 162 12 3553

1679 1679 868 868 2547 9564

10 73 83 40 43 126 138

16 16 11 11 27 633 16427 17112

2770 1521 4291 16 95 111 4402 103 28 16317

2303 7189 9492 188 2.308 2496 11988 1980 124 26368

5560 13351 78 18833 237 4193 4427 23251 3343 16468 82776

125 1088 78 1135 16 354 367 1493 93 147 5948

43 55 98 52 54 152 42 75 930

255 1639 1894 393 391 2285 114 109 6238

286 289 112 112 401 32 1654

1305 1309 1309 56 1971

1731 3072 78 4725 16 911 924 5640 305 61 16741

3829 10279 14108 221 3282 3503 17611 3038 16407 66035

296 4.5 10.5 82.5 5.0 9.2 10.1 6.5

12.9 4.2 72 125.5 6.6 11.6 8.2 943

86 2820 2906 1618 1620 4526 188 289 30937
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NOTES GROUP

SEGMENTS 2007

Amounts in NOK million

Orkia Orkla

Orkia Orkia Brands Food

Foods Brands Inter- tngredi

Nordic Nordic national ents

Elimin-
Sapa Heat Orkla

ations Transfer Elimin- Aluminium

Orkla Orkla Sapa Building ations Solutions

Brands Brands Profiles System OAS OAS

REVENUES/PROFIT

Norway

Sweden

Denmark

Fisland and Iceland

Nordic region

Rest ot Western Europe

Central and Eastern Europe

Asia

Rest ot the world

Outside Nordic
region

Sales revenues

Other
operating revenues

Intercompany sales

Operating revenues

Cost of materials

Payroll eupenses

Other operating expenses

Depreciations

Operating profit
before

amortisation

restructuring and significant impairments

Awortisation intangible assets

Restructuring and significant impairments

Operating profit

Profit from associates

Minority
interests share of

profit

Of this sales in EU

CASH FLOW

4098 4262 317

3241 1096 992

665 649 916

922 777 106

8926 6784 2331

199 340 250 235

278 374 1745 385

11 202 11

48 38 16 11

529 763 2213 642

9455 7547 2213 2973

20 21 10

73 98 44 217

9548 7666 2262 3200

4542 3241 1307 1990

1956 1413 433 466
1831 1607 497 479

326 187 96 87

893 1218 71 178

13
106 324

885 1099 395 176

16
5276 3066 813 2512

8677 173 107

5329 1471 771

2230 299 147

1805 123 39

18041 2066 1064

1024 9963 3908

2782 1562 627

228 149 1018

113 4658 306

4147 16332 5859

22188 18398 6923

56 12

423 905 125

423 22253 19305 7060

391 10689 11867 4388

4268 2728 953
32 4382 3688 964

696 432 158

2218 590 597

23
430 309

1765 281 597

16 54

11667 12745 5383

280

2242

446

162

3130

13871

2189

1167

4964

22191

25321

14

1030

1030 25335

1030 15225

3681
4652

590

1187

309
878

52

18128

Cash flow from operations before

net replacement expenditures

Net replacement expenditures

Cash flow from
operations

Expansion investments

Acquired companies enterprise value

SEGMENT ASSETS

1142 1429 63 215

281 180 60 70
861 1249 145

19 19 51 21
204 513 53

2849 934

591 325

2258 609

110 125

770 260

782 1716

71 396
711 1320

31 156
260

Accounts receivable

Other current receivables

Inventories

Pension plan assets

Investments in associates

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Total segment assets

974 994 299

164 93 70

1217 753 261

12

2218 4397 1181 489

1928 1346 681 488

6513 7586 2492 1743

396 45 2618 3539 1354

60 387 639 228

309 2540 2583 996

16 24

8285 1499 1280

4443 4050 1170

45 18289 12310 5052

251 4642

867

3579

24

2779

5220

251 17111

SEGMENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Value added tax employee taxes etc

Other current liabilities

Pension liabilities

Deferred tax eucess values

Total segment liabilities

Capital employed book value2

KEY FIGURES1

663 432 208 209

294 171 22 56
645 617 106 120

481 187 11 76
108 343 42

2191 1750 389 464

4322 5836 2103 1279

45 1467 2782 1139

543
1488 1118 395

755 195 264

496 30
45 4749 4125 1803

13540 8185 3249

251 3670

1513
459
35

251 5677
11434

Operating margin u/c

Return on capital employed u/0

Total man-years

9.4 15.9 3.1 5.6

16.1 19.0 3.0 11.8

4571 3159 6047 1224

10.0 3.1 8.5

14.0 18 na

15001 11404 2510

4.7

11.5

13914

Key figures are defined on puge 75

Must xl the lines under segwenr assets and Segment liabilities can be directly matched with the notes and the balance sheet respectively rhe variance between Other current receivables and Other current

liabilities and Note 16 is ascubable to the fact that other current receivables and liabilities alsu
comprise items that are nut included in capital employed such us accrued interest while some of the deriuatiues are

included in capital employed Deferred tea related tu encess values
is

incuded in deferred tan

Eucluding Orkla Financial investments
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Elkem Elimin

Elkem Silicon- ations

Energy related Elkem Elkem

569 271 840

30 305 335
539 34 505

542 1797 2339

16 26 42

Elimin- Orkla HQ/

Elimin- ations Orkla Other

Borregaard Borregaard ations Orkla Orkia Financial Business/ Continuing Discontinued Orkla

Energy Chemicals Borregaard Borregaard
Materials Materials Investments Eliminations operations operations Group

587 5837

79 2056
508 3781

268 2964
7513

143 962 1105

217 570 787

1178 1178

10 10
13 14

2957 1597 4554

2057 3960 6017

5385 8270 13655

13 650 661

192 194

738 738

44 47

25 25

16 102 118

88 2368 2456

122 4119 4239

1767 248 78 9197

981 144 111 2490

1916 206 10 8231

47 10 40

39 67 14473 14619

4672 102 30 15808

8473 1293 92 19521

17895 2063 14548 69906

339 9536

220 2710

302 8533

40

14619

322 16130

1960 21481

3143 73049

107 607 714 12 320 330 1045 43 150 6075 236 6311
35 178 213 48 52 265 20 86 914 43 957

286 324 610 240 240 850 289 128 4268 26 4294
248 250 126 126 376 1598 27 1625

1391 1397 47 47 1350 60 1939 89 2028
1821 1363 3184 16 687 701 3886 413 69 14794 421 15215

3564 6.907 10471 106 3432 3538 14009 1650 14479 55112 2722 57834

13.8 61.6 5.6 8.0 11.6

10.2 109.9 7.5 10.4 10.2

2709 15 1730 1745 4454 190

682 765 1447

175 175

123 123

87 87

682 1150 1832

2192 2192

379 379

1160 1160

1637 1637

5368 5368

682 6518 7200

75 302 377

613 189 743 59

1370 7009 743 7636

476 3386 589 3273

72 1242 1314

133 1713 154 1692

41 265 306

648 403 1051

188 188

460 403 863

10 10

53 23 76
2751 2751

1704

279

135

118

2236

4066

605

2319

2531

9521

11757

443

39 34

39 12234

29 4720
2210

10 3339
545

1420

194
75

1151

17

84
4829

250

104

12

31

397

1874

226

1159

894

4153

4550

64

168 14

177 4628

1644

895

60 1597

232

109 260

75
109 179

2078

142 324

12 232
130 92

18 73

257

104

12

31

404

1874

226

1159

894

4153

4557

66

168 14

168 4637

168 1476

896

1657

239

369

75
288

2078

466

244
222

91

118 585 11364

94 7953

2811

2085

127 679 24213

18961

5576

3723

7608

35868

127 688 60081

789 34 1336

17 60
933 662 61417

66 111 30811

349 491 10999

269 275 12917

12 22 1865

237 237 4825

220
814

237 240 3791

826 848

46
94 34727

1306 264 357 5250

579 398 13 1977
727 662 370 3273

2430 2696
42 6440 7512

47.3 5.7

lid lid

86 2623

7.9

11.4

508 34067 787 34854
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SEGMENTS 2006

Amounts in NOK million

Orkia Orkia

Foods Brands

Nordic Nordic

Orkla Orkia

Brands Food

Inter- Ingredi

national ents

Elimin

ations Orkla Alu

Orkla Orkla minium Elkem

Brands Brands Solutions Energy

Elkem

Silicon-

related

REVENUES/PROFIT

Norway

Sweden

Denmark

Finland and Iceland

Nordic
region

Rest ot Western Europe

Central and Eastern Europe

Asia

Rest ot the world

Outside Nordic
region

Sales revenues

Other
operating revenues

Intercompany sales

Operating revenues

Cost ot materials

Payroll expenses

Other operating expenses

Depreciations

Operating profit before amortisation

restructuring and significant impairments

Amortisation intangible assets

Restructuring and significant impairments

Operatiug protit

Protit trom associates

Minority interests share ot protit

Of this soles in Eu

CASH FLOW

Cash flow from operations before

net replacement expenditures

Net replacement expenditures

Cash flow from operations

Expansion investments

Acquired companies enterprise value

SEGMENT ASSETS

SEGMENT LIABILITIES

KEY FIGURES1

4290 4133

3122 1051

599 525

894 868

8905 6577

208 279

214 251

10

49 34

474 574

9379 7151

41 24

63 75

9483 7250

4406 3082

1923 1272

1745 1548

335 171

1074 1177

1074 1174

4am 2u8

292

966

828

77

2163

241 195

1906 254

2148 465

2148 2628

16

56 213

2207 2857

1298 1778

363 420

427 411

81 82

38 166

38 164

14
877 2244

408

134

86

82

710

1986

324

833

1337

4480

5190

183

248

5621

31 66

1033

956

266

11.3 16.2

19.1 19.5

4558 3312

1.7 5.8

2.0 11.7

5551 1073

11.5 5.1 42.4 3.6

16.3 10.7 na na

14494 8434 79 2150

8715 242 1012

5139 2016

1952 394

1839 132

17645 2784 1012

923 9017

2625 1665

21 798

92 2036 58

3661 13516 58

21306 16300 1070

84 18 75

399 532

399 21398 16318 1677

378 10186 9718 764

3978 2780 89
21 4110 2576 73

669 405 40

2455 839 711

188

2450 839 523

15 17
10149 12958

2946 893 726

378 271 24
2568 622 702

71 157 535

1523 10

48 2619 3141 42

403 404 276

2538 2157

20 23

8340 3576 3196

4675 3021 1510

48 18596 12322 5032

48 1490 2344 135

527 136 14
1444 696 58

776 443
486 37 1412

48 4723 3656 1621

13873 8666 3411

Accounts receivable

Other current receivables

Inventories

Pension plan assets

Investments in associates

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Total segment assets

1283 1244

106 120

1177 1124

28 42
32 948

870 1084

187 99

1169 832

12

2201 4536

2007 1459

6446 8014

632 520

276 166

660 568

496 192

103 366

2167 1812

4279 6202

176 243

79 73
97 170

492 51

373 340

75 42

256 281

1118 485

709 500

2531 1653

209 177

37 48
97 119

10 78
16

369 423

2162 1230

200

133

67

2384

290

241
49

222

42

994

448

867

16

1558

2176

6063

531

175

543

314

1563

4500

Accounts payable

Value added tax employee taxes etc

Other current liabilities

Pension liabilities

Deferred tan excess values

Total segment liabilities

Capital employed book value2

Operating margin 05
Return on capital employed 0/a

Total man-years

Key tigures are defined nn page 75

Most ot the lines under Segment assets and Segment liabilities con be directly matched with the flutes ond the balance sheet respectively The variance between Other current receivables and Other current

liabilities and Note t6 is ascribable te the tact that ether current receinables and liabilities also comprise items that are not included in capital employed such as accrued interest while some ot the derivatines are

included in capital employed Deterred tao related to excess values is included in deterred tao

Eocluding Orkla Financial invvstmnnts
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Elimin

Elimrn- Elimin- atiOnS

ations Borregaard Borregaard ations Orkia Orkla

Elkem Elkem
Energy

Chemicals Borregaard Borregaard Materials Materials

1016 332 420

265 301
751 323 119

757 23
42 10 86

13.8 53.5 3.1

10.4 158.4 3.8

2229 14 1743

1768

575
1193

780
138

Orkla HQ/

Orkla Other

Financial Business Continuing
Discontinued Orkla

Investments Eliminations operations operations Group

185 177 4579

206
388

185 185 3985

279 289

52
10 92 28167

238 6057

31 1571
269 4486

1008
3423 5094

9.1

12.4

209 456 27579 730 28309

1420 241 254

134 107

86 19

82 22

1722 241 402

1986 1834

324 177

833 1039

1395 840

4538 3890

6260 241 4292

22 280 63

730 50 187 14

708 6590 428 4369

585 3345 1621

1122 890

123 906 191 1483

306 238

911 229 137

188

133 255
590 229 123

22
2384 1974

85

10

95

95

647

21

763

41
284
247

557 11514

92 7498

2451

2075

649 23538

13760

4791

2691

4363

25605

649 49143

39 1131

101
587 50274

58 24800

453 9508
236 9739
17 1648

1915

241

105

104

2365

3820

501

1872

2235

8428

10793

343

40 72

40 11208

31 4797
2013
2570

551

1277

193
388

696

31
4358

495

107

19

22

643

1834

177

1039

840

3890

4533

63

139 62

139 4658

138 1483

891

1673

245

366

255
106

1974

752

310
442

23
96

753

175

674

51

18

130

2395

4196

414

43
258

140
41

814

3382

7.9

9.8

1757

1036 49 711

724 171

867 674

22 44

18

4754 16 114

3686 66 2329

11095 142 4061

666 412

189 42
601 23 235

316 140

1412 41

3184 33 788

7911 109 3273

688

316
372

226

61

48

90

848

1285

81
23

315

49
468

817

533 6590

92 1663
441 4927

283 1291
5094

382 8108

258 2146

208 6510

103

5363

342 17370

1771 16568

2961 56168

161 5059
42 1022
57 3699
26 1731
95 2038

381 13549

2580 42619

23 1766

899

1541

73

24

4884

6081

23 15268

23 1057
232
859
456

1371
23 3975

11293

11.4

10.2

3986

26 7726

173 1888

6302

26 103

5248 5363

138 17028

172 14797

5736 53207

74 4898
62 980

328 3642
30 1705

1943
346 13168

5390 40039
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NOIISGROUP

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN OF CAPITAL EMPLOYED INVESTMENTS AND NUMBER 01 MAN-YEARS

Capitol employeo in vestments and number of man-years ore broken down by geographical markets based on the location of the companies Capital employed is

measure of the enterprises net capitalised working capital and is defined in the segment note as the net of segment assets and liabilities In vestments are the total of

replacement expenditures and expansion investments The number of man-years is the number of employees adjusted for fractional posts in the current reporting period

See Note for segment information

Link between segments and nlnvestmentsn

Replacement expenditures from segments see Note

Sale of property plant and equipment

Expansion
investments

Changes in accounts payable investments

Total

Capital employed

2008 2007 2006

37339 33227 21008

6005 6281 7476

3855 2992 2943

3333 2693 2358

50532 45193 33785

6097 5192 3908

3529 3004 3010

1722 1194 552

3904 3001 1183

251 250 181

15503 12641 8834

66035 57834 42619

Investments Number of man-years

2006 2008 2007 2006

2169 6372 7203 7098

294 4597 4885 4798

108 1357 1449 1336

116 965 947 987

2687 13291 14484 14219

214 5555 6245 4357

192 6471 7873 7491

107 2255 2351 876

51 3279 3808 1323

86 93 43

565 17646 20370 14090

3252 30937 34854 28309

2675 2056 1663

335 322 252

4142 2964 1291

140 30 46

7292 5312 3252

PAYROLL EXPENSES

Payroll expenses are the total disbursements relating to remuneration of personnel employed by the Group and of Group officers These expenses comprise direct

salaries and holiday pay fees to Group of ficers any bonuses paid the accounting effects of employees share and option pro grommes pension expenses and public

taxes/charges relating to the employment of personnel Any benefits in kind such as company ca telephone or the like ore reported for tax purposes as wages

but ore presented as operating expenses according to the nature of the expense

BONUS SYSTEMS
Amounts in NOK million 2008 2007 2006

wages 9124 8625 7432
Orkla has system of annual bonuses that rewards improvement operational

Employers national insurance contribution 1812 1679 1465 excellence

Pension costs 523 520 411

163 175 200 Undei this system good performanceu which is
specifically

defined for

11622 10999 9508 the various elements can result in an annual bonus of 30 0/ of an employees

fixed pay while the maximum bonus is 100 O/ of the employees annual pay

32026 32093 26653 This bonus system applies to approximately 250 senior executives

For detailed information about pensiun msts see Note

Remuneration of the executive management

Remuneration to CEO

Remuneration to other membets of

the Group Executive Board 26394445 973222 2680809 34947423 926632 2662855 17776902 922828 4282358

Number of options to CEO 31 December 1560000 1750000 1500000

Number of options to other members of

the Group Executive Board 31 December 1882000 1651165 1783330

For other matters relating to the remuneration of the executive management and members of the Board of Directors reference is made to Note to the Financial

Statements for Orkla ASA

Option programmes

The Board proposes to the General Meeting that the option programme for execu- Development of human resource

five management and key personnel is maintained with maximum of million Achievement of financial
targets

shares ceiling for the potential annual gain is set at 1.5 annual salaries for the Improvements within the executives sphere of
responsibility

Group Executive Board and one annual salary for other participants Options may be Collaboration

awarded on the basis of the following criteria Application in practice of Orklas basic values

Potential for further development

Market considerations securing key competence

Other factors

Amounts
in

NOK millixn

Norway

Sweden

Denmark

Finland and Iceland

Nordic
region

Rest of Western Europe

Central and Eastern Europe

Asia

America

Rest of the world

Outside Nordic region

Total

2008

4714

348

117

209

5388

505

688

287

339

85

1904

7292

2007

3644

273

103

302

4322

380

261

151

192

990

5312

Other payments etc

Payroll expenses

Average number of man-years

continuing operations

Amounts in NOK

2008

Benefits Pension

Salary in kind costs

4981196 236767 1013778

2007 2006

Benefits Pension Benefits Pension

Salary in kind costs Salary
in kind costs

4205313 197354 877516 4013634 209806 791934
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NOTES GROUP

Cash bonus

Outstanding at the beginning

of the year

Granted during the year

Exercised during the year3

Forfeited
during

the
year

2007
outstanding at year-end

No WAEP1
Exercisable options at year-end

Expiry date

July 2008

15 December 2008

15 December 2009

March 2010

30 May 2010

15 December 2010

28 February 2011

15 December 2011

20 February 2012

15 December 2012

May 2014

14 August 2014

Total

Weighted average
exercise price Amounts in NOK

Orkla has used the Black-Scholes model when estimating the value of the options

The
following assumptions have been used tor new option awards

Effects ot the
option programme on the financial statements

Description NDK million

Option costs in the vesting period

Change in provision for national insurance contribution

Net option income costs 2007

Liabilities

Relates only to employers national insurance contributions

Expiry date

15 December 2008

March 2009

15 December 2009

Total

Weighted average 000rcise price Amounts in NOK

701500 17.6 1049500

242500 20.4 333000

15000

459000 16.8 701500

459000 16.8 701500

2007

WAEP No

20.8 242500

15.0 325000

20.5 134000

701500

Hedging

The costs of the option and cash bonus programmes are partly hedged by means

of hedge contracts with financial institution As of 31 December 2008 there were

open hedge contracts equivalent to the change in value of 1400000 underlying

Orkla shares 2007 1400000 with an average exercise price of NOK 43
per

share

2007 NOK 43 NOK 84 million was expensed for hedges in 2008 NOK 48 million

8307170 taken to income in 2007 The capitalised value as of 31 December 2008 was NOK

million NOK 87 million in 2007

PENSIONS

The Groups pension costs show the future pension entitlement earned by employees

in the financial year In defined contribution plan the company is responsible far

paying an agreed contribution to the employees pension assets The employee bears

the risk related to the investment return an the pension assets In defined benefit

plan the company is responsible for paying on agreed pension to the employee

based on his or her final pay The largest pension plans at Orkla are defined

contribution plans

Contribution plans

Contribution plans comprise arrangements whereby the company makes annual

contributions to the employees pension plans and where the return on the

pension plan assets will determine the amount of the pension Contribution
plans

also comprise pension plans that are common to several companies and where the

pension premium is determined independently of the demographic profile in the

individual companies multi-employer plans Employees in the Orkla Group are

mainly covered by pension plans that are classified as contribution plans All

of Orklas companies in Norway have switched to defined contribution plans

Defined benefit plans

The Group also has pension plans that are classified as funded benefit plans and

benefit plans that are financed through the companies operations large part of

the Groups benefit plans are in Sweden and Norway These countries account for

53 0/o and 26 O/ respectively of the Groups net pension liabilities

Sweden

The plans in Sweden are snet plans that do not tie the Groups liabilities to

changes in Swedish social security The plans cover salaried employees manual

employees have defined contribution pension plan and are largely determined

Options are normally issued at 110 O/ of the market price of the Orkla share

Options have life of six years and may be exercised in the last three years

When an option is exercised Orkla alternatively has the right to redeem the

opt ion by paying cash amount equivalent to the difference between the

exercise price and the price of the share on the day the option is exercised

but this is seldom done

2008

No WAEP1

2008

No WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning

of the year

Granted during the year

Exercised during the
year

Forfeited during the
year

Outstanding at year-end

Exercisable options at year-end

2007

No WAEP

8307170

2950000

7201 70

260000

10277000

2812500

81.36

28.70

70.93

64.25

32.15

8391860

1764500

14441 852

405005

8307170

2185170

41.7

93.9

27.4

50.9

54.8

30.6

18.1

19.1

20.5

17.6

17.6

Weighted average
eoercise price Amounts in NOK

including 90000 options that have not been accounted fur according to IFRS since they were granted

before November 2002

Average share price
when exercised was NOK 43 N0K 105 in 2007

Weighted average exercise price for outstanding cash bonuses at year end

Weighted average exercise price Amounts in NOK

Average share price when exercised was NOK 54 NoR 90 in 2007

The weighted average contractual life of outstanding options as of 31 December

2008 is 3.3 years

Weighted average exercise price for outstanding opt ions at
year

end

WAEP

WAEP1

2008

No

15.0 325000

20.5 134000

459000

WAEP1

31.0

37.2

26.6

40.2

47.2

55.7

63.2

93.9

81.40

78.10

2008

No

1010000

375000

250000

1132500

400000

2090000

500000

1654500

2830000

35000

10277000

2007

No

27.0 200000

27.2 295170

30.8 1065000

37.2 375000

26.6 250000

40.2 1317500

47.2 400000

56.6 2200000

63.2 500000

93.9 1704500

Effects of the cash bonus programme on the financial statements

Description NOK million

Income costs 2007
Liabilities

2008 2007

45 18
21 70

Expected dividend yield 0/c

Expected volatility 0/c

Historical volatility /o
Risk-tree return 0/u

Expected life of option years

Weighted average share price NOK

2008 2007

10 10

25 25

25 25

4.6 4.6

74 85

2008

21
39

18

13

2007

25
28
53

52
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NOTES GROUP

by collective agreements It has been agreed that the plan
is

gradually to be

converted to defined contribution pension plan since all employees born in

1979 or later must be covered by defined contribution plan

The pension plans in Sweden are not funded but provisions
have been made

in the companies balance sheets To secure accrued pension rights companies

must take out credit insurance in the Pensionsgaranti FP6 insurance company

Pensionsregistrerirrgsinstitutet PRI records and calculates companies pension

liabilities

Norwoy

Employees in Norway are mainly covered by contribution-based pension plans

Net pension liabilities in Norway largely consist of special pension schemes

financed through company operations contractual early retirement AFP schemes

and book liabilities related to contribution-based plans for employees who earn

more than twelve times the national insurance basic amount 126

Most employees in Norway are covered by contractual early retirement AFP

schemes It is assumed that 50 0/0 of the employees will make use of these schemes

90 0/ for Elkem plants The pension liabilities related to AFP are calculated on the

basis of the same assumptions as the other pension plans

The pension plan for employees in Norway who earn more than 126 is contribution-

based plan contribution is calculated for each employee and the sum total of

fhe calculated amounts is presented as pension liability itt the companys balance

sheet The pension plan is therefore presented as defined benefit plan This

liability will be adjusted annually
with return that corresponds to the investment

profile chosen by the individual employee These liabilities amounted to NOK 195

million as of 31 December 2008 NOK 132 million as of 31 December 2007

Because Orkla has switched from defined benefit plan to defined contribution

plan
in Norway the former defined benefit plan has been closed and is now

being phased out Most of the employees included in the defined benefit plan

are pensioners Orkla has no obligations related to future adjustment of pensions

There may be cases in which profit exceeds the amount required for 6-adjustment

of pensions in yea as result of which the excess amount may be credited to

the enterprise but in
practice

this occurs only in
very exceptional cases Orkia has

no obligation to compensate for any deficit in life insurancE companies

Discount rate

Future salary adjustment

6-multiplier

Adjustment of benefits

Expected return on

pension plan assets

Actual return on

pension plan assets

Turnover

Expected average

remaining servicetime

10 is currenriy NOK 70256

Breakdown of net pension liabilities as of 31 December

Amuunrs in NOK rn/hun

Present value of funded pension obligations

Pension plan assets fair value

Net tunded pension assets

Present value of unfunded pension obligations

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses

Unrecognised past service cost

Capitalised net pension liabilities

Capitalised pension
liabilities

Capitalised plan assets

Changes in the present value of pension obligations during the year

Amounts in NOK million 2008

Pensions obligations January 5738
Current service cost md national insurance contributions 116
Interest on pension obligations 248
Pension costs discontinued operations

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses 148

Unrecognised past service cost 12

Liabilities assumed in business combinations

Curtailments and settlements 50

Benefits paid during the
year

390

Currency translations 602
Changes related to discontinued

operations
166

Reclassified as associates

Pension obligations 31 December 5938

Changes in pension plan assets during the year

Am000rs in NOK mitiun

Pension plan assets fair value January

Expected return on pension plan assets

Expected return on pension plan assets discontinued operations

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses

Assets acquired in business combinations

Contributions and benefits paid during the year

Assets transterred to contribution plans

Currency translations

Changes related to discontinued operations

Reclassified as associates

Pension plan assets tair value 31 December

Sweden
Expected contributions of pension plan assets in 2009 amount to NDK 113 million

Breakdown of pension plan assets fair value as of 31 December

Cash and cash equivalents and money market investments

Bonds

Loans

Shares

Property

Total
pension plan assets

Breakdown of net pension costs

Am000is in NOK million

Contribution plans

Current service cost

md national insurance contributions

interest on pension obligations

Expected return on pension plan assets

Actuarial
gains

and losses/past service cost

Curtailments and settlements

Net pension costs

2008 2007 2006

398 378 284

116 105 133

248 244 239
221 227 256

14 31 25
32 11 14

523 520 411

2008

3688
3880

192

2250
542

1516
1654

138

2007

3643

3966

323

2095
90

1585

1625
40

2007

6212

105

244

10
73

71
11

360

339

114

5738

2007

4304

227

12

200

31
227

110

3966

Assumptions relating
to defined benefit plans

The anticipated return on pension plan assets is determined on the basis of the

composition of the pension plan assets Risk
relating

to these assets is taken into

account

The discount rate is fixed at the rate on high quality corporate bonds with the

same lifetime as the pension liabilities AA-rated corporate bonds In countries

where there is no deep market in such bonds such as Norway the market

yields on government bonds are used adjusted for the actual lifetime of the

pension liabilities

The mortality estimate is based on mortality tables for the various countries

K2005 in Norway

2008

3966

221

536

49
66
460

116

3880

Norway

2008 2007

3.80 0/ 4.9 0/

375 0/0 4.25 To

3.75 /o 4.25 /o

1.5/a 1.5/o

5.5 6.0 0/0

1.9 /o 7.3 /o

0-5 Wo 0-5 0/0

2007

4.75 9/u

30/0

30/0

O/

2008

3.50 0/

3%
0/0

/o

4-6 0/

2008 2007

15/o 4/n

48% 48/n

3% 30/0

26 35 09/

8/o 10/n

100% 1000/u

2004

3048
2215

833

34 410 31

15 18 18
Summary of net pension liabilities and adjustments in past five years

Amounis in NOK million 2008 2007 2006 2005

Pension obligations 5938 5738 6212 6705
Pension plan assets 3880 3966 4304 4372

Net pension liabilities 2058 1772 1908 2333

Changes in unrecognised actuarial

gains and losses pension obligations 160 80

Changes in unrecognised actuarial

gains and losses pension plan assets 536 12 58 69 13
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses have been broken down into the following main items

The items represent the overall costs for the entire Group apart from the costs of

goods sold and
payroll expenses

Amounts in NOK million

External
freight costs

Energy costs production and heating

Advertising

Repair and maintenance costs

Rental/leasing

Operating expenses vehicles

Consultants legal advisors temporary staff etc

Other operating expenses

Total other
operating expenses

2008 2007 2006

2302 2363 1401

1944 1705 1441

1201 1238 1195

1437 1565 1291

384 399 406

637 491 522
1147 na na

6458 5156 3483

15510 12917 9739

RESTRUCTURING AND SIGNIFICANT IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

In Group as large as Orklo projects of varying scope will be carried out

continuously with view to rationolising day-to-day operations This type of

continuous improvement may also include structural changes but as rule will

not qualify for recognition as oRestructuring
and

significant impairment charges

regardless of the financial scope of the project Thus projects that qualify for such

recognition ore primarily projects that either culminate in the closure or winding-

up of business production etc or that totally change the extent of or the way

in which the business is run Other items will be considered separately

Amounts in NOK milliux

Orkla Brands International Write-down goodwill in SladCo Russia see Note 12

Borregaard Closure of business in Switzerland

Borregaard Closure of LignoTech Finland

Restructuring ot Sapa Profiles

Residual settlement of former provisions in Orkla Brands

Total

Of this Impairment property plant and equipment

Impairment intangible assets goodwill

Amounts in NOK million

Orkla Brands Nordic Winding-up snack business in Russia RSC and

food business in Sweden Topp

Orkia Foods International Impairment of goodwill in Romania and

restructuring
in Poland

Sapa Profiles Provision for restructuring in UK and Spain

Borregaard Further
provision related to restructuring Denofa and

Borregaard Synthesis from 2004

Total

Of this Impairment property plant and equipment

Impairment intangible assets

Amounts in NOK millinc

Impairment Borregaard Switzerland

Restructuring in Elkems Silicon business

Total

Of this Impairment property plant and equipment

Impairment intangible assets

For further information about the provisions see Note 22

Amounts in NOK milliun

Interest income

Net foreign exchange gain

Finance income fair value change

Other finance income

Total finance income

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per shore is one of several indicators that con be used in financial

analyses to assess companys performance This key figure shows how much

the profit or loss for the period amounts to per shore and is calculated by dividing

the profit or loss for the period by the overage shares outstanding

As result of the Orkla Groups option programme see Note outstanding shares

2007
may be diluted when

options are exercised In order to take into account this future

106
increase in the number of shares outstanding diluted earnings per share are

calculated in addition to basic
earnings per share In this calculation the average

324 shares outstanding are adjusted to take into account the estimated diluting effect

309 of the option programme

Amounts in NOK million

Profit for the year after minority

interests for
continuing operations

Gains/protit discontinued operations

Profit for the year after minorities

Weighted average of

shares outstanding

Estimated dilution effect

option programme

Weighted aoerage of shares

outstanding diluted

2008 2007 2006

2773 8188 6763

55 211 4473

2828 8399 1236

1016314644 1027806659 1031653505

1515057 3485305 2726750

1017829701 1031291964 1034380255

To calculate
profit or loss per share for discontinued operations the gain on discon

tinued
operations

and weighted average shares outstanding from the above tables

are used

Amounts in NOK

Earnings per
share

Earnings per share diluted

Earnings per
share diluted for

discontinued operations

Earnings per share diluted

adjusted for discontinued
operations

2008 2007 2006

2.8 8.2 10.9

2.8 8.1 10.9

0.2 4.3

2.8 7.9

2008

215

67

36

318

1432
240

49
69

1310

2007

256

30

422

853

1561

1045
70

162

1137

2006

196

399

595

804

21

41
65

889

Interest costs

Capitalised interest costs

Net foreign exchange loss

Other finance costs

Total finance costs

Reconciliation against cash flow

Change in accrued interest etc

Gains presented as sold companies

Fair value change

Interest discontinued operations

Foreign exchange gain/loss Share Portfolio

REC share issue

Total

44 132 85
483

67 422
16 10

1201 653 191

282
1312 104 548

Paid financial items in cash flow ABC 2304 320 842

Finance income fair value change consists of the change in the fair value of the

put options issued in REC shares cancelled in 2008 NOK 67 million 2007 NOK

422 million see Note 23 Financial risk for further details The biggest items in

Other finance income in 2007 are the gain on the sale of shares in Mecom Group

PLC NOK 311 million the gain from the financial interest in Good Energies sale

of shares in REC NOK 270 million and the gain on the sale of shares in the real

estate project at Fornebu NOK 261 million

2008

547
527
34

188
14

1282

280
547

75
814

23
290

2006

255

133

388

370

10 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income and finance costs mainly consist of interest income and interest

expense relating to the Groups total
financing

The net unhedged exchange rote

effects of the Groups receivables and liabilities in
foreign

currencies will also be

reported as net foreign currency gains/losses Gains or losses on foreign currency

transactions may result from the fact that hedges ore not 100 effective Any

gains or losses on securities not reported under the Shore Portfolio will be included

in Finance income and finance costs Borrowing costs for
internally generated

tangible assets ore capitolised together with the asset
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12 tNTA$GIBLF ASSFJS AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING

Intangible
assets and goodwill are nan-physical assets that have largely

been
capitalised

in cannectian with the acquisition af campany In tangible assets classified as nan

amartisable have an indefinite useful life and it is impassible an the balance sheet date ta faresee when the asset will cease ta have value Mareaver goadwill is nat regularly

amartised Other
intangible

assets are amartised aver their useful life Amartisatian is reparted an separate line in the incame statement Expenses relating ta praduct develap

ment are essentially expensed as and when they are incurred Pursuant ta the transitianal rules in IERS gaodwill from be fare 2004 may be reparted at capitalised value as af

31 December 2003 The cantent af goadwill be fare and after this date may there fare differ IT cansists af custamised saftware and will differ fram ather intangible assets in terms

of the need for reinvestment Amortisation of these assets is therefore included in
noepreciations property plant and equipmentu in the income statement

Amortisable
intangible

assets are amortised on straight line basis at the following rates trademarks 10-20 0/0 power rights 0/ and IT 16-33 0/s

In addition to the items presented in the table above the Group owns several

trademarks that have not been
capitalised

These are proprietary trademarks which

under accounting rules may riot be capitalised These trademarks come under

Orkla Brands and include market leading brands such as OMO and Blenda

detergents Grandiosa and Big One pizza Nora jams juice Idun ketchup

sauces Swtre biscuits and Nidar confectionery In addition some trademarks

have been capitalised indirectly as goodwill see also the table on page 122 of the

Annual Report When the transition was made to IFRS goodwill that lied already

been capitalised could be maintained and indirectly represents trademarks The

main trademarks in this category are Abba herring GOteborgs Kex biscuits

and Procordia various toad products Felix

In addition Group companies expensed NOK 466 million in 2008 in research and

development costs 2007 NOK 468 million Capitalised development essentially

refers to Elkem Solar

IMPAIRMENT TESTING GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH AN INDEFINITE

USEFUL LIFE

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised on

regular basis These assets are therefore tested annually for impairment if there

are special indications of reduction in value impairment testing
is carried out

more frequently Cash flows relating to the assets are identified and discounted

Future cash flow is based on specified assumptions see the table on the next

page and the plans adopted by the entity if the discounted value of future cash

flows is lower than the capitalised value of the units capital employed the assets

are written down to the recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the greater

of the value in use and the net sales value If the discounted value is higher
than

the capital employed this means that the value of the intangible asset or goodwill

is intact if the discounted value exceeds the capital employed by less than 20 0/0

further sensitivity analysis
is carried out to check the value When relevant

assumptions and estimates are reviewed and the robustness of the investment

is measured in relation thereto

The greatest
risk of material changes in value is related to the Groups major

goodwill
items The Group has goodwill and trademarks related to number of

acquisitions the largest goodwill
items and trademarks being related to the

following cash flow-generating units CGU5 capitalised value

Goodwill Trademarks

Amxxnts in NOK million 2008 2007 2008 2007

Chips 2187 1945 1244 1088

Axellus 967 820 349 277

Procordia Food 835 781

Panda 112 90 431 348

Sapa Profiles 1496 1310

Sapa Heat Transfer Building System 1355 1256

Elkem silicon-related/Solar 1393 1458

Other 2429 2622 262 224

Total 10774 10282 2286 1937

Several of the cash-generating units in the Group correspond to the segments

presented in Note This applies in particular within Orkla Aluminium Solutions

and Orkla Materials where the segments are largely identical to the units tested

for value impairment Both Elkem arid Sapa were acquired in 2005

The situation is different in Orkla Brands great
deal of the activities is in

companies that have been part of the Group for
very long

time No capitalised

intangible assets are associated with these companies as in the case of Stabburet

and Lilleborg The largest cash-generating units that have goodwill or trademarks

thus derive from acquisitions such as Procordia and Abba from 1995 and more

recent acquisitions made in 2005 the Chips Group and Panda These are business

units in Orkla Foods Nordic and Orkla Brands Nordic respectively
and are tested

for value impairment On the other hand acquisitions made in the Axellus Group

in 2005 and 2006 Collett Pharma and Darisk Droge will over time be difficult to

identify as independent units because the new units are being extensively

integrated into existing operations Thus the units in Axellus will be tested for

impairment on an aggregate basis as
part

of larger system

Trademarks not Trademarks Power rights
and other

Amounts NOK million amortisable amortisable intangible assets Development IT Goodwill Total

Book value January 2008 1937 42 3490 124 255 10282 16130

Additions 40 46

Reclassitication 39 12 29 14 14

Companies acquired
100 101

Disposals7
329 49 380

Amortisation 208 65 278

impairment
563 563

Corrency translations 308 23 68 999 1261

Book value 31 December 2008 2286 22 2948 113 174 10774 16317

Initial cost January 2008 1937 59 4123 126 586 12295 19126

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 17 633 331 2013 2996
Book value January 2008 1937 42 3490 124 255 10282 16130

Initial cost 31 December 2008 2286 43 3789 116 570 13350 20154

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 21 841 396 2576 3837
Book value 31 December 2008 2286 22 2948 113 174 10774 16317

Book value January
2007 1847 12 3778 94 127 11512 17370

Additions 72 44 SD 29 10 205

Reclassification 18 33 66 19 12 58

Companies acquired 10 49 163 327

Disposals 76 167 244
Amortisation 227 70 300

Impairment 290 290

Currency translations 74 12 514 606
Book value 31 December 2007 1937 42 3490 124 255 10282 16130

see Note fni infuimation about business combinations

Disposals primanly ieflects ieporting of Elkem Aluminium as discontinued opesaiions
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BUDGET ASSUMPTIONS

Calculations of future cash flow are based on number of assumptions regarding

both economic trends and the estimated useful life of important trademarks

Due to the current financial crisis estimate uncertainty
is

greater
than what

must be considered normal at the end of year The tinancial statements as

of 31 December 2008 have been prepared in
very turbulent highly unpredictable

market Both the real economic and interest rate assumptions on which the

impairment tests ace based are therefore subject to regular reassessment

Furthermore the Group consists of business operations in variety
of markets

that were impacted to differing degrees by the market uncertainty at year-end

The Group has chosen not to change its Weighted Average Cost of Capital WACC
Calculations show that the WACC ends up at the same level as before when

adjusted for slightly higher
debt ratio and expected future interest rate level

Dn the other hand further sensitivity analyses have been carried out in the case

of cash flow-generating units in business areas that are particularly exposed to the

effects of the financial crisis Markets for Sapa Profiles are obviously more exposed

to the impact of the crisis than for instance most of the segments in Drkla Brands

Future cash flows are estimated on the basis of the budget for next year and the

following two forecast years As from
year

four terminal value is calculated The

budgets which have been approved by the executive management were prepared

in late 2008

Based on these criteria the Group has written down goodwill
in SladCo by NDK 547

million and
goodwill

in Pressweld in Sapa Profiles by NDK 16 million WACC used in

the impairment test for SladCo in 2DD8 is 18.2 /u and the test is calculated in RUB

while corresponding test in 2007 was calculated in NDK based on WACC of

10.2 O/ The value of the goodwill related to Sapa Profiles as whole has been

established by value estimations in connection with the swap transaction between

Elkem Aluminium ANS and Alcoas minority interest in Sapa Profiles The recoverable

amount for Sapa Profiles is just over the capitalised value indicating that changes in

key assumptions may result in write-down As result of this valuation the Group

is not
adjusting

the value of goodwill in Sapa Profiles apart from the restructuring

measures that have been initiated All other goodwill
in the Group is maintained

Cash flow estimates are sensitive to changes in raw material prices and the

coherent ability to maintain margin assumptions The sensitivity of the estimates

even when there is reasonable
possibility

of change in assumptions does not

give grounds for material impairment charges

Calculations are based on the following assumptions

Discount rate The discount rate applied is the Groups cost of capital which is

adjusted for country and
currency

risk and is starting out with 9.7 /u

before tax The markets risk premium has increased significantly

compared with
previous years

The WACC is calculated on the basis

of market-weighted cross-section of required rates of return for the

Groups own and burrowed capital based on the capital value model

The country supplement is generally adjusted by assessing the cost

of borrowed capital in different countries while the business area

risk is generally adjusted by using
various Beta

Raw material prices are estimated on the basis of the market situa

tion forward or spot prices at the time of calculation

Profit margins are based on past performance adjusted for future

expectations

Maintaining
market shares is important for the earnings generated

by key trademarks Estimates are based on the expectation that

market shares will not change significantly from the time of

calculation

Solar It is assumed that the investment in solar energy is
progressing

according to plan Elkem Solars factory has reached mechanical

completion
and the

start-up programme has been launched

Terminal value The terminal value has been adjusted by growth rate of 2.5 u/u

equivalent to estimated rate of inflation

Raw material

prices

Gross profit

Market shares

13 PROPERT PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property plant and equipment ore various types of assets that ore necessary for the Groups operating activities Unless there ore significant changes in operating poro

meters these assets will largely necessitate corresponding reinvestment over time They comprise such items as land buildings plants machinery fixtures and fittings IT

equipment and vehicles Assets that hove on indefinite useful life such as property ore not depreciatea while other assets ore depreciated over their remaining useful

life taking into account their residual value If there are indications of decline in the value of specific osseh the recoverable value is calculated and if it is lower than

the assets sales value or value in use the osset is written down Annual ordinory depreciation is an indication of the extent of the need for corresponding reinvestment

Property plant and equipment are depreciated on straight line basis at the following rates buildings
2-4

u/u machinery fixtures and
fittings

5-15 u/u vehicles 15-25 u/n

and EDP equipment 16-33 O/ The period of depreciation is reviewed each year and if there are changes in useful life depreciation is changed The residual value is also

calculated and if it is higher than the book value depreciation is stopped This applies in particular to buildings The table below covers both
directly acquired

assets and

excess or deficit values allocated to underlying tangible assets in acquired companies

Land buildings and Machinery Assets under Fixtures and fittings

Amuunis ix NOK milliun other property and plants construction vehicles EDP etc Total

Book value january 2008 593 013 272 603 21 481

Additions 624 878 5553 191 7246

Disposals 203 80 285
Companies acquired 325 33 23 383

Sold companies/discontinued operations 588 1317 106 43 2054
Transferred assets under construction 3155 3233 6429 41

Impairment 87 211 307
Depreciations 348 1370 192 1910
Currency

translation 607 941 207 59 1814

Book value 31 December 2008 11078 11120 3514 656 26368

Initial cost January 2008 13167 28360 4287 2752 48566

Accumulated depreciations and impairment 5574 19347 15 2149 27085
Book value

January
2008 7593 9013 4272 603 21481

Initial cost 31 December 2008 16989 32847 3454 2744 56034

Accumulated depreciations and impairment 5911 21727 60 2088 29666

Book value 31 December 2008 11078 11120 3514 656 26368

Book value January 2007 6544 7209 2177 638 16568

Additions 688 1139 3152 128 5107

Disposals 061 271 31 466
Companies acquired 802 1777 140 30 2749

Transferred assets under construction 239 860 0177 78

Impairment 23 30
Depreciations 338 0386 223 1948
Currency translation 174 292 16 17 499
Book value 31 December 2007 7593 9013 4272 603 21481
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NOTES GROUP

Investment in solar energy the factory construction project has been mechanically

completed and the start up programme has been launched All subsidiary processes

are now being run separately as part at the
testing programme Deliveries will be

made to customers on an ongoing basis and one consignment is already ready

tar delivery As the individual processes gradually stabilise the processes will be

linked together and work will begin on
optimisirig

material flows through the entire

tactory Production II be ramped up in 2DD9 in line with the
goals previously

announced

Investment in Saudo The power plant in Sauda has
largely

been completed

Forest The Group owns biological assets in the form of forests the book value

of which was NOK 2DD million as of 31 December 2DD8 the same as in 2007
The forests are valued at fair value

using
cash flow-based method The forests

are included in the asset category land buildings and other property

See Note 24 for disclosures of
security

and mortgages related to the Groups

property plant and equipment

14 OTHER NON-CURRRIT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other non-current financial assets consist of financial investments of long-term

nature The shoreholdings presented here ore of strategic nature but the size

of the ownership interest and degree of influence do not qualify the shoreholdings

for presentation using
the

equity
method The shores ore presented at fair value

with changes in value taken
directly

to
equity

If the shores hove fallen in value

and the decline in value is significant or long-term the shores are written down

in the income statement This item also includes net pension plan assets in

companies that hove greater pension plan assets than pension liabilities and

receivables falling due in more than one years time The items are broken

down into those valued at fair value and other financial assets

15 INVENTORIES

The Groups inventories ore specified in terms of type of goods and the break

down by business area is shown in the segment reporting Inventories comprise

the Groups inventoried stocks of raw moteriols work in progress internally

manufactured finished goods and merchondiye valued at cost
price or mono factu

ring cost Any profit
from internal soles has been eliminated Inventories presented

here shoulc as for cost of materia be goods that are or will be port of the

finished producC including all packaging Any redundant stock has been written

down to net realisable value estimated future selling price

Inventories are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value after

deducting selling costs This has resulted in total write-down of inventories as of

31 December 2008 of NDK 479 million 2007 NOK 154 million Inventories valued

at net realisable value total NOK 4133 million 2007 NDK 307 million

In addition to the normal write-downs to assumed net sales value the situation at

year-end 2008 was characterised by uncertainty as regards trends in both demand

and prices Inventories of aluminium in Sapa Profiles utilised in various types of end

products other than those that can be expected to be resold at normal price terms

within normal time frame have been written down to replacement cost The

write-down of NOK 372 million 2007 NDK million is classified on separate

line because the write-down is significant and unusual It must also be viewed in

conjunction with the capacity reduction and restructuring that were being carried

out in Sapa as result of the financial crisis at the end of 2008

16 CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND LIABiLITIES

Current receivables

Current receivables ore both operating receivables and
interest-bearing receiva

bles Operating receivables are broken down into trade receivables accrued

advance payments to suppliers
and other current receivables Trade receivables

are continuously reviewed and are written down if there are objective criteria that

indicate that on event causing loss has occurrec and the amount of the loss can

be reliably measured and will affect payment of the receivable

Amounts in NOK mi lion 2008 2007

Accounts receivables 9724 9536

Advance payment to suppliers 676 691

Derivatives at fair value 577 593

Interest-bearing receivables 612 23

Other current receivables 2742 1785

Total current receivables 14331 12628

Changes in
provisions

for bad debts

Amounts NOK llivr 2008 2007

Provisions for bad debts January 237 218

Bad debts recognised as expense 86 16

Provisions in acquired companies 26

Recovenes of previously written-aft accounts receivables 23 23
Provisions for bad debts 31 December 300 237

Accounts receivables have the following due dates

Amounts NOK million 2008 2007

Accounts receivables not due 7175 7593

Overdue receivables 1-30 days 1624 1374

Overdue receivables 30-60 days 403 301

Overdue receivables 60-90 days 449 147

Overdue receivables over 90 days 373 358

Accounts receivables
carrying amount 31 December 10024 9773

Current liabilities

Current liabilities are operating liabilities trade accounts payable unpaid public

toxes/chorgey prepoid revenues other accruals etc and financial liabilities

payable interest All these items are interest-free borrowings Oividends will not

become liabilities until they have been approved by the General Meeting

17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Groups cash and cash equivalents consist of liquid assets necessary for trans

actions and some current placements

Amounts ii NOK ml lion

Shams in other companies

Pension plan assets

Othet financial assets at fair value

Loans to employees

nterest-beating financial instruments

Other non-current receivables

Other financial assets

Total other son-current financial assets

2008 2007

141 82

138 40

279 122

32 50

778 113

130 95

940 258

1219 380

Amounts in NOK million

Raw materials

Work in
progress

Finished goods and merchandise

Total

Amounts NOK Ihon

Accounts payable

Value added tax employee taxes etc

Derivatives at fair value

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

2008 2007

3471 2857

1879 1737

4214 3939

9564 8533

2008 2007

5948 6311

930 957

2454 1064

5370 4548

14702 12880

Amounts NOK million

Cash at bank and in hand

Current deposits

total cash and cash equivalents

Restricted deposits amount to NOK 898 million

2008 2007

2833 2677

1605 289

4438 2966
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18 SHARE PORTFOLIO

NOTES GROUP

Orklo Financial Investments is one of the Groups five core oreos The business oreo monoges one of Norways largest shore portfolios Its investment universe is primorily

the Nordic region ond Fos tern Europe The primory gools of Orklo Finonciol Investments ore to moximise the long-term return on invested copito contribute to providing

the Group with industriol options ond be one of the leoding players in the field of alternotive investments in Norway The mom strategy
for the Shore Port folio is to

identify ond invest in volue-creoting com ponies

Ownership Number of shares Fair value Unrealised

Amounts in NOK million interest 31 December 2008 31 December 2008 gains 2008 Industry

Securities available for sale

Listed securities Norway
Tomra Sysiems

15.5 0/ 24000000 557 23 Industry

Rieber Son 15.6 0/ 12424907 435 Consumer Goods

DnB NOR 0.7 /o 9350000 250 Bank

Tandberg 2.8 0/ 3200000 241 55 Communications Equipment

Kongsberg Gruppen 2.4 0/ 71 1800 233 123 Industry

Sara International 0.5 O/ 1420000 211 Materials

Schibsted 3.7 0u 2539200 209 Media

Oslo Brs VPS Holding 5.2 O/ 2235700 168 20 Finance

Telenor 0.2 Oo 3100000 144 Telecommunication Services

Gauger RoIf 2.7 0/ 994300 131 Energy

Vizrt 10.0 O/ 6511748 127 Software

StatoilHydro 0.0 0/s 850000 97 Energy

Aker 1.0 0/ 700000 95 Energy

Ekornes 0/ 1500700 93 19 Consumer Goods

Royal Caribbean Cruises 0.4 0/ 887642 81 Cruise

Prosafe Production 2.4 0/ 6203000 68 12 Oil Equipment and Services

Bonheor 1.1 453220 66 Energy

Kverneland 6.6 0/ 10254270 59 10 Industry

EDB Business Partner 34 05 3100000 41 IT Consulting Other Services

Others 321

Total 3627 64

Listed securities outside Norway
Hennes Mauritz 0.2 0/ 1750000 483 149 Retailing

Nokia 0.1 Ou 3075000 337 22 Communications Equipment

Elekta 4.2 3843400 268 69 Health Care Equipmeot

AstraZeneca 0.1 0/ 925900 257 69 Pharmaceuticals

Amer Sports 6.6 4806006 252 Consumer Goods

Vimpelcom-SP AOR 0.4 3657500 182 36 Telecommunication Services

Enter Select na 355633 172 Mutual Fund

Enter Sverige na 249570 169 Mutual Fund

Nokian Renkaat 1.5 O/ 1875000 144 Auto components

Nordic Alpha na 135000 140 30 Hedge Fond

C000coPhillips 0.0 0/ 349700 127 27 Energy

Saab 1.8 0/ 1925000 124 Aerospace and defence

Getinge Indostrier 0.6 0/ 1475694 124 14 Health Care Equipment

Mobile Telesystems AOR 09 Ord 02 Oo 3610000 124 28 Telecommunication Services

Kemira 1.6 So 2029231 119 10 Materials

Biovittum 5.3 0/0 2667500 lOS Biotechnology

Finnair 1.6 0/ 2004695 97 32 Transportation

G4S 0/ 4835000 97 Commercial Services

Harbin Power Equipment 1.2 0/ 16022000 93 35 ludustry

Investor 0.1 0/ 905500 92 Investment company

Metso Corporation 0.7 0/ 1050000 88 Industry

Transocean 0.1 0/ 220000 73 Oil Equipment and Services

Others 1446 86

Total 5113 339

Unlisted securities

Indostri Kapital 2000 3.6 0/ 23122207 279 93 Private Equity Fond

lndostn Kapital 2004 5.0 0/ 33050172 273 Private Equity Fond

Herkolvs Private Equity 47 05 39030931 223 184 Private Equity Fund

Industri Kapital 97 8.0 0/ 18007529 121 24 Private Equity Fund

East Capital Finoncials Fond 0.9 0/s 14309959 107 Investment company

Orkla Carbon Fund Class 9.3 05 1000000 100 Oikla Finans Fund

Herkules Private Equity II 4.7 0/o 150513343 88 Private Equity
Fund

Carl Allers Etablissement 3.6 /o 6450 84 34 Media

Others 769 108

Total 2044 444

Securities with change in fair value through profit
and loss

Network Norway0 26.2 0/ 102381013 282 Telecommunication Services

Pharmaq Holding 36.8 0/ 183857 197 Pharmaceuticals

East Capital Power utilities Fund 21.7 0/ 60000 97 Investment company

Others 66

Total 642

Currency hedging recorded in balance sheeH

Total value Share Portfolio 1426 847

Of this owned by Orkla ASA 11391 825

Mobile nelesystems ADR 2750uiio shores AOR5 shases Mob le Telesysrews Ord 9lciiiOO shares

rho valuation principle applied uses ihe iwplicii value per shase oi the holding company Rella which
is

listed on the Copenhagen stock exchange raking into account 25 liquidiry discount

nhe valuation principle applied eoiails share pricv ioteival based on diiferenr vs uarion approaches including eutoroal valuations

In 2008 the Shore Portfolio discsniinued hedge accounting lv the fourth quarter ihe opening
balance of NOK 218 million related to hedge accounting was credired to the income siarement bring ng rhe closing

balance to NOK million see Note 23 for further informaiion

in addirion ro rhe share Porrfolio oiher Group companies have minor shareholdings roralling NOK 19 million
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Ownership Number of shares Fair value Unrealised

Amounts in NOK million interest 31 December 2007 31 December 2007 gains 2007 Industry

Securities available for sale

Listed securities Norwoy
TOmra Systems 14.5 Yb 23953000 922 47 Industry

Fast Search Transfer 152 51026000 719 177 Sottmare

Rieber Er Sen 15.6% 12424907 652 50 Consumer Goods

DnB NOR 0.6 Yb 7500000 623 336 Bank

StatuilHydro 0.1 Yb 2750000 464 41 Energy

Yara International 0.4 1175000 295 167 Materials

Oslo BOrs VPS Holding 5.2 Yb 2235700 285 137 Finance

Schibsted 1.5 Yb 1040000 245 79 Media

Vizrt 10.2 Yb 6280248 241 119 Software

Kongsberg Gruppen 2.3 Yb 700200 235 129 Industry

Camillo Eitzen Eu Co 5.0 Yb 2157800 161 26 Shipping

Ganger RoIf 1.7 Yb 617400 136 12 Energy

Wavefield Insets 2.4 Yb 3150000 131 18 Seismic

Aker 0.3 Yb 375000 127 20 Energy

Copeinca 4.4 Yb 2575100 125 11 Consumer Goods

Royal Caribbean Cruises 0.3 Yb 540000 124 22 Cruise

Aker Yards 1.8 Yb 1993500 124 Shipbuilding

Awitco Offshore 1.3 Yb 2000000 122 72 Oil Equipment and Services

EOB Business Partner 3.2 Yb 2884879 117 25 IT Consulting Eu Other Services

Konqsberg Automotive 6.3 Yb 2800000 112 19 Auto Components

Scandinavian Property Oevelopment 4.7 Yb 3728248 112 Real Estate

Kverneland 6.6 Yb 10254270 108 39 Industry

Others 735 19

Total 6915 1193

Listed securities outside Norwoy

Vimpelcom-SP ADR 0.3 Yb 3957500 888 730 Telecommunication Services

Hennes Er Mauritz 0.3 Yb 2190000 727 322 Retailing

Amer Sports 5.0 Tb 3587880 524 88 Consumer Goods

Mobile Telesystems ADR og Ord 0.2 Yb 3610000 372 196 Telecommunication Services

Nokian Renkaat 1.3 Yb 1594915 305 151 Auto Components

Elekta 3.5 Yb 3115300 282 Health Care Equipment

AstraZerreca 0.1 Yb 1050900 246 45 Pharmaceuticals

Helis Energy Solutions 1.2 Yb 1075000 241 16 Energy

Metso Corporation 0.6 Yb 785000 233 23 Industry

Oanske Bank 0.1 Yb 1000000 213 21 Bank

Nokia 0.0 Yb 1000000 211 34 Communications Equipment

Ericsson 0.1 Yb 15000000 192 12 Communications Equipment

Saab 1.6 Yb 1750000 192 54 Aerospace
and defence

Gefinge
Industrier 0.6 Yb 1250000 183 92 Health Care Equipment

Nordic Alpha na 135000 163 53 Hedge Fund

Group Securicor 0.5 Yb 6000000 1S7 44 Commercial Services

Investor og
B2 0.2 Yb 1259400 153 14 Investment company

Biovitrum 4.9 Yb 2237390 141 Biotechnology

Hemtex 7.5 Yb 2200000 138 37 Retailing

Lebedyansky 1.4 Yb 295080 137 57 Consumer Goods

Pride International 0.4 Yb 704500 129 Energy

Seventh Continent 1.1 Yb 822205 115 29 Household Products

lM 1.1 Yb 1000000 112 13 Humebuilding

Rambler Media Limitied 4.3 Yb 650000 103 49 Media

Others 1833 173

Total 7990 1847

Unlisted securities

Industri Kapital 2004 5.0 Yb na 283 29 Private Equity Fund

Industri Kapital 2000 3.6 Yb na 283 97 Private Equity Fund

Ferd Private Equity 4.7 Yb na 203 167 Private Equity Fund

Industri Kapital 97 8.0 Yb na 1S4 67 Private Equity Fund

Carl Allers Etablissement 3.6 Yb 6450 123 73 Media

Network Norway 17.9 Yb 38778428 116 13 Telecommunication Services

Oslo Properties 5.0 Yb 1000000 105 Real Estate

Ferd Private Equity II 4.7 Tb na 104 Private Equity Food

Others 893 106

Total 2264 552

Securities with change in fair value through profit and loss

East Capital Power Utilities Fund 27.0 Yb 60000 242 Private Equity Fund

Viking Venture 24.4 Yb 494056 87 Private Equity Fuod

Others 15

Total 344

Currency hedging recorded in balance sheet 218

Total value Share Portfolio 17513 3810

Of this owned
by

Orkla ASA 17477 3762

Mobile Telesystems ADP 2700000 shares ADR shares Mobile Oelesystems Ord 910000 shares

Investor ABA 909400 shares Investor AB 350000 shares

In addition to the Share Portfolio other Group companies have minor srsureholdingv rotallinq NOK 46 million
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NOTES GROUP

The Share Portfolio mainly consists of large shareholdings in nsmher of companies

and mill therefore be skemed in comparison to market portfolio 76 0/n of the

portfolio consists of listed securities

Portfolio investments in companies in which the Group owns an interest of

between 20 0/n and 50 0/0 associates are presented at fair value with changes

in value recognised in the income statement In 2008 losses of NOK 291 million

on the value of associates were recognised in the income statement on the line

Gains and losses/write-downs Share Portfolioo

NOK 887 million has been recognised in realised portfolio losses while NOK

983 million has been recognised in foreign currency
losses Furthermore securities

have been written down by NOK 5656 million

Net unrealised excess values in the Share Portfolio totalling NOK 847 million

have been taken to equity The Group also has investments presented in

the balance sheet as Other non-current financial assets See Note 14

The methods used to determine the fair value of securities in the Share Portfolio

are described below

Unlisted securities and unlisted funds

The value of unlisted securities is measured on the basis of the International

Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines

Several valuation methodologies are used to measure the fair value of unlisted

investments Where there has been recent arms length transaction in the

security in question the value is based on the transaction price If there has

been no recent arms length transaction the value of the company is deduced

from relative valuation of comparable listed companies adjusted for individual

characteristics such as differences in size and selection between comparable

companies

Valuation methodologies other than the one described above are also used in

cases where they better reflect the fair value of an unlisted investment

The fair value of the Share Portfolios unlisted fund shares is measured as the Share

Portfolios share of the funds assets as reported by the fund management It there

are indications that the managements valuation does not take sufficient account of

Amounts in Noc million

Opening balance unrealised gains

Change in unrealised gains
taken to equity

Change in unrealised gains deterred tax

Total change in nnrealised
gains

Closing balance unrealised
gains

Profit and loss Share Portfolio

factors that affect the value of the underlying unlisted investments in the fund

separate valuation is carried out Adjustments are also made of the value of

listed investments in the fund based on the latest bid price

Listed securities

The fair value of listed securities is based on the latest bid price At the time

of acquisition the shares are recognised at their value on the transaction date

md transaction costs

Long-term or significant
decline in value

long-term decline in the value of security classified as available for sale in the

Share Portfolio is defined as having occurred if the market value of share is lower

than the acquisition cost for more than two successive
quarters six months or if

the market value is more than 25 0/n lower than the acquisition cost

MARKET RISK RELATING TO THE SHARE PORTFOLIO

The
greatest

risk factor is
general

stock market decline or major drop in the

price of shares in an individual company in which the Share Portfolio is highly

exposed

Assuming that the change in the value of the Share Portfolio is equal to the

changes in the stock market and all other variables remaining constant based

on the Share Portfolio as of 31 Oecember 2008 the managements best estimate

is that in the event of 10 /n drop the negative effect on profit will be in the

order of NOK 900 million and the negative effect on equity will be further

NOK 250 million In the event of 10 0/ rise in the stock market the positive

effect on equity will be NOK 1150 million

certain percentage of capital is placed
in unlisted Nordic companies where Orkla

seeks to play as active role as possible as shareholdec The risk profile of this
part

of the portfolio will vary somewhat from the listed
portfolio

in that the investments

are less liquid

Risk management is handled through clearly
defined authorisations and mandates

and
quality assurance procedures

Due to the Groups risk-bearing capacity expertise and risk mitigation measures

the return on the share portfolio over time has been very good

Change in fair value

Amonnts in NOK million

Opening balance fair value Share Portfolio

Change in anrealised
gains

Net sale ot shares

Gainn and losses/write-downs share Porttolio

Net toreign enchange gains/losses and eliminations

Closing balance fair value Share Portfolio

Change in unrealised gains

Share Portfolio

2008 2007

3810 5647

Group

2008 2007

3817 6135

2328 2165 2334 2646

635 328 635 328

2963 1837 2969 2318

847 3810 848 3817

rntal nnealnd
gains

shae Potfnhn charged againnt equity in the Osnop amoonted to NOK 1155 mil

lion an oi 31 oecembes zeuu and NOK 3489 million an or 31 Oecembes zutt7

Amnnntn in NOK million

Securities

available for sale

2008 2007 2006

887

983
5656

Realised gains/losses

Foreign enchange gain/loss currency hedge/realised

Write-downs

Change in fair value

Gains and losses/write-downs Share Porttolio

Received dividends

Recognised in income statement

rhe shae Portfolio dincontinned hedge accounting
in the fourth qoaster of znn8

Share Portfolio

2008 2007

17513 18198

2963 1837

1829 1821

6043 3627

1090 654

11426 17513

Total

Share Portfolio

2007 2006

4064 3667

409

923 459
77 68

3627 3271

1076 759

4703 4030

3695 3547

409

923 4S9

Securities with change in fair

value through profit and loss

2008 2007 2006

369 120

5752 3181

463 1033

5289 4214

3083

755

3838

291 77

291 446

43

284 489

2008

887

983
5656

291
6043

470

5573

68

188

192
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19 CHANGE IN SHARE CAPITAL

Date/year

31 December 1996

31 December 1997

1998

1998

31 December 1998

1999

1999

31 December 1999

31 December 2D00

31 December 2D01

2002

31 December 2002

2003

31 December 2003

2004

31 December 2DD4

2DD5

31 December 2005

31 December 2006

2007

2007

31 December 2007

2008

31 December 2008

Number

of shares

48747241

49333393

49366359

197465436

197465436

197527910

219246336

219246336

219246336

219246336

216301666

216301666

213909416

213909416

212302265

212302265

208286194

208286194

208286194

1041430970

1036430970

1036430970

1028930970

1028930970

Treasury shares as of 31 December 2008

Nominal Number Fair value

value NOK of shares NOK million

Shares owned by Drkla ASA 4897360 1191 7888 542

Treasury
shares have been deducted from Group equity at cost

Changes in treasury shares

2008 2007

Balance January 12037390 11825475

Purchase of treasury shares 10000000 7500000

Redemption of options in treasury shares 628005 1444185

Share purchase programme for Drkla employees2 1991497 843900

Cancellation of share capital 7500000 5000000
Balance 31 December 11917888 12037390

The exercise of options for shares does oat reflect cash bonuses and cash settled options only

options exercised tar 01k shares

share parchase programme
for Orkia employees does not include the additional transfer of 884 shares

made on January 2009

As of 31 December 2DD8 there were 10277000 options outstanding see Note

The Board of Directors assesses the degree to which buybacks of Drkla shares will

be advantageous to the companys shareholders Shares acquired in accordance

with this mandate are to be cancelled or used in connection with employee

incentive programmes and the Groups employee share purchase programme

Mandate

The Board of Directors has mandate granted on 24 April 2008 and valid until

the Annual General Meeting in 2009 to increase the share capital by issuing new

shares with total value of up to NDK 9D000DDD divided between maximum

ot 72DDDDDD shares with nominal value of NDK 1.25 each The mandate may

be used for one or more share issues

Dn 24 April 2008 the General Meeting adopted resolution authorising the Board

of Directors to have the company acquire
shares tn Drkla ASA with nominal value

of up to NDK 125DDOODD divided between maximum of 1DD000DDD shares

provided that the companys shareholding of
treasury

shares does not exceed 10 /u

of shares outstanding
at any given

time This mandate is valid until the Annual

General Meeting in 2009

At the General Meeting the Board of Directors will propose that the mandate to

acquire shares in Drkla ASA be maintained until the Annual General Meeting in

2010

Drkla has one class ot share and each share carries one vote and has par
value

of NDK 1.25 The voting right for transferred share may be exercised when the

transfer has been recorded by the Norwegian Central Securities Depository within

the time limit for
giving

notice of attendance at the Annual General Meeting

Under Norwegian law only shares that are registered in the name of the

shareholder may be voted If the shareholder is unable to attend the General

Meeting and vote in person he or she may vote by proxy For turther intormation

regarding shareholders equity see rrShares and shareholdersrr

Dividend

The Board of Directors proposes that an ordinary dividend of NDK 2.25
per

share

be paid out totalling
NDK 2288 million

Under Norwegian law the equity capital in Drkla ASA will in relevant cases

constitute legal limitation on the payment of dividends by the Orkla Group

Free equity in Drkla ASA is disclosed in the Report of the Board of Directors

and under xrEquityu

Nominal Amount Share capital

value NOK Type of change NOK million Ratio NOK million

25 1218.7

25 share issue 14.8 1233.3

25 share issue 0.9 1234.2

6.25 split 41 1234.2

6.25 1234.2

6.25 share issue 0.4 1234.5

6.25 pre-emptive tights issue 135.7 1370.3

6.25 1370.3

6.25 1370.3

6.25 1370.3

6.25 amorfisation 18.4 1351.9

6.2S 1351.9

6.2S amortisation 15.0 1336.9

6.25 1336.9

6.2S amortisation 10.0 13269

6.25 1326.9

6.2S amortisation 2S.1 1301.8

62S 1301.8

6.2S 1301.8

1.2S split
51 1301.8

1.25 amortisation 6.3 1295.S

1.2S 1295.5

1.2S amortisation 9.4 1286.2

1.25 1286.2
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20 MINORITY INTERESTS

Minority interests consist of externol ownership interests in subsidiories ond their

subsidiaries The lorgest minority interest stems from Sopos ocquisition
of Alcoas

extrusions business through the creotion of joint extrusions compony in which

Sopo owns 54 ft wos derided to swop this minority interest for the Groups

equity interest in Elkem Aluminium os of 22 December 2008 The tronsoction is

expected to be completed in the first quarter of 20D9 ofter which Sopo Profiles

will be wholly owned by Orklo

Amoonis in N0K mill on

Minority interests share of

Depreciations and impairment

Operating profit

Profit before taxes

Taxes

Changes in minority interests

Minority interests continuing operations January

Minority
interests share of profit

Minority Sapa to equity

Increase due to acquisitions

Decrease due to further acquisitions of nority interests

Dividends to minority interests

Translation differences etc

Minority interests continuing operations 31 December

Minority interests relating to

Drkla Brands

Orkla Aluminium Solutions

Elkem

Borregaard

Others

Total

The xanance between e-tax profit minus tax and minority interests share xi prufit is ascribable

in the amurtisation of premium JNOK million

Final sett ement of ownership in cunnection with the transactiun between Sapa Prohles

and Alcuas entrusions business

21 TAXES

Taxes

Taxes ore computed on the basis of accounting proht and broken down iota

current taxes and change id deferred tax I/ability Deferred tax liability is the

result of differences between I/trancial accruals and tax accruals

44.4 15.7 15.0

current tan expense includes adlxstments in current lanes related in prexious years amnunting in

NOK 751 million in ouu and in 2007

Reconciliation of the Groups total taxes

In the
follow/hg table reported taxes are reconciled with the tax charge based on

the Norwegian tax rate of 28 Pb The maid tax components are specitied

Amuunts in NOK million

28 u0 of profit before taxes fax rate in Norway

of foreign operations with other tax rates

Effect of tax-free dividends

Effect of tax-free capital gains
and

non deductible capital losses

Effect of associates

Effect of amortisation/impairment of Group goodwill

Effect of write-down of shares

Effect of fax claim REC convertible bonds

Effect of not recognised deferred tax assets in the year

Effect of withholding tax not refundable

Effect of other pexmanent differences

Effect of changes in tax laws

The Groups total tunes

See separate descripsoo un next
page in this Note

2008 2007 2006

564 2734 2246
52 186 122

121 301 200

211 1260 1014

613 237 78

158 81
1665 258 129

500
172
29 28 22

41 27 22

27 70
895 1532 1205

Taxes related to discontinued
operations

are presented in Nofe 26

The
ordinary fax rate for companies domiciled in Norway is 28 0/0 The Orkla

Group operates in certain industries that are subjecf to different tax regimes

in Norway i.e the hydra power tax and shipping tax regimes The tax rate

in other countries in which the Group has substantial tax base are as follows

Sweden 28u/u 26.3 /o in 2009 Denmark 25 x/ China 15/o and 25 O/ Iceland

15 0/u Brazil 34 O/ USA 39 /o including average state tax Finland 26 and

Russia 24 O/ 20 /u in 2009

Amounts in NOK million

Current tan expense

Deferred tax expense

2008 2007 2006 Total tax expense

Taxes as 0/c of Profit before taxes

from continuing operations
262 216 16

108 100 81

147 98 77

15 47 20

2008 2007

1082 1542
187 10

895 1532

2006

959

246

1205

2601

137
152

68
54
190

2686

70

2320

257

22

17

2686

336

46

2335

35
52
29

2601

80

2237

256

16

12

2601
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Amounts in NOK million

Tax increasing/reducing timing differences

Hedges taken to equity

Biological assets

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Net pension
liabilities

Gain and loss tan deferral

other non-current items

Total non-current items

Unrealised gains losses on shares outside

Current receivables

Inventories

Provisions

Other current items

Total current items

Losses carried torward

Basis tor computation of deterred tax

Calculated deterred tax

Deferred tax hydra power tax regime

Deterred tax assets not capitalised

Net deterred tax

Change in deferred tan

Deduction of change in deferred tax

discontinued operations

Change in deferred tax continuing operations

Deferred tax taken to equity

Acquisition/sale of companies translation effects etc

Change in deferred tax income statement

Net deferred tax presented in balance sheet

Amxunis in NOK million

Deferred tax

Deferred tan assets

Net deferred tan

Losses carried forward by expiry date

Amounts in NOK millixn

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014 or later

Without
expiry

date

Total tax losses carried forward

Losses carried forward

by country jurisdicition

Switzerland

Norway

USA

Brazil

Austria

2008 2007
Germany

Poland

853 729
Belgium

200 200
Romania

4903 5308
South Africa

3761 3130
Italy

506 698
France

13681554
Portugal

496 1362
Sweden

9555 9941
Baltic

1101 1166
Spain

220 252
Iceland

343 215
Denmark

269 617
Others

316 229
Total

1563 741

5339 1948
Other tax reducing

2653 8734
temporary differences

695 2388
Elkem USA and others

424 455
Other foreign companies

769 517
Total

1888 3360
Total tax reducing

1472 677
temporary differences

215

1071

3700

5339

402 402

536 537

111 99 210

18 43 61

29 48

48 54

15 26

29 36

16

10

13

11

824 633 1457

363 136 136

611 160 160

974 160 136 296

6313 984 769 1753

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liability consists of the Group tax liabilities that are payable in the

future The table below lists the timing differences between tax accounting and

financial accaunting

The table shows the composition of the Groups deferred tax base and indicates

when deferred taxes are payable Howeve timing
differences may be upheld if

operations are continued Net
tax-increasing timing

differences mean that taxes

relating to tax-increasing and tax-reducing timing differences that are payable

within the same accounting period are presented together

Tax reducing temporary differences with corresponding deferred tax assets

Capitalised

deferred

tax assets

Not

capitalised

deferred

tax assets

Total

capitalised

deferred

tax

Tax

reducing

temporary

differences

1607

1916

604

196

190

160

138

105

96

58

42

39

36

28

22

21

21

21

39

5339

17 14
1489 663

1420 399
Deferred fax assets are only capitalised to the extent that it is probable that there

118 274
will be sufficient future taxable profit for the tax asset to be used either because

the unit recently reported profit or because assets with excess value have been

Defeired tan liabilities and deferred tan assets related to hydrx power raves have been recognised identified Insofar as there are not likely to be future profits sufficient to absorb

gross for each power plant
the tax-reducing timing differences deferred fax asset has not been recognised

Elkem and Sapa in the USA and
Borregaard

in Brazil and Switzerland have substantial

timing
differences that have not been recognised

As mentioned in fhe annual
reports

for 2006 and 2007 Orkla has assumed that

2008 2007
the

gain
realised in 2006 on the

option
element of convertible bonds in Renewable

2872 38
Energy Corporation ASA REC is fax-free in accordance with the exemption method

888 360
As disclosed in Note 21 of Drklas annual report for 2007 the Central Tax Office for

Large Enterprises announced that it was considering changing the tax assessment

for 2006 to apply tax rate of 28 x/0 to the entire gain On 22 December 2008

Drkla received an administrative decision in which the Central Tax Office maintains

full taxation and fixes the value of each REC share at the time of conversion in early

March 2006 at NOK 81.50

2008 2007

28

209
Drkla disagrees with both the grounds stated for the tax liability and with the

45 156
valuation applied in the decision and will take legal action to follow up the

197 18
decision However pursuant to the decision Orkla must in principle pay NDK

83 70
751 million in addition to interest

provision
has therefore been made for

64
the total amount of tax and interest so that the future tax cost will be reduced

548 to the extent that the final judgment in the case upholds Orklas view

881

1948
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22 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Provisions hove been mode for pension ond other liobilities Pension liobilities ore disclosed in Note distinction moy he mode bet ween provisions ond other

liobilities such os occounts poyoble becouse there is uncertointy regording the settlement dote or the omount of the future expenses An enterprise hos liobility

when it is obliged to tronsfer finonciol resources to onother porty ot future dote This obbgotion moy be self-imposed if the enterprise through its decisions ond

octions hos creoted expectotions of its ossuming bnonciol liobility in the future e.g in the form of the restructuring of ports of its operotions In such cose

ogreed severonce poy for employees would be noturol port of the restructudng provision The liobility wig be reduced over time os the disbursements ore mode

contingent liobility is possible obligotion thot will be conbrmed by the future occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertoin events contingent liobility

will only be recognised in the bolonce sheet if it is likely to orise ond if the omount of the obligotion con be meosured reliobly

Amounts in NOK mdliun

Pension liabilities

Other ptonisions

Liabilities relating to put options in RET see Note 23

eenuinn liabilities are rlassitied 05 nun-interest-bearing liabilities because the interest elements are

presented mith uther pensiun enpenses under Payroll enpenses

Borregaard in
cloning

down itn
operations

in Switzerland and Finland and han

made provinion ol NOR 305 million to cover contn incurred Borregaard also

has
provisions

established in 2004 which primarily consist of the remaining

liabilities
relating

to the closure ol its business in Italy and matters relating to

its tormer operations in Brazil It will still be some time before these liabilities

are settled As of 31 December 2008 the long-term part
ol the

provisions
in

Borregaard totalled around NOR 195 million The
provisions

in Elkem are largely

environmental provisions NOK 39 million and
provisions relating

to power

plant matters NOK 69 million liabilities relating to the operations in Brazil

ORGANISATION OF FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Orkla operates internationally and is exposed to linancial risks like currency risk

interest rate risk commodity price risk liquidity risk and credit risk Orkla uses

derivatives and other financial instruments to reduce these risks in accordance

with the Groups tinancial policy

The responsibility tor managing tinancial risk in Orkla is divided between Business

Areas which manage risk related to business processes and Group level which

manages risk related to centralised activities like funding interest-rate manage

ment and currency
risk management Financial risk is also monitored by the

Chief Risk Dtticer ot the Group

Centralised risk management

Orkla has central Group Treasury Its most important tasks are to ensure the

Groups tinancial
flexibility

in the short and
long term and to monitor and manage

financial risk in cooperation with individual
operational

entities The guidelines for

the Group Treasury are stated in the Groups finance policy which is reviewed by

Orkla has captive insurance company and self-insures for losses up to NOR

50 million In principle therefore all losses of less than NOK 50 million incurred

by the Group will be covered through regular business operations The
captive

has

made provisions for various losses that have occurred and those that also
qualify

for classification as liabilities according to the accounting principles have been

maintained in the Group The captive has total provision of NOR 85 million that

is included in Group provisions

The provisions cover well-known matters and there are no indications of any

change in estimated expenses Future liabilities have been discounted

the Board of Directors annually The Group Executive Board monitors financial

risk by means of regular reporting and meetings of the Treasury Committee

The Group Treasury
acts as the internal bank for the Group and is responsible

foç and executes all major external funding and hedging transactions relating

to currency
and interest rate hedging Each year the Board of Directors grants

authorisation for establishing
loans and

entering
into master agreements for

financial instruments Debt and
treasury positions are managed in non-

speculative manneç such that all transactions in financial instruments are

matched to an underlying business requirement The Group Treasury is

operated as cost centre

Financial risks within each business area

This secfion describes the most important risk factors within each business area

of the Group and the management of these In this context financial risk is defined

as risk related to financial instruments These may either be hedging instruments

for underlying risk or viewed as source of risk themselves Market risk not

hedged with financial instruments is also discussed in this section

Total 2361 22B6

2008 2007 NOR 70 million various cases involving compensation NOR 35 million and other

1654 1625
minor matters Provisions at Orkla Brands are related to several minor restructuring

707 594 matters mainly in Eastern Europe and
special

remuneration arrangements for

67 employees in different countries which are not to be regarded as pensions

Provisions per business area

Other

Amounts in NOK million Orkia Brands Elkem Borregaard provisions
Total

Pronisions january 2007 54 469 90 BO 693

New ptonisions/acquired
gO 77 120 284

Utilised/sold/changes in accounting principles Elkem 16 073 11 76 276
Provisions 31 December 2007 118 303 156 124 701

Of thin current provisions 17 90 007
Nou-carrent proninions 31 December 2007 101 213 156 124 594

New pronisions/acguired
26 94 305 53 478

Utilised 21 e6 35 142
Provisions 31 December 2008 106 307 375 142 930

Of this current provisions 34 1BO 223
Non-current pronisions 31 December 200B 97 273 195 142 707

This note describes the financial risks within the Group and the management of these along with quantification of risk related to financial instruments The last section

of the note shows the fair value of open derivative contracts as of year-enc including derivatives designated as hedging instruments together with description of the

accounting treatment

23 FINANCIAL RISK
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Orkla Materials

Price risk on imported goods and sold products particularly electric powec is

major source ot risk in Elkem Generally Elkem seeks to mitigate price
risk

by entering
into long-term sales and purchase contracts br its products raw

materials and other
input

tactors For electric powe hedging instruments are

available and traded on public exchanges Elkem uses such tinancial instruments

in order to manage electric power price risk Elkems power risk management

and hedging activities are handled by Elkem Energy in accordance with polices

approved at Elkem AS board level More detailed description of power is given

in section II oClasses ot tinancial risks br the Group

Currency risk is
present in Elkems sold products the

prices
ot which to large

extent are determined in international markets primarily
in USD and EUR This

currency exposure is partly ottset by the import of raw materials denominated

in the same currencies Currency exposure related to committed sales and purchase

transactions are fully hedged Elkem has also established currency hedging

programmes with defined limits for some ot its business units related to

future highly probable but non-contracted cash flows br up to three years

Borregaard is exposed to currency risk br most ot its sales primarily in USD but

also in EUR substantial part ot this exposure detined as estimated net cash flow

in USD or FUR is routinely hedged with 9-month time horizon Subtect to certain

criteria being met the hedging horizon may be extended up to 36 months in order

to lock in favourable margins

Borregaard is also exposed to price risk on energy thermal energy and electric

power as well as strategic raw materials wood chemicals On the revenues side

most of Borregaards business segments are exposed to
price

risk in international

markets

Orkla Aluminium Solutions

Sapas currency
risk is limited due to production and sales mainly being located in

the same regional
and local markets Howeveç currency

risk is
present

in exported

tinished goods and imported input factors in the production particularly
aluminium

priced in USD Currency exposure related to firm commitments is hedged usually

for periods ot up to 15 months

For Sapa the prices of both products and metal purchases are affected by fluctua

tions in the market
price

of aluminium Sapa seeks to reduce this risk
primarily

by linking prices trom metal suppliers to prices towards customers Additionally

aluminium futures contracts are entered into within defined limits to mitigate

price risk related to purchasing orders and the value of unsold metal in stock Sapa

normally has certain stock level for which
prices

to customers has not been fixed

When the LME
price

is
Increasing

this will have positive effect on the result and

decreasing price
will affect the result negatively

Orkla Brands

Entities within this area are located in the Nordic countries East European countries

Russia and India Production and sales mainly take place in local markets smaller

proportion
of the

input
factors are imported as well as some finished goods

The two primary sources of financial risk within this business area are price
risk on

agricultural products and ingredients in food production as well as currency
risk

on imported goods Price risk on raw materials is normally dealt with in commercial

contracts Each company hedges the currency risk with currency forward contracts

against its own functional currency Highly probable expected future cash flows are

hedged for periods of up to months

Orkla Financial Investments

The largest source of financial risk is the Share Portfolio The main strategy for the

Share Portfolio is to identify and invest in value-creating companies Approximately

58 0/0 of the investments are denominated in currencies other than NOK primarily

SEK FUR and USD The policy is to hedge 70 0/-95 0/ of the
currency

risk related to

the market value of foreign investments

II CLASSES OF FINANCIAL RISKS FOR THE GROUP

Currency risk

As NOK is the
presentation currency

for the Group Orkla is exposed to
currency

translation risk for net investments in
foreign operations Orkia maintains as far as

possible distribution of its net interest bearing liabilities across currencies which

corresponds to the relative enterprise value distribution across the subsidiaries

home currencies within the Industry division This ensures the same hedging level

in all currencies where net interest-bearing liabilities hedge the
currency

risk in

enterprise value

Net interest-bearing liabilities in each
currency

constitute the hedging of translation

risk on net investments in foreign subsidiaries and is made up of hedges of

subsidiaries net liabilities in their home currency plus hedges of net investments

according to lAS 39 Orkla primarily uses loans forward
currency contracts and cross

currency swaps to hedge internal loans and net investments in
foreign

subsidiaries

Additionally some of the internal loans to foreign subsidiaries are classified as part

of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries according to lAS 21.15 The
currency

risk of these loans is not hedged and the exchange rate differences are accumula

ted in equity until the loans are repaid or the foreign operation is disposed of

At the operational level transaction risk is hedged against each companys func

tional
currency

as described in nOrganisation of financial risk management

Orkia applies hedge accounting for most hedges of future transactions either cash

flow hedges or fair value hedges of firm commitments The different types of

hedges are described in section III Hedging and fair value of derivative financial

instruments

The Groups aggregated outstanding currency hedges of future transactions as of

31 December 2008 are shown in Table

Interest rate risk

Orklas interest rate risk is mainly related to the Groups debt portfolio This risk

is managed at Group level The Groups policy is that interest costs should follow

the general trend in money market rates Further steps are taken to mitigate the

effects of short-term fluctuations in money market rates Decisions regarding interest

hedging are made by the Treasury Committee The interest risk profile of the debt

portfolio is determined by selection of interest periods on the Groups loans and

the use of
currency

and interest rate derivatives As of 31 December 2008 0/n

2007 25 0/a of the Groups interest-bearing liabilities was at fixed interest rates

for periods exceeding one year

The interest rate exposure on interest-bearing liabilities broken down by currency

and financial instrument is shown in Table and For
currency

forwards and

basis-swaps the asset and liabilities
parts are shown

separately per currency

TABLE

Foreign exchange contracts1

linked to hedging of future cash flow as of 31 December 2008

Amounts in million

Purchase currency Amount Sale currency Amount

NOK 3707 EUR 424

NOK 1494 EUR 173

NOK 863 EUR 102

NOK 321 FUR 38

NOK 303 EUR 36

NOK 25 EUR

NOK 217 JPY 3374

NOK 38 jPY 607

NOK 1164 USD 182

NOK 342 USD 61

NOK 427 U5D 77

NOK 460 USD 83

NOK 80 USD 15

SEK 611 EUR 62

SEK 120 NOK 104

CAD 34 USD 29

in cuirency pa is whete ihe net total ni hedges is mum than NOK OO million

Maturity

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2009

2010

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2009

2009

2009
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Amounts in NOK million

Bonds

Bank loans/other loans

Basis-swaps

Interest rate swaps tair value hedge

Interest rate swaps cash flow hedge

Interest rate derivatives others

Currency
torwards

Gross interest-bearing
liabilities

Next interest rate adjustment

31.12.2008 03 months 36 months

9892 895 2141

23033 19664 3242

71 71

years

3713

40

31 48

1014

187 1619

Liquidity risk

One of the most important goals of Orkias financial policy into ensure that the

Group has sutticient tinancial tiexibility in the short and long term to achieve its

strategic
and operational objectives

Orklas policy into have sutticient unutilised long-term committed credit tacilities

to cover loans that tall due and known capital needs over the next 12 months

as well as strategic reserve This means that Orklas credit facilities are normally

retinanced one year
betore maturity Commercial paper and money markets are

theretore only used as source of liquidity when conditions in these markets

are competitive compared to drawing on unutilised committed long-term credit

facilities

Cash flows trom operations are largely stable and the Group Treasury monitors

liquidity
tlows through short-term and long-term reporting The above mentioned

measures mean that the Group has limited liquidity risk

In order to further reduce retinancing risk Orkla seeks to ensure that the maturities

of loans and credit facilities are evenly distributed The breakdown of the Groups

interest-bearing liabilities and urtutilised committed credit facilities by maturity

and classes of financial instruments are shown in Table As of 31 December

2008 the average time to maturity on the Groups combined interest-bearing

liabilities and unutilised credit facilities was 4.7 years compared with 5.3 years

as of 31 December 2007

Orklas most important sources of financing are bilateral loans from Orklas

relationship banks and loans in the Norwegian bond market The Group Treasury

also continuously assesses ofher funding sources During 2007 Orkla established

loans in the us
private placement market and in 2008 Orkla established loan

in the German Schuldschein market

The financial crisis has reduced the availability of capital in the funding markets

and affected the costs of new funding negatively Howeveç Orkla has completed

all planned refinancing measures during 2008

Drkla has no loan agreements with financial covenants The loan agreements

include some limitations on disposals
of companies creation of security interest

on assets and borrowing at subsidiary level

TABLE 2a

Debt portfolio by instrument and interest risk profile

612 months

720

700

2000

2011

35 years

1345

84

1242

13 years

1078

1000

72

1497

12

1512
634

1945

2576

Commercial paper

Bonds

Bank loans/other loans

Interest rate swaps fair value hedge

Interest rate swaps cash flow hedge

Interest rate derivatives others

Currency forwards

Gross interest-bearing liabilities

TABLE 2b

Debt portfolio by instrument and
currency

Amounts in NOK million

Bonds

Bank loans/other loans

Basis-swaps/Interest rate derivatives

Currency forwards

Gross interest-bearing
liabilities

Average interest fixing period

Interest level borrowing rate

Commercial paper

Bonds

Bank loans/other loans

Basis-swaps/Interest rate derivatives

Currency forwards

Gross interest-bearing liabilities

Average interest fining period

Interest level
borrowing rate

47

201

33252

31.12.2007

345

8773

10130

93

93

33

19281

31.12.2008

9892

23033

126

201

33252

0.5
years

4.5 /o

31.12.2007

345

8773

10130

33

19281

0.9 years

4.9 /n

3128

2531

4400
82

16838

345

1964

6631

2866

1867

21 84
12

7767

NOK

5928

2301

398
2487

10318

0.3 years

55 n/u

345

6366

1394

24

9112

983

0.4 years

6.3 0/

3009

1517

2408

137

12525

1818

3460

2133

949
336

18

6816

SEK

438

1441

679

3257

5815

1.6 years

43 u/n

401

115

636

5146

6298

1.1
years

4.6 u/u

21

1361

1382

DKK

96

531

1994

2621

0.2
years

47 O/

170

1905

207s

0.3 yeats

5.0 /n

3494

3580
821

741

Other

486

230

2984

3700

0.2
years

6.0 u/n

463

217

30
2332

2982

0.2 years

6.0 u/n

EUR

1076

2902

3761

7739

0.2 years

3.7 /n

199

5072

440

5711

1.5
years

4.6 u/n

USD

1964

16063

686

14282

3059

0.4 years

1.9 O/

1344

3162

630
678

3198

0.7 years

54 n/n

Accrued interests tur loans and interest rate derivatives are not included as interest-bearing items
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NOtE iROUP

Maturity After

31.12.20081 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013

9892 971 926 502 499 1583 5411

22091 1849 1178 5122 5756 3039 5147

942 554 267 25 20 19 57

327 280 47

33252 3654 2418 5649 6275 4641 10615

4438

1390

27424

8124 228 2115 895 3000 1886

Maturity After

31.12.20071 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2012

345 345

8773 1032 1514 869 167 5191

8628 638 440 486 3026 1000 3038

1502 1141 40 189 18 24 90

33 33

19281 3189 1994 1544 3211 1024 8319

2966

137

16178

11495 113 453 1473 5369 4087

Notional in Book value Book value

Term dd/mm/yyyy Currency ccy
million2 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

27.8.2007-27.2.2008 NOK 500 345

Notional in Book value Book value

Term Currency ccy million2 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

2003/2008 EUR 10 80

2003/2008 NOK 575 398

2002/2009 NOK 600 533

2002/2009 NOK 800 718 708

2003/2010 EUR 10 99 80

2003/2010 NOK 700 724 690

2008/2011 NOK 200 217

2008/2011 NOK 200 100

2008/2012 NOK 600 499

2003/2013 NOK 1500 605 565

2004/2014 NOK 400 400 400

2007/2017 NOK 1200 1264 1177

2007/2017 NOK 1300 1297 1297

3969 2845

9892 8773

TABLE

Group interest-bearing
liabilities by source and maturity profile

Amounts in NOK million

Liabilities

Bonds

Bank loans

Other loans

Interest-bearing derivatives

Gross interest-bearing liabilities

Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Other
interest-bearing receivables

Net interest-bearing liabilities

Unutilised committed credit facilities

Amounts in NOK million

Liabilities

Commercial paper

Bonds

Bank loans

Other loans

Interest-bearing derivatives

Gross interest-bearing liabilities

Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Other
interest-bearing

receivables

Net interest-bearing liabilities

Unutilised committed credit facilities

In addition interest taIls due for payment 960/0 of rho
gross

interest bearing debt is at floating rates with interest risk protile and
currency

distribution as shown in table 2b

commercial
paper

and bonds are derailed separately in
this Note

The Groups bank loans are largely bilateral multi-currency loans in EUR and NOK

The Group also has cash pools and bank accounts with short-term credit lines Unutilised credit lines on these accounts are excluded from the figure for urrutilised drawing

facilities in the table above

TABLE

Commercial paper and bonds

Amounts
in

million

ISIN Coupon1

Commercial paper

NO 10346018 5.45

Amounts in million

ISIN Coupon1

Bonds

XS 170907124 5.31 0/

NO 10198351 6.62 0/

NO 10167018 6.36 0/

NO 10167000 7.15 0/

X5 174791300 5.84 0/

NO 10198369 5.82 0/

NO 10439235 6.70 Vu

NO 10439185 5.10 /n

NO 10439193 5.15 /n

NO 10177538 6.54 /u

NO 10219223 8.74 Vu

NO 1036492DB 5.70 0/

NO 103649128 7.51 9/u

Private placements

Total

The nominal interest rate is not an expression
of the Groups actual interest cost since various interest rate swaps have been entered into mr bonds with floating rate coupons the current interest rate is quoted

Of the notional amount the Group holds some of
its uwn bonds these reduce recugnised liabilities

Repaid one year prior to maturity
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The fair value of boods iu NOK 9393 million as of 31 December 2008

2DD7 NDK 8752 million Fair value of bonds quoted on exchanges is calculated

on the basis of observed market rates whereas book values are used for other loans

as fair value of debt not listed oo exchanges has been hard to determine due to volatile

credit spreads during the last half of 2D08 The fair value is considered to be below cost

as of year-end

The management of credit risk related to accounts receivable and other operating

receivables is handled as part
of the business risk and is continuously monitored

by the
operating

entities When
selling

in countries with high political risk trade

finance products are used to reduce the credit risk and to some extent credit

insurance is used With these risk mitigation measures in place the current

credit risk is considered acceptable There is no significant concentration of

credit risk in respect of single counterparties

Drkla Financial Investments has short term credit risk related to settlement of

limited number of share transactions which are not settled through clearing

houses particularly in countries outside the Nordic region e.g Russia

Drkla considers its credit risk related to other financial instruments to be low

Firstly Drkla seeks to minimise the liquid assets deposited outside the Group

Secondly relationship banks that provide long-term funding are the targeted

counferparfies for bank accounts and financial hedge transactions according

to policy For deposits of excess liquidity with other counterparts Drkla has

requirements relatiog to the banks credit rating

Drkla ASA has International Swap Dealers Association ISDA agreements with

its counterparts for derivative interest-rate and
currency transactions which

provide for netting of settlement risk ISDA agreements are also in place for

Elkem AS and Sapa

Maximum credit risk

The maximum credit exposure for the Group related to financial instruments-

corresponds to total
gross

receivables In the hypothetical unlikely event that

no receivables are redeemed this amounts to

2008 2007

9724 9536

4438 2966

1440 593

856 248

16458 13343

Price risk on input factors and sold products

The Group is exposed to price risks in respect of number of raw materials and

products sold The following section describes price risks that are hedged by means

of financial instruments This applies to aluminium and to electric poweç both as

input factors and as sold products

Aluminium

For Sapa the price of both products and metal purchases is affected by fluctuations

in the price of aluminium Sapa seeks to reduce this risk by linking prices from

metal suppliers to prices towards customers Aluminium futures are used to some

extent within defined limits as hedging of metal in stock which is not sold at

agreed prices As of 31 December 2008 Sapa had net purchased 391S tonnes of

aluminium at the LME

Power

Elkem and Borregaard produce and consume electric poweç but are net purchasers

of power and have entered into long-term contracts with Scandinavian power

producers In order to meet needs for additional power and to optimise such factors

as 24-hour variations
seasonal variations and their own production level Elkem

and Borregaard utilise financial and physical
contracts that are traded bilaterally

or at Nord Pool Furtheç mandates are established for hedging and
trading operating

within specified limits

Elkem and Borregaard have hedging strategies which enable hedging of
part

of

the future expected power consumption as well as power production The purpose

of this hedging is to reduce the risk from volatility in the power prices

As of 31 December 2008 Elkem and Borregaard had purchased forward contracts

totalling 2643 GWh 2DD7 2887 GWh as cash flow hedges for net future power

consumption

Price risk on shares

Price risk related to the Share Portfolio is described in Note 18

Orkla has entered into total return swaps with financial institutions for hedging

of costs related to the management bonus programmes where the changes in

fair value depend on the changes in the
price

of the Drkla share These hedges

are further described in Note

Sensitivity analysis

The financial instruments of the Group are exposed to different types of market

risk which can affect the income statement or the statement of changes in equity

Financial instruments in particular derivatives are applied as means of hedging

both financial and operational exposure

In Table Drkla presents partial analysis of the sensitivity of financial instru

ments where the isolated effect of each type of risk on the income statement

and on equity is estimated This is done on the basis of selected hypothetical

change in market prices/rates on the balance sheet as of 31 December 2008

For hedge relationships where financial instruments hedge operational risk

exposure the numbers include
only

the effect of changes to the financial instru

ments although the net risk is low or eliminated e.g for
currency

risk on firm

commitments where the change in the fair value of the hedging contract

is recognised whereas the hedged commitment itself is not financial instrument

and is therefore not shown

For 2008 hedge accounting is no longer used for currency forward contracts hedging

the currency risk of the Share Portfolio This means that fair value changes on the

currency forward contracts are recognised in the income statement and fair value

changes from currency gain/loss on the shares available for sale are taken to

equity
Therefore this leads to increased

volatility
in the income statement

Credit risk

Amounts in NOK million

Accounts receivable

and cash equivalents

Derivatives

Other receivables

Total
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NOf ES GROUP

TABLE

Amounts in NOK mu ion

Financial instruments in hedging relationships

Interest rate risk 100 bp parallel
shift in interest curves all currencies

Currency risk /o change in FX-rate USO/NOK

Currency risk 10 0/ change in EX rate EUR/NOK

Currency risk 10 0/ change in FX-rate SEK/NOK

Price risk 20 0/v change in

Price risk 20 0/0 change in Nord Pool power prices

Share
price

risk 10 0/ change in the price of the Orkla share

Financial instruments not in hedging relationships

Price risk 20 O/ change Nord Pool power prices

Share price risk Share Portfolio see Note 18

TABLE

Interest rate swaps

Currency forwards currency swaps

Aluminium futures

Energy forwards

Embedded derivatives in energy

contract aluminium and USO

aluminium

USO-Component

Total 918
Net investment hedges of

foreign entities

Currency forwards currency swaps 915 8169

Fair value hedges

Interest rate swaps

Currency forwards currency swaps

Aluminium futures

Other derivatives Fair value

Accounting effect on

equity from

increase decrease

Calculation of fair value

Currency forwards and
currency swaps are measured at fair value

using
the

observed forward exchange rate for contracts with corresponding term to

maturity on the balance sheet date

Interest rate swaps are measured at fair value
using

the
present

value of future

cash flows calculated from observed market interest rates and exchange rates

at the balance sheet date including accrued interest

Energy forwards are measured at fair value using
the quoted price at Nord Pool

31.12.2007
Aluminium futures are measured at fair value using the quoted futures price at

Fair Notional

value amounts1
the

The fair value of currency options is calculated using Garman-Kohihagens

10 308
version of the Black-Scholes Option pricing method and the variables are

based on observed indicative market prices at the balance sheet date
54 2637

2007 Embedded derivative The volume of aluminium and USD implicitly
sold

636 2277
each year has been calculated for each contract and these embedded derivatives

250 930
are separated from the host contracts and valued at fair value defined as the

difference between the current market prices of USD and aluminium and the

corresponding market
prices

at the time the contracts were entered into Future

554 2895 differences have been discounted to present value

193 2115 2007 Fair value of written put-options on the REC share is calculated by using

683 the Black-Scholes option pricing formula and the variables are based on observed

market
price

and calculated historic volatility of the REC share as well as conditions

in the
underlying option agreements

97 7080

Total hedging and fair value of

76 254 101 586

16 1130

6902

67 6676

60 87 60

69 46

455 98

derivative financial instruments 1532

For derivatives composed ot long and short pos lion .e currency forwards and toed to tloatieg

nterest rate swaps Notional amounts eopresses the capital amount of either the long or the short

position in the do ivative coot act This is presented as an absolote value and derivatives of the same

ass and type are netted

income statement from

increase decrease

201 201 76 83
196 196 52 57

667 667 372 372

214 214 52 52

66 66 78 78
203 203

58 58

Accounting etfects from changes in market risk are cans tied to income ttatement and eguity according to where the eftoct of the changes in tair valoe will be recognised initially

rttects recognised in income statement will also attect egoity beyond the figures presented in the table

III HEDGING AND FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group seeks as far as possible to apply the IFRS rules for hedge accounting

The table below shows the fa value of all outstanding derivative financial

instruments grouped according to treatment in the financial statements

Amoonts in NOK mill oi

Cash flow hedges

31.12.2008

Fair Notional

value amounts1

44

342

181

439

7288

8039

514

1394

Total 915 97

Total

768 6090 164 4873

1049 5298 88 10376

127 401 90

154 248

changes recognised in income

statement

Enetgy forwards/futures/options

Currency forwatds currency swaps

Interest rate derivatives

Put-options the REC share

Total return swap the Orkla share

Other derivatives

Total

433 13085

56 11490

434
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NOTES GROUP

These derivative financial instruments are designated in hedge relationships as follows Derivatives not in formal hedging relationships

There are also derivatives not included in hedging relationships according to FRS

Cash flow hedges tor the following reasons

Orkla maintains interest rate swaps tor hedging ot tuture interest payments on

liabilities that quality tor hedge accounting These are swaps where Orkla pays Derivatives are not designated in tormal hedging relationships when changes in

tixed interest rate and receives tloating rate the tair value ot hedging instruments and hedging objects are naturally ottset in

the income statement for example currency risk on loans and other monetary

In hedges of
currency

risk on highly probable future cash flows both
currency

items

forward contracts and
currency options are designated as hedging instruments Meeting strict IFRS hedge accounting criteria is not always possible or practical

In 2008 Orkla Financial Investments decided to discontinue hedge accounting for

Sapas purchases of aluminium futures on the are designated as hedging currency hedges of the Share Portfolio Some of the other
currency hedges some

instruments in cash flow hedges These contracts had negative fair value ot of the forward contracts of powe and forward rate agreements ERAs are within

NOK 181 million as of 31 December 2008 this category

Derivatives held for
position taking

under defined limits This category includes

Power derivatives entered into by Elkem and Boiiegaaid foi the puicfsase of tiadiiig portfolios of powei coittiacts held at ElkeiTi and Borreqaard

power are designated as hedging instruments in hedges for cash flows from

future consumption of electric power As of 31 December 2008 these derivatives Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments which are not part of hedging

had negative fair value of NOK 439 million relationship are immediately recognised in the income statement

All derivatives designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges are carried

at fair value in the balance sheet Changes in fair value are provisionally recognised

in the
equity hedging reserve and recycled to the income statement as the cash FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2008

flows being hedged are recognised in the income statement

Book value Fair value

During
2008 loss of NOK million was recorded in the income statement as

Amounts in NOK million 2008 2008

result of hedging inefficiency
All expected cash flows which have been hedged

Financial assets available for sale

during 2008 still qualify for hedge accounting
Share Porttolio equity investments 10803 10803

Amounts NOK million 2008 2007 Loans and receivables

Opening balance hedging reserve 519 505 Non-current financial receivables 202 202

Net investment hedges reclassitied to translation ettects 173 Current trade and other receivables 10562 10562

Reclassitied to P/C operating revenues 41 227 Current financial investments 446 446

Reclassitied to P/C operating costs 121 30 Cash and cash equivalents 3993 3993

Reclassitied to P/C tinancial income
Financial liablities measured at amortised cost

Reclassified to P/C discontinued
operations 193

Non-current tinancial liabilities 29551 29052
Fair value change during the

year 201 30
Current trade and other liabilities 9785 9785

Closing balance hedging reserve 451 519

Fair value through profit and loss

Accumulated hedging gain/loss from cash flow hedges recognised in the equity
Share Portfolio

equity
investment associates 642 642

hedging reserve net of taxes as of 31 December 2008 is expected to be recycled Derivatives he/cl for troding

to the income statement as follows Receivables 77 77

Derivatives hedging instruments

2009 NDK -172 million
Non-current receivables 679 679

After 2009 NOK -279 million
Current receivables 100 100

Non-current liablitites 47 47
Hedges of net investments in foreign entities

Current liabilities 1416 1416
Currency risk on foreign net investments is hedged with either loans currency

forward contracts or cross
currency swaps Fair value through equity

Derivatives hedging instruments

During 2008 currency loss of NOK million 2007 NDK million relating to
Non-current receivables 55 55

net investment hedges of divested investments was recycled to the income
Current receivables 400 400

statement
Current liablities 1318 1318

Total 14 158 13 659
Fair value hedges

Some of Orklas loans in the bond market
carry

fixed interest coupons The interest
Gain not recognised in income statement 499

rate risk is hedged with interest rate swaps in fair value hedges where Drkla

receives the fixed rate and pays floating rate The changes in fair value of the

loans being hedged are recognised in the income statement as interest expense

together with changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps

Orkia has hedges of
currency

risk on firm commitments using forward currency

contracts Gain/losses on hedging objects as well as on hedging instruments are

recorded as currency gain1
lass in the income statement

Sapa sells aluminium contracts in order to hedge the value of stocks in fair value

hedges These hedging instruments had
positive

fair value of NDK 127 million

as of 31 December 2008
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24 LEASES COMMITMENTS OTHER MATTERS AND EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Several matters that are nat covered by the actual concept of accounting may be crucial to the way in which the financial statements are understood For instance

there may be matters relating to guoran tees that have been provided or time-limited agreements that may have on impact on future earnings There may be

unresolved
legal disputes that could have significant effects if the judgment passed is not as expected The information below is intended to shed light an such

matters anr/ in combination with the financial statements and other notes to provide correct overall picture
of the Groups total earnings and financial position

Leases show the Groups current and non-current commitments arising
from

leasing
contracts for property plant and equipment Most leases are regarded

as operating leoses and the lease amounts are presented only as operating expenses in the Groups income statement Finance leases are copitalised

Reported costs relating to operating leases reflect the minimum leasing cost during
the term of notice

Cost current
year

Cost next year

Total costs 25 years

Total costs after years

Total future leasing costs

Discounted effect

Net present value leasing costs

Amounis in NOK million

Liabilities secured
by mortgages

Mortgaged assets

Machinery vehicles etc

Buildings and plants

Other real property

Inventories accounts receivables etc

Total book value

Guarantees

Amouois in NOK million

Subscribed uncalled limited partnership capital

Other guarantee commitments

Total guarantee commitments

The Group makes limited use of guarantees and has reduced its exposure in

respect
of general partnerships As of 31 December 2008 the Group has joint

and several liability
related to its investment in Elkem Aluminium ANS see Note

decision was made to sell/swap Elkem Aluminium ANS as of 22 December

2008 Joint and several liability is limited to percentage of non-book liabilities in

the joint venture

LONG-TERM COOPERATION AGREEMENTS

2008 2007 Agreement with Unilever Orkla has cooperation agreement with Unilever relating

914 40 to detergents and personal care/cosmetic products This agreement which was

originally signed in 1958 was last renegotiated in 1995 The agreement runs until

2014

137 199

M/h/i7g Orkia operates two mines Elkem Tuna AS and Elkem ASA Marries branch

89 101
which normally produce 735000 tonries and 112000 torirres of

quartzite per yea
52

respectively The quarry area of Elkem Tana is owned by the State of Norway

80 62
and at the current rate of extraction known reserves will last until 2033 The

358 367
quarry area of the Elkem MSrnes branch is owned by local landowners and at

the current rate of extraction known reserves will last until 2034 In the case of

Elkem Tana an extraction fee is paid per tonrie to the landowner the State of

Norway In addition an annual provision is made to fund to cover the costs

of landscaping the site when mining operations have been terminated The fee

paid per
tonne by the Elkem Mârnes branch to the landowner is index-linked

1263 312 Ownership interests in mines and mine
quarries are depreciated over the shorter

1809 1261 of their useful economic life and their remaining useful life The remaining useful

life is calculated on the basis of known reserves and planned annual extraction

Machinery

plant

2007

81

42

84

129

Rented/leased property plant

and equipment

Amounis in Nor million

Cost current year

Cost next year

Total costs 2S
years

Total costs after
years

Total future leasing costs

Rented/leased property plant

and equipment

Amuuois in NOK million

2008

54

43

98

148

Land building

property

2008 2007

183 190

146 111

202 232

51

354 394

Lessee

Operating leases

2008

134

106

196

46

348

Other

assets

2007

12

T2

16

28

2008

384

308

519

59

886

Total

2007

399

266

494

67

827

Machinery

plant

2008 2007

Land building

property

2008 2007

Fixtures

vehicles etc

2007

116

101

162

13

276

2008

2008

13

13

23

36

Fixtures

vehicles etc

2007

33 17

12 13

11 54 36

15
11 39 31

Lessee

Finance leases

Total

2007

17

22

14

53

48

2008

12

36

13

61

18
43

Mortgages and guarantees show how large part
of the Groups assets is

pledged to mortgogees in the event of bankruptcy or winding-up Claims

that have priority by low taxes and charges woges etc must also be taken

into account The table shows that the book value of pledged assets is considerably

higher than outstanding mortgage loans Moreovef the Groups most important

loon agreements are based on negative pledge and therefore the Group con

only to
very

limited extent mortgage its assets to secure its liabilities

Guarantee commitments ore undertaken as part
of the Groups day-to-day ope

rations and in connection with
participation

in general and limited partnerships

Guarantee commitments cover variety of guarantees such as surety rental

guarantees and guarantees for other payments

Elkem also has access to quartz through its investment in Erimsa SA Spanish

2008 2007 company

546 949
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___________________
NOTES GROUP

OTHER MATTERS

Power contracts Through Elkem and Borregaard the Orkla Group has substantial

power contracts These are described in Note 27

Other contracts the Group has entered into contracts tar the sale and purchase ot

goods and services in connection with the production at potatoes vegetables fish

cellulose and the like These contracts are regarded as part
of the Groups ordinary

operating activities and are therefore not specified or indicated in any other way

The contracts are deemed to be strict sale or purchase contracts with no embedded

derivatives

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Significant events after the ba/once sheet date that occur before the Board of

Directors has approved the financial statements may make it necessary to change

the annua/ financia/ statements or to disclose the matter in the notes to the

financial statements If new information emerges regarding matter that existed

on the ba/once sheet dote and the matter is
significant

the financial statements

must be changed If events concern matters that arose after the balance sheet

dote the matters may have to be disclosed in note

In accordance with the principles applied by the Group certain shares in the Share

Portfolio which have declined permanently or significantly in value are written

dawn to their fair value in the income statement In the event of further decline

in value further write-down will
automatically be taken an shares that have

already been written dawn regardless of the above-mentioned criteria This has

resulted in write-dawns of NOK 5.7 billion in 2008 and further write-downs will

be taken if financial markets remain weak See Note 18

25 RELATED PARTIES

Two parties are deemed to be related if one party con influence the decisions of

the othec Related party relationships are normal feature of commerce and

business HaweveT related parties are in position to enter into transactions with

the company that would not be undertaken between unrelated parties

companys profit or loss and financial position could in principle be affected by

related party relationship even if no transactions with related parties have actually

taken place The mere existence of the relationship may be sufficient to affect the

way the campanys other transactions are perceived Ta ensure full access to a/l

information of this nature the following related party relationships are disclosed

below

Orkla ASA is
parent company and has direct and indirect control of around 400

different companies in various parts of the world Directly-owned subsidiaries are

presented in Note to Orkla ASAs financial statements while other important

companies are presented in the Group Directory an page 124 Drkla ASAs internal

relationship with these companies is shown on separate lines in the companys

financial statements see the Financial Statements far Orkla ASA Activity within

the Group is reported in the segment information disclosed in Note

Orkla has ownership interests in joint ventures These are presented line by line

in the consolidated financial statements based on the Groups ownership interest

The Groups share of internal balances and transactions relating to the joint ventu

res has been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements Orkla otherwise

has no special transactions related to these companies The Group also has owner

ship interests in associates There have been no special transactions between these

associates and the Group

Orklas largest shareholder is the Canica-system 23.3 n/n There have been no

other transactions between Drkla and the Canica-system and no form of loan

relationship has been established The Canica-system and Drkla ASA both awn

shares in certain companies

There have been no other transactions with related parties Information regarding

the executive management is disclosed in Note to the consolidated financial

statements and Note to the financial statements for Orkla ASA

26 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In Group as large as Orkla the corporate structure will change aver time

as companies are sold and purchased In connection with major acquisitians

pro forma
figures

will normally be prepared far the new business combination

while major divestments will be presented as odiscontinued operationsn

extracted from both the
figures

for the period and comparative figures

and presented on one line in the income statement This is done in order to

make the
figures comparable over time and to focus on continuing operations

decision was made to exchange the Groups stake in Elkem Aluminium ANS

EAANS for Alcoas minority interest in Sapa Profiles The transaction will be

completed in 2009

Income statement

Amounts in NOK million

Operating enpenses external

Depreciations and impairment

Cash flow Elkem Aluminium ANS

Amounts in NOK million

Cash flow tram
operating

activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents

180 161

19 10

95 277

378

13
589

376

16 237

293 1202

82 157

211 1045

55 211 1039

3469

55 211 4508

35
55 211 4473

Internal trading within the Group is carried out in accordance with special

agreements art an arms
length basis and

joint expenses in Orkla ASA

are distributed among the Group companies in accordance with distribution

formulas depending on the various types of expense For further

information on intercompany transactions see Nate nSegmentsu

Operating revenues

Elkem Aluminium ANS

2008 2007

2688 2450

2584 2002

EAANS and

Orkia Media

2006

8586

7606

property plant and equipment

Amortisation intangible assets

Operating protit/loss

Profit/loss from associates

Net tinancial items

Profit/loss before taxes

Taxes

Profit/loss after taxes

Minority
interests shares at

profit for the year

Profit/loss in discontinued operations

Settlement discontinued operations

Protit/lass discontinued operations

Net profit Netzeitung

Total discontinued operations

19

76
21

55

2008

185

160

25
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27 POWER AND POWER CONTRACTS

NORWAY

Sauda

Sauda II

Sauda III

Hydropower reservoir Rogaland

Storlivatn Power plant

Hydropower reservoirs Rogaland

Svelgen III Svelgen IV

Hydropower reservoirs Sogn og Fjordane

Straumane Power plant

Hydropower reservoir Sogn og Fjordane

Fossekallen Power plant

Hydropower without reservoirs

Sogn og Fjordane

Siso Power plant

Hydropower reservoir Nordland

Lakshola Power plant

Hydropower reservoir Nordland

Borregaard Power plant

Hydropower run-of-river

Sarpsfossen in Glomma Sarpsborg

Sarp Power plant

Hydropower run-of-riveT

Sarpsfossen
in Glomma Sarpsborg

Trlandsfos Power plant

Hydropower run-of-nveç Kvinesdal Vest Agder

Mossefossen Power plant

Hydropower run-of-riveç Moss Ostfold

CANADA

The power system is

being expanded After the

expansion the system will

have an annual production

of approx 2000 GWh

md Storlivatn power plant

260 GWh

Ownership status and remaining

utilisation period/contract duration

Sauda will be taken out of operation during 2009

Sauda Ills now part of the Dalvatn power station

Sauda
III was taken out of operation in 2008

Leased by AS Saudefaldene2 from Statkraft until 2030

Owned by AS Saudefaldene2 until 2009

From january 2010 leased from Statkraft until 2030

Operation started November 2001

Operation started December 2006

Operation started August 2008

Operation
started October 2008

All stations are owned by AS Saudetaldene until 2030

Leased by Elkem Energi Bremanger AS from

Statkraft until 2030

Key financial terms

and conditions

Annual delivery obligation of 883 GWh to Eramet

Norway AS until 31 December 2010 then 436

GWh At the end of the lease the plants must be

in good working condition

At the end of the lease the plant must be in

good working condition

On hand-over to Statkraft the plants must be

in good working condition Statkraft shall
pay

the

residual value for tax purposes as at January
2031

Statkraft shall pay Elkem the residual tax value of

assets at hand-over

At the end of the lease the plants must

be in good working condition

At reversion the plants must be in good working

condition

At reversion to Statkraft the plant must be in good

working condition Sfatkraft shall pay the residual

value for tax
purposes as at January 2031 Statkraft

shall
pay

Elkem the residual tax value of assets at

hand-over

At reversion the plant must be in good working

condition

At reversion the plant must be in good working

condition

Due to investments in two new generators

production capacity
will increase as from 2009

Hafslund Production has the operational

responsibility

Centrale

Hydropower run-of-river Chicoutimi

Quebec

Owned by Elkem Metal Canada Inc Water rights

235 GWh eupired 2005 Contract negotiations were concluded

in 2008 and new contract that will run until 2031

is expected to be signed in 2009

Requirements relating to maintenance/

investments and sign on fee are included in the

terms of the contract

POWER CONTRACTS

NORWAY

Statkraft various contracts for various units

Agder Energi

Sogn og Fjordane Energi

SiraKvina replacement power

DNN

ICELAND

2172 GWh Expire 2009-2011

148 GWh Expire 201 5-2019

10 GWh Replacement power Expires 2029

35 GWh Infinite

238 GWh Expire 31 December 2030

Varying degree of index adjustment

annual or multi-year interval

Partial index adlustment

Time-of-use contract taken out October-April

Replacement for lost production in Trwlandsfos

Reduction of volume from January 2011

Landsvirkjun Icelandic Alloys Ltd

CANADA

1035 GWh
Expire

2019 Elkem has an option on 10-year

extension ot the contract

The price
is index-linked to Norwegian price

indices

Hydro Quebec 280 GWh Contract automatically renewed every year

Prices are fixed by an energy committee and

approved by the authorities

Sa eablv normal pwductivr di rlke-ns
power plants is

calculated based on normal precipitation ref 1990-200a Elkew owns u5 0A of AS Saudefaldene Applies tu deliveries from lanuary 2009

Power plant assets are depreciated over the shorter of useful economic life and remaining utilisation/lease period The contract with Vatterifall concerns

only
Elkem Aluminium ANS and has therefore been removed from the list of contracts as of year-end 2008

Plant type

location/contract

POWER PLANTS

1/re Group bat/i owns and leases large power p/ants table below shows the type of power plant annual production capadty owners/ri/s status and key bnancial

terms and canditians See a/so Nate 23 far irfarmatbn an power

Annual saleable

production/contract

volume

Svartkulp Power plant

Dalvatn Power plant

SonnÆ Hay Power plant

Senn Lay Power plant

Hydropower reservoirs Rogaland

Svelgen Svelgen II

Hydropower reservoirs Sogn og Fjordane

Owned by Elkem
Energi Bremanger AS Revert to

417 GWh
the State of Norway respectively 2021 and 2029

GWh
Operation started May 2005

Owned by Elkem Energi Bremanger AS until 2030

0.4 GWh
Operation started August 2007

Owned by Elkem Errergi Bremanger AS

Owned by Elkem Energi Siso AS
954 GWh

Reverts to the State of Norway 2026

Owned by Elkem Energi Lakshola AS
113 GWh

Reverts to the State ot Norway 2056

189 GWh 100 /n ownership infinite licence period

50 o/u ownership infinite licence period

265 GWh The other ownership interest owned by

Hafslund Production

30 GWh 100 nj0 ownership infinite licence period

14 GWh 100 O/ ownership partly
infinite licence period
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Financial statements for Orkia ASA

ORKLA ASA

In addition to all head office activities the financial statements of the holding

company Orkia ASA cover the Groups Share Portfolio and its real estate

activities which are part
of the business operations of Orkla Eiendom

Activities at head otfice include the Groups executive management and

the corporate functions information legal aftairs corporate development

HP accounting/finance risk management and internal audit The corporate

function staffs
largely carry out assignments for the Groups other com

panies and charge the companies for these services The Group Treasury

acts as Group bank and is responsible for the Groups external financing

management of the Groups liquid assets and overall management of the

Groups currency and interest risks There are two other corporate functions

at the head office Corporate Development Purchasing CDP and Corporate

Development Operations CDO CDP assists companies in efforts to improve

purchasing activities in order to achieve higher quality
and

exploit purchasing

economies of scale within the Orkia Group COO provides similar assistance in

connection with production These departments charge the Group companies

for services rendered

Orkia ASA owns certain trademarks that are utilised by various companies in

the Orkia Group Royalty fees are invoiced for the use of these trademarks

The financial statements for Orkia ASA have been prepared and presented

in accordance with simplified lOTS pursuant to section 3-9 of the Norwegian

Accounting Act Dividends and Group contributions have been accounted

for according to good accounting practice as and exception from IFRS

The explanations of the accounting principles for the Group also apply to

Orkia ASA and the notes to the consolidated financial statements will in some

cases cover Orkia ASA Shareholdings in subsidiaries are presented at cost

Equity
and liabilities

Amounts in NOK Ilion

Paid in equity

Retained earnings

Equity

Deferred tax

Pension liabilities

Non-current liabilities Group

Other non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities and provisions

Commercial paper

Tax payable

current liabilities to Group companies

Accounts payable

Other current liabilities

current liabilities

Equity and liabilities

Note 2008

404

406

269
315

78

185

460

2419

76

329

4276
1582

6066

9483
10 567

8916

2288

INCOME STATEMENT

Amnunis in NOK milhon

Operating revenues

Other operating revenues Group

Operating revenues

Payroll expenses

Other
operating expenses

Depreciations and amortisation

Operating profit/loss

income from investments in other companies

Total finance income Group

Other finance income

Finance costs Group

Other finance costs

Net foreign exchange gains and losses

Gains losses and write downs Sham Portfolio

Profit/loss before taxes

Taxes

Profit/loss after tax

Proposed dividend not provided for

BALANCE SHEET

2007

391

394

299

321

233

1069

3924

1108

311

822

426

3558

8719

570

8149

2305

CASH FLOW

Amonnis in NOK mi lion

Operating profit/loss

Depreciations and impairment charges

changes in net working capital etc

Dividends received

Financial items net

Taxes paid

cash flow from operating activities

Replacement expenditures

Sold companies

Net change in investments in subsidiaries

Investments in foreign companies

Net purchase/sale
Share Portfolio

Received Group contribution etc

cash flow from investing activities

Dividends paid

Net share buy-back

Net paid to shareholders

Change in other interest-bearing liabilities

change in interest-bearing own receivables

Change in net interest-bearing liabilities

Cash flow from financing activities

change in cash and cash equivalents

2007 sale of shares in Mecom NOK 1220 millixn

sale of shares in RET NOK 168 millinn

2008

185

186

460

1364
278

1174

25

86
515

1830

1375

1081

2282

561
2843

11121

5962
5159

2316

61

Note 2008

see Groups siaiemeni

of changes in equxy 1993

26212

28205

10

27

427

11 27693

28147

5921

1432

7354

63706

2007

233

341

2926

665

120

2904

17

1388

2093

6449

1756

1473

3942

2061

566

2627

3785

419

3366

739

299

2007

2002

40241

42243

187

16

14843

15046

345

600

5564

29

1850

8388

65677

Assets

Amounts in NOK million Note 2008 2007

Intangible assets 45 50

Deferred tax assets 10 679

Property plant and equipment 104 81

Investments ni subsidiaries 22497 22614

Loans to Group companies 20187 14752

Shares in other companies 6537 8575

Other financial assets 13

Non-current assets 50062 46072

Accounts receivables external 78 139

Other receivables 538 lOS

Loans to Group companies 1520 1828

Share Portfolio investments 11391 17477

cash and cash equivalents 117 56

Current assets 13644 19605

Total assets 63706 65677

See Note 18 Group
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Notes for Orkia ASA

The shares are initially presented at cost price
because REC and SPDE are associates

2008 2007 ot the Group see Note to the consolidated financial statements The shares in

168 194 REC and SPDE were written down in 2008 to the Groups book value per share as

36 46 of 31 December 2008 write-down of NOK 2515 million was taken on the REC

shares and NOK 151 million on the SPDE shares

44 37
21 22

269 299
180 168

REMUNERATION AND CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Remuneration to the Group Executive Board

The Board of Directors decides the terms and conditions of the President and CEO

and makes decisions on fundamental issues relating to the Groups terms and

conditions policy and compensation arrangements for other employees The Board

of Directors has special Compensation Committee that prepares matters relating

to compensation for decision by the Board The Committee consists of three Board

members one of whom is elected by the employees and is chaired by the Board

2008 2007
chairman The company administration prepares matters for submission to the

Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors

13 11
10 10

In 2008 the Group Executive Board has comprised the following members

10 Dug Opedal President and CEO Torkild Nordberg Ole Engec Roar Engeland

Hilde Myrberg and
Terje

Andersen Bjrn Wiggen became member on

21 22 23 September 2008

The following salaries and remuneration were paid out to the Group Executive

2008 2007 Board in 2008

314 270 Ordinary Bonus Benefits Pension

168 181 Amounts in NOK salary in kind costs

146 89 Dag Opedal 4981196 236767 1013778
119 73 Torkild Nordberg 3173161 500000 170586 487378

27 16 Ole Enger 6092894 7272496 126530 619557

Roar Engeland 2850914 161534 446402

Bjrn Wiggen 1670454 119038 428062

Hilde Myrberg 1994832 271804 177990 366086
2008 2007

Terje
Andersen 2260556 307334 217544 333324

7/o 3/u
Total remuneration 23024007 8351634 1209989 3694587

53/o 56/n

35% 12/o

29 0/0

Shares owned by the Group Executive Board are presented on page
100 O/ 100 O/

President and CEO Dug Opedal has six-month period of notice and may retire

at the age of 62 While he is between the ages of 62 and 67 Orkla will pay him

pension equivalent
to 60 0/0 of his salary upon retirement He will thereafter be

paid from Orklas defined contribution plan Opedal may retain his options even if

his employment contract is terminated Opedal also has personal
loan on which

regulated interest rate is charged The balance as of 31 December 2008 was

2008 2007 NOK 212316

546 949

349 323 Ole Engers retirement age is 65 but he is entitled to resign from his
position

from

34
the age of 62 His remuneration will then gradually be reduced from 90 O/ the

first
year

to 60 Io when he reaches the age of 67 on condition that he works on

50 0/ basis until he reaches the age of 65 The ordinary pension to which he is

entitled at the age of 67 amounts to 60 0/ of his ordinary salary coordinated with

his benefits from the National Insurance scheme and the companys group pension

plan

2008 2007

The other members of the Group Executive Board have period of notice of six

months Their retirement age is 65 and they will receive pension equivalent to

60 0/ of their
salary upon retirement until they reach the age of 67 after which

their pension will be paid
from Orklas defined contribution plan Teije Andersen

Head has personal loan on which regulated
interest rate is charged The balance as of

office 31 December 2008 was NOK 1025452 No other members of the Group Executive

Bwrum Board have personal loans

Brum

If an employee in the Group Executive Board by mutual agreement and in the

best interests of the company terminates the employment contract the employee

will receive salary and contractual benefits for up to 12 months after the
period

of notice 75 0/n of any income from another permanent post during the 12-month

period will be deducted

PYROIL AND PENStONS

Amounts in NOK million

Wages

National insurance contribution

Remuneration of the Board

Corporate Assembly and other pay-related costs

Pension costs

Payroll eopenses

Average number of man-years

including costs relating to discounied sales of shares tn employees totalling NOK 21 milhnn in 2008

NOK 17 million in 2007

Breakdown of net pension costs

The assumptions on which the calculation of pension costs has been based are

disclosed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

Amounts in NOK million

Current service cost

md national insurance contribution

Interest cost on pension obligations

Expected return on plan assets

Actuarial gains and losses

Contribution plans

Pension costs

Breakdown of net pension liabilities 31 December

Amounts in NOK million

Present value of
pension obligations

Pension plan assets fair value

Net pension liabilities

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses

capitalised pension
liabilities

Breakdown of plan assets fair value 31 December

Cash and cash equivalents and money market investments

Bonds

Real estate

Shares

Total plan assets

The company has pension plan
that meets the requirements of the Compulsory

Service Pensions Act

GUARANTEES AND $ORTGAGES

Amounts in NOK million

Subscribed uncalled limited partnership capital

Guarantees to subsidiaries

Other guarantees

LOANS TO EMPIOYEIS

Other non-current financial assets include loans to employees in the Group

Amounts in NOK million

Loans to employees

SHARES IN OI14ER COMPANIES

Amounts in NOK million

REC ASA

Scandinavian Propety Development SPOr
Total

The voting lights are the same as the ownership interest

Book Ownership

value interesU

6060 16.28 0/

477 32.99 0/

6537
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NOTES FOR ORKLA ASA

In 2008 the members ot the Group Executive Board have
participated

in the

Groups annual bonus system which rewards improvement operational excel

lence

The members ot the Group Executive Board participate
in the Groups general

employee share purchase programme

No guarantees have been provided tor members ot the Group Executive Board

Hilde Myrberg isoou 24.03.2006

40000 08.05.2008

Ole
Enger 100000 24.03.2006

100000 24.03.2006

39500 16.02.2007

OOption ccash boxus

strike
price cPi-udjusted ixaxu at 15 oecember 2i5x8

The Board of Directors statement of guidelines for the remuneration

of the executive management

Pursuant to section 6-16a ot the Public Eimited Companies Act the Board ot

Directors must draw up special
statement ot

guidelines
tor the pay and other

remuneration ot senior executives Furthermore section 5-6 ot the same

Act prescribes that an advisory vote must be held at the General Meeting on

the Board ot Directors guidelines tor the remuneration ot the executive mana

gement tor the coming tinancial
year see below In so far as the guidelines

concern share-related incentive arrangements these must also be approved by

the General Meeting see di below

Intormation regarding pay and other remuneration ot the executive manage

ment in the
previous

financial
year

has been provided in the section above

With regard to guidelines tor pay and other remuneration ot the executive

management in the coming tinancial year the Board of Directors will present

the following guidelines to the General Meeting in 2009 for an advisory vote

The purpose ot Drklas terms and conditions policy is to attract personnel with the

competence that the Group requires turther develop and retain employees with

key expertise and promote long-term perspective and continuous improvement

with view to achieving Drklas business goals

The general approach adopted in Drklas policy has been to pay fixed salaries

and pensions based on the market median for comparable enterprises while

offering variable element which is linked to results share price performance

etc bonuses and options and which has been better than the median

Options and cash bonuses awarded to the Group Execuhve Board as of 31 December 2008

Award date strike 1st exercise Last exercise

um er

dd/mm/yyyy price dd/mm/yyyy dd/mm/yyyy

DagJ Opedal 60000 24.06.1999 20.171 20.02.2003 1512.2009

250000 23.05.2001 26.60 Day atter
publication

of Orklas financial result for 2003 rebruary 2004 30.05.2010

200000 28.02.2003 15.01 21.02.2006 28.02.2009

200000 03.03.2004 37.23 Day after publication of Drklas financial result tor 2006 February 2007 15.12.2009

150000 14.02.2005 46.74 Day after publication of Drklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 28.02.2011

100DDO Dl .06.2005 48.40 Day after publication of Drklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 28.02.2011

250000 24.03.2006 63.25 Day after publication of Orklas financial resulf for 2008 February 2009 20.02.2012

250000 16.02.20G7 93.94 Day after publication of Orkias financial result for 2009 February 2010 20.02.2012

100000 08.05.2008 81.40 08.05.2011 08.05.2014

Exercised in 2008 -90000 05.01.1998 20.17 Exercise
price

40.60

-2DD00 05.07.2002 27.00 Exercise price 64 all the shares retained

Roar Engeland 125000 28.02.2003 15.01 21.02.2006 28.02.2009

20000D 03.03.2004 37.23 Day after publication of Orkias financial result for 2006 February 2007 15.12.2009

150000 14.02.2005 46.74 Day after publication of Orkias financial result for 2007 February 2008 28.02.2011

150000 24.03.2006 63.25 Day after publication of Orklas financial result for 2008 Febraary 2009 20.02.2012

150000 16.02.2007 93.94 Day aftet publication of Orklas financial result for 2009 February 2010 20.02.2012

65000 08.05.2008 81.40 08.05.2011 08.05.2014

Torkild Nordberg 25000 21.11.2003 27.00 Day after publication of Drklas financial result for 2006 February 2007 15.12.2009

37500 25.11.2003 27.00 Day after publication of Orklas financial result for 2006 February 2007 15.12.2009

25000 23.11.2004 40.47 Day after publication of Drklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 15.12.2010

25000 07.12.2004 40.14 Day after pablication of Orklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 15.12.2D1D

25000 08.12.2005 56.98 Day after publication
of Orkias financial result for 2008 February 2009 15.12.2011

1GO000 24.03.2006 56.10 Day after
publication

of Orklas financial result for 2008 February 2009 15.12.2D11

70000 D8.u5.2008 81.40 08.05.2011 08.05.2014

Exercised in 2008 -66665 05.11.2001 27.20 Exercise price 40.60

-37500 26.11.2002 20.51 Exercise price 40.60

Terje Andersen 15000 21.11.2003 27.00 Day after publication of Orklas financial result for 2006 February 2007 15.12.2009

15000 23.11.2004 40.47 Day after publication of Drklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 15.12.2010

75000 24.03.2006 56.10 Day after publication of Orklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 15.12.2010

40000 08.05.2008 81.40 08.05.2011 08.05.2014

Bjurn Wiggen 100000 04.10.2004 38.71 Day after
publication

of Drklas financial result for 2007 February 2008 15.12.2010

100000 24.03.2006 56.10 Day after publication of Drklas financial result for 2008 February 2009 15.12.2011

35000 08.05.2008 81.40 08.05.2011 08.Ds.2014

60.50 Day after publication
of Orklas financial result for 2008 February 2009 ls.12.2011

81.40 08.05.2011 08.05.2014

63.25 Day after publicaf ion of Drklas financial result for 2008 February 2009 20.02.2012

56.10 Day after publication of Orklas financial result for 2008 February 2009 15.12.2011

93.94 Day after publicaf ion of Drklas financial result for 2DD9 February 2010 20.02.2012
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NOIES FOR ORKLA ASA Ikr

Compensation may consist ot the following elements

Fixed elements

Orkla uses internationally recognised job assessment systems to find the right

level tor the job and the tixed salary jobs are assessed in relation to their

local market country and pay range of the median /- 20 0/ is applied

The employees responsibilities
results and performance determine where he

or she is placed on the salary scale

Orkla introduced defined contribution pension plan for its employees in Norway

as of january 2004 and Elkem as of january 2006 Since july 2006 the con

tribution rates have been for salaries between 16 and 66 and 0/0 for salaries

between 6G and 126 For salaries over 12 the contribution rate is 15 /u as trom

May 2008 16 is NOK 70256 Employees who have entered into an early retire

ment agreement entitling them to retire before the age of 67 receive pension

charged to revenues that is equivalent to 60
per

cent of their annual pay

In addition to the above the Group provides benefits such as company car and

company telephone and other limited benefits in kind

Variable elements annual bonus

Orkla has system of annual bonuses that reward improvement operational excel

lence Under this system good performance which is specifically defined for

the various elements can result in an annual bonus of 30 /o of an employees fixed

pay while the maximum bonus is 100 0/ of the employees annual pay This bonus

system applies to approximately 250 senior executives

Si Special comments on share-based incentive arrangements

Option programme far executive management and key personnel

The Board proposes to continue the programme of employee options for executive

management and key personnel subject to ceiling of 1.3 annual salaries in

potential annual gains for the Group Executive Board and one annual salary for

other participants quota of million options is recommended approximately

0.7 0/ at shares outstanding to be awarded on the basis of the following criteria

Human resource development

Achievement of financial
targets

Improvements in the executives sphere of responsibility

Collaboration

Application in practice of Orkias basic values

Potential for further development

Market considerations securing key competence

Others

Group Executive Board members are expected to use 50 0/ of their net proceeds

from the exercise of options to purchase Orkla shares until the individual members

shareholding of Orkla shares has market value equivalent to minimum of one

years gross
annual salary The Group President and CEO is expected to increase

his shareholding until it reaches market value of minimum at two years gross

annual salary

The main award of
options is to take

place once year
based on the share

price

on the day after the results for the tirst quarter are published Option awards made

at other times during the year are to be based on the share price on the day after

the results for the following quarter are published The strike price tar the options

is 10 0/0 above market price at the time of the award and options may not be

exercised until at the earliest three years and at the latest six years after the

award

The number of options awarded to the programme participants is based on the

assumption that the increase in the value of the Orkla share outperforms the

historical rise in the value of the Oslo Stock Exchange Benchmark Index by 25 0/

in order tar the option to pay aft in full

Besides the Group Executive Board the target group for the option programme

comprises the management teams in the business areas/units and certain other

key personnel and comprises around 250 management staff and key personnel

Discounted shares far employees

For several
years

the Group has had programme that
gives employees the

opportunity
to buy lim ted number of shares in 2008 the maximum amount

before the discount was approx NOK 37000 at discount of 25 /o in relation

to the market price of the share In 2008 this programme covered employees

in 26 countries and approximately 30000 employees The Board of Directors

recommends to the General Meeting that the employee share purchase pro

gramme be continued at the same amount level as in 2008

iv Senior executive salary policy in previous accounting years

The guidelines for the pay and remuneration at senior executives described in ii

also served as guidelines for the determination of senior executive remuneration

in 2008

Bjrn Wiggen joined the Group Executive Board on 23 September 2008

Otherwise there were no changes in the contracts at senior executives

Salaries and remuneration to the Board of Directors and number of shares owned

AmnLsis in NOK

Shareholder-elected Board members

Stein Erik Hagen

Sown jacobsen

Bjrg yen

Ase Aulie Michelet

Lennart jeansson

Peter Ruzicka

Kristin Skogen Lund

Employee-ejected Board members

Aage Andersen

Gunn Liab

Per Arnfinn Solberg

Total remuneration to Board

noral share ownership inciuding reiaied parses

637501

514585

308750

340000

385500

183750

183750

No loans have been granted to or guarantees provided for members of the Board of Oirectors

Ordinary

directors fee

Ordinary

salary

445708

277407

446493

1169608

Benefits

in kind

13837

9489

109915

133241

Pension

costs

12310

9470

15188

36968

387660

308750

327165

3577411

Number

of shares1

239942000

40000

15000

8500

40000

400000

1000

1834

5274

5874
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NOTES FOR ORKA ASA

Remuneration to Corporate Assembly

Amounts in 1000 NOK

Fees to Corporate Assembly

Other remuneration to Corporate Assembly

Remuneration rates

Amounts in NOK

Chairman ot the
Corporate Assembly annual tee

Oeputy Chairman of the Corporate Assembly annual tee

Chairman deputy chairman members deputy

members and observers Corporate Assembly per meeting

Fees to Group external auditor

Amounts in NOK million end VAn

Parent company

Statutory
audit

Other attest services

Tax consultancy services

Other non-audit services

Group

Statutory audit

Other attest services

Tan consultancy services

Other non-audit services

Total tees to Ernst Young

Statutory
audit fee to other auditors

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Amounts in NOK million

Book value January 2008

Additions

Oepreciatiorrs

Book value 31 December 2008

Initial cost January 2008

Accumulated depreciations and

impairment January 2008

Book value January 2008

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Amounts in NOK million

Book value January
2008

Amortisation

Book value 31 December 2008

Initial cost January 2008

Accumulated depreciations
and

impairment January 2008

Book value January 2008

Initial cost 31 December 2008

Accumulated depreciations and

impairment 31 December 2008

Book value 31 December 2008

0.2 0.4 Amounts in NOK million

2.8 3.0 Elkem AS

0.4 Procordia Food AB

Chips
Ab

Chips Scandinavian Company AB

49 40 AoellusAS

Orkla Foods AS

10 13 Swebiscuits AB

ROH8

67 62
Borreqaard Industries Limited

Ordinary shares

Preterence shares

Bakers AS

Orkla Eiendom AS

Orkla Asia Holding AS

Orkia Insurance Company Ltd

Nidar AS

Borreguurd NFA AS

Bruveien Industripark AS

2007
Lilleborg AS

798 Orkla Finans ASA

Viking Askim AS

Chr Salvesen hr Thamss Comm AS

Orkla Invest AB

21 Orkla Shared Services AS

822 Vtot AS

NINO AS

Smtre AS

Borregaard Skoger AS

Reach Media AS2

2008

968
170

2666
453
19

4276

Machinery

and

equipment

29

25

51 53

Total

IT Total

24 50

26 19 45

26 29 55

26 24 50

26 29 55

10 10
26 19 45

Book

value

8896

S469

2829

1516

590

517

512

398

271

43

249

244

166

117

110

101

92

87

56

56

44

38

30

27

25

11

22497

Initial cost 31 December 2008

Accumulated depreciations and

impairment 31 December 2008

Book value 31 December 2008

70 112 182

19 59 78
51 53 104

2008

507

Trademarks

not

amortisable

26

2007

489

2008

120000

30000

6000

2007

No loans have been granted to or guarantees provided for members of the

Corporate Assembly

2008

2.5 2.6

SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES DIRECTLY OWNED

changes trom 2007 to 2000 are ascribable to currency exchange rates NOK milliunJ intlatinn NOK
million and change in audit scope NOK million

Groups share

of capital

100 O/

100 O/

100 0/

40 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 0/0

100 O/

100 O/

999 O/

100 O/

100 0/r

100 0/

100 O/

100 /r

100 O/

100 0/2

100 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 O/

100 0/

100 /u

100 in

OTHER FINANCE COSTS

Amounts in NOK million

Interest costs

Change in fair value interest element

Write-down shares in other companies see Note

Write-down shares in subsidiaries see Note

Others

Total othet financn costs

Land

buildings and

other property

52

Total

81

25

104

60 Pr ot the shares in chips Scandinuoian company AB are owned by chips Ab

The shares in Reach Media AS were written down in 2000 by NOK 453 million

Only directly owned subsidiaries are included in the above table The Group also

has indirect ownership in approximately 400 subsidiaries of which the profit/

loss and equity are important in the evaluation of the above companies The most

important indirectly-owned subsidiaries are shown in the Group Directory at the

end of the annual report

70 87 157

18 58 76
52 29 81
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NOTFS FOR ORKLA ASA

10 TAXES

Taxes

Amounts in NOK million

Profit/loss before taxes

Change in timing differences

Of this change in timing differences previous years

Change in timing differences taken to equity

Permanent diftererences

Tax-free dividends capital gains loss and write-downs

Group contributions without tax

Other permanent differences

Total permanent differences

Total taxable income

Calculated current tax expense

Withholding tao foreign dividends

Correction due to differences in tax estimates in
previous years

Total current tax enpense

Change in deferred tax

Total tan expense

Deferred tax

Amounts in NOK million

Financial derivatives

Unrealised gains losses on shares outside EEA

Hedges taken to equity

Property plant and equipment

Other non-current items

Other current liabilities

Losses carried forward

Base deferred tan

Octerred tax assets liability in 2007

This
years change in deferred tax

Change in deferred tax taken to equity

Change in deferred tax in income statement

11 FINANCIAl RISK

The risk associated with financial instruments in Orkla ASA is related to the

following activities

Share Portfolio

The development in share
prices

and
currency exchange rates are sources of

financial risk for the Share Portfolio In Note 18 for the Group this risk is quantified

Currency risk and
currency hedges are shown in Note 23 for the Group

Group internal bank

The
Treasury Department of Orkla ASA manages the interest rate- and currency

risk for the Group The
Treasury Department acts as Group infernal bank and

initiates virtually all external borrowing and hedging transactions in interest rate

and currency derivatives The subsidiaries offload their
currency

risk by entering

into infernal currency hedging contracts with the internal bank which in turn

hedges this risk through external hedging positions Additionally the internal

bank holds debt in foreign currencies in order to hedge currency
risk on internal

loans and the book value of net investments including goodwill The internal bank

does not actively take on
currency

risk Infernal loans and deposits are at floating

interest rates and no Group-infernal interest hedging contracts are made

Management of interest rate- and currency risk for Group-external items is

described in more detail in Note 23 for the Group

Other matters

Orkla ASA has entered into total return swap on the Orkla share for hedging of

costs related to management bonus programmes This is further disclosed in Note

for the Group

Further details of the organisation of risk management and the risk related to

financial instruments are disclosed in Note 23 for the Group

Derivatives and hedge-accounting

Currency forward contracts The
currency

risk on the market value of
foreign

shares

in the Share Portfolio is being hedged according to policy with
currency

forward

contracts This is further described in Note 23 for the Group ri
2008 the Share

Portfolio discontinued hedge accounting of
currency hedging instruments

The internal and external
currency

forward contracts and cross currency swaps are

recognised at fair value in the balance sheet with changes of fair value through

profit and loss Currency effects on internal and external loans are also accounted

for through profit and loss

Interest rate swaps External borrowings for the Group predominantly take place

in the name of Orkla ASA Loans originated at fixed interest rates are swapped to

floating interest rates through interest rate swaps These swaps are recognised

as fair value hedges with fair value changes through the profit and loss As of

31 December 2008 the fair value of such interest rate swaps was NOK 768 million

2007 NOK 165 million During the year NOK 604 million was recognised as

financial income from fair value changes of these interest rate swaps and NOK

619 million was recognised as financial cost from fair value changes on the loans

When Orkla hedges future interest payments interest rate swaps where Orkla

receives
floating

interest rates and pays fixed interest rates are used These interest

rate swaps are recognised as cash flow hedges with changes in fair value through

equity hedging reserve As of 31 December 2008 the fair value of these swaps

amounted to NDK 46 million 2007 NDK 10 million

Interest rate swaps with short duration and ERAs are recognised with changes

in fair value through profit and loss The fair value as of 31 December 2008 was

NOK -56 million 2007 NOK -5 million

Equity hedging reserve Development in equity hedging reserve

The hedging reserve is expected to be reclassified to the income statement as

follows

NOK million

After 2009 NOK 50 million

During 2008 no hedging inefficiency on cash flow hedges has been recognised in

the income statement

12 OTHER MATTERS

PAYE tax guarantee

Drkla ASA has bank guarantee to cover Pay-As-You-Earn PAYE tan payable by

employees

Material leases

Orkla ASA leases office premises at Karenslyst nIle Skyen from its subsidiary

Sjlyst Park AS The current lease expires art 31 August 2017 Leasing expenses

amounted to NOK 17 million in 2008

Matters disclosed in the Notes to the Group financial statements

Share-based payment Note

Events after the balance sheet date Note 24

Contingent outcomes Note 24

Shareholders in Orkia ASA

list of the
largest

shareholders in Orkla ASA is presented in the section entitled

Shares and Shareholders on page 84 of the annual report

2007

8719

1074

1171

6283

439

6721

2095

587

27
17

597
27

570

2007

396

1171

17

122

667

187

301
328

27

2008

9483
3092

1188

2217

7747

147
180

7420

28
350

322

245

567

2008

184
1096

50

34
1156
2425
679

866

621
245

2008

2655

2169
41

Reconciliation of total tax charge

Amounts in NOK million

28 0/ of profit before taxes

Effect of tao-free dividends capital gains losses and write-downs

Effect of Group contributions without tax

Effect of other permanent differences

Effect of
withholding tax foreign

dividends

Eftect of change from previous years

Total tax charge for Orkla ASA

2007

2441
1.760

123

50

28 27
18 17

567 570

Amounts in NOK million

Opening balance hedging reserve

Reclassified to income statement financial items

Fair value change during
the

year

Closing balance equity hedging reserve

2008 2007

55 31

33

58 55

2009
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Statement from the Board of Directors Orkia ASA

We confirm that the financial statements for the period January up to and

including 31 December 20D8 to the best of our knowledge have been prepared

ri accordance with applicable accounting standards and
give

true arid fair view

of the assets liabilities financial position and profit or loss of the company and the

group taken as whole and that the management report includes fair review

of the development and performance of the business and the position of the com

pany and the group taken as whole together with description of the principal

risks and uncertainties that they face

Oslo 18 February 2009

The Board of Directors of Orkia ASA

Stein Erik

Hager\
Chairman

Gunn Liab

PnSoI

Svei cobsen

Dep airman

Kristin Skogen und

Qa
Aage Andersen

Ase Aulie Michelet

ag Opedal

President and CEO

LennYJeansson

Peter Ruzicka
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Auditors report for 2008

TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF ORKLA ASA

We have audited the annual financial statements of Orkia ASA as of 31 December

2008 showing loss of NDK 8.916 million for the Parent Company and loss

of NOK 2.965 million for the Group We have also audited the information in the

Directors
report concerning the financial statements the going concern assump

tion and the proposal for the coverage of the loss The financial statements com

prise the financial statements for the Parent Company and the Group The financial

statements of the Parent Company comprise the balance sheet the statements of

income and cash flows the statement of changes in equity and the accompany

ing notes The financial statements of the Group comprise the balance sheet the

statements of income and cash flows the statement of changes in
equity

and the

accompanying notes Simplified IFRS5 pursuant to the Norwegian Accounting Act

3-9 have been applied in the preparation of the financial statements of the Parent

Company IFRS5 as adopted by the EU have been applied in the
preparation

of the

financial statements of the Group These financial statements and the Directors

report are the responsibility of the Companys Board of Directors and President

and Chief Executtve Officer Our
responsibility

is to express an opinion on these

financial statements and on other information
according

to the requirements

of the Norwegian Act on Auditing and Auditors

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws regulations and auditing stan

dards and practices generally accepted in Norway including the auditing standards

adopted by the Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants These auditing standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit inclu

des examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements An audit also includes
assessing

the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation To the extent required by law and auditing

standards an audit also comprises review of the management of the companys

financial affairs and its accounting and internal control systems We believe that our

audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion

the financial statements of the Parent Company are prepared in accordance with

laws and
regulations and present fairly in all material respects the financial

position
of the company as of 31 December 2008 and the results of its operations

and cash flows and the changes in
equity

for the
year

then ended in accordance

with
simplified IFRS5 pursuant to the Norwegian Accounting Act 3-9

the financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with laws and

regulations and present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

the Group as of 31 December 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash

flows and the changes in equity for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS5

as adopted by the EU

the Companys management has fulfilled its duty to properly record and

document the Companys accounting information as required by law and book

keeping practice generally accepted in Norway

the information in the Directors report concerning the financial statements

the going concern assumption and the proposal for the coverage of the loss is

consistent with the financial statements and complies with law and
regulations

Oslo 26 February 2009

ERNST YOUNG AS

Note The tronslotion to English hos been prepored for informotion purposes only

Statement from the Corporate Assembly

TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF ORKLA ASA

The
Corporate Assembly of Orkla ASA has received the Board of Directors proposed annual report and financial statements for 2008 for Orkla ASA and the Group and

recommends that the Annual General Meeting approve the financial statements and the proposal of the Board of Directors for the allocation of profit for 2008

Oslo March 2009

For the Corporate Assembly of Orkla ASA

Knut Brundtland

Chairman of the
Corporate Assembly

State Accountant Norway
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HISTORICAF KEY FIGURES

Historical key figures

Note 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

INCOME STATEMENT

Operating revenues NOK million 65579 63867 52683 55304 32126

EBITA NOK million 4240 5112 5084 4805 2738

Write-down of inventory in Sapa Profiles NOK million 372
Amortisation intangible

assefs NOK million 228 230 216 236

Restructuring and significant impairments NOK million 1282 814 388 312 690

Operating profit NOK million 2358 4068 4480 4257 2041

EBITA-margin 0/a 65 80 97 87 85

Ordinary profit before taxes NOK million 2015 10059 8525 7206 3791

Gains/profit discontinued operations NOK million 55 4109 12529

Profit/loss
for the

year
NOK million 2965 8445 11288 6044 15625

CASH FLOW

Net cash flow NOK million 9571 5216 4882 16855 14051

RETURNS

Return on capital employed excl Orkla Financial Investments u/u 9.4 11.5 13.0 11.4 15.5

Return on Share Portfolio investments 0/u 45.3 16.2 27.4 38.4 21.6

CAPITM AS OF 31 DECEMBER

Book value of total assets NOK million 104926 94792 79612 74609 455551

Market capitalisation NOK million 46223 107817 72690 57655 40951

Equity ratio u/0 47.7 58.3 60.4 50.8 69.6

Net interest-bearing liabilities NOK million 27424 16178 11420 15445 1182

Interest
coverage

ratio 1.1 15.3 15.7 16.9 32.6

Average borrowing rate /a 5.3 4.9 3.9 3.3 3.7

Share of floating interest-bearing liabilities /o 96 75 88 80 77

Average time to maturity liabilities years 4.7 5.3 4.6 4.6 3.5

SHARES

Average number of shares outstanding diluted 1000 1017830 1031292 1034380 1032640 1031278

Average number of shares outstanding 1000 1016315 1027807 1031654 1030329 1029623

SHARE-RELATED KEY FIGURES adjusted for split in 2008

Share price at 31 December NOK 45.45 105.25 70.6 55.9 39.8

Earnings per share diluted NOK 2.8 8.1 10.9 5.6 15.1

Earnings per share diluted adjusted
10 NOK 1.1 9.0 7.3 6.0 3.5

RISK per share 11 NOK na na na 0.37 1.61

Ordinary dividend per share proposed for 2008 NOK 2.25 2.25 2.0 1.5 0.92

Payout ratio 12 0/a 0.8 27.8 29.1 26.7 30.6

Price/earnings ratio 13 16.2 13.0 10.3 9.9 13.5

PERSONNEL

Number of employees 31541 34680 28664 34829 19649

Number of man-years 30937 34854 28309 33541 18420

EBitA Earnings before amortisatisu write-down ot inventory in sapa Profiles restructuring and significant impairments

Aunt l000ary 2005

The additional dividend amounted to NOK iou per share

Before gain no sale of Orklus ioterest in carlsberg Breweries NOK 2.1 per shale

Before net profit and gain on sale from Orkla Media NOK 4.0
per share

Definition

EBITA/Operuting revenue

EBITA/Average net working capital Average tangible assets Average intangible
assets at cost Average net pension liabilities Average defeEEed tax excess value

Market
capitulisation

is calculated on the basis of number of shaEes outstanding AveEage shaEe price at year end

Book
equity/Total

assets

Total interest-beaEing
liabilities Interest-bearing receivables and liquid assets cash bank deposits etc

Profit
before tax Net interest expertses/Net interest expenses

Liabilities with remaining fixed interest for less than one year

Average time to maturity long term interest bearing liabilites and unutilised committed cEedit facilities

Profit for the
year

after minority interests/Average number of shares outstanding diluted at year
end

10 Profit for the year after minority
interests adjusted for amortisation write-down of inventory in Sapa Profiles restructuring significant

impairments and discontinued operations/Average number of shares outstanding diluted at year end

11 RISK regulation of input
taxable value of shares Norwegian shareholders only

12 Ordinary
dividend

per share/Earnings per
share diluted

13 Share price/Earnings POE
share diluted
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AtirNJN ORKLA

Investing in

the Orkia share
Orkias goal for long-term return

Orklas goal is to achieve long-term value growth which exceeds that of relevant

competitive investment alternatives For shareholders this is reflected in the combination

of the long-term performance of the Orkla share and the dividend that is paid out

Orkia is gradually improving its under

lying operations which in turn is

generating higher cash flow and there

by long-term increase in value for

shareholders For Orkia and investors

with long investment horizon it will

therefore be important to measure long-

term value creation in terms of growth

in the Groups underlying operations

Underlying value creation is discussed

in further detail on pages 8o-8

ORKLA SHARE PRICES IN 2008

Closing at 1.12.2007 105.25

High io6.oo

Low 32.90

Closing at 31.12.2008 45.45

THE ORKLA SHARE

Over time Orkia shareholders have

received good return on their

shares In the period from January

1999 to 31 December 2008 the aver

age annual return has been 13

while the
average

return on the Oslo

Stock Exchange was Since 1982

the average annual return has been 23

compared with an average return

of ii on the Oslo Stock Exchange

Orklas share price performance has

also been affected by the financial

crisis In 2008 the price of the Orkla

share excluding dividends fell by

6.8 Including dividends Orkla

shareholders received return of

-55.4% while the Oslo Stock

Exchange Benchmark Index fell by

54.1 in the same period In the past

17 years Orkla has experienced stock

market declines equivalent to the de

cline in 2008 as many as five times

In spite of this the graphs on the next

page show that Orkla has achieved

its goal of delivering long-term

positive excess return on its share

holders investments

At the end of 2008 the Orkla share

was listed at NOK 45.45 Orklas

market capitalisation was therefore

NOK 46.2 billion compared with

NOK 107.8 billion on 31 December

2007

SHAREHOLDER AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Over time Orkias shareholders will

receive competitive return on their

investment through combination

of the cash dividend that is paid out

and the increase in the share price

As long as Orklas underlying per

formance is satisfactory shareholders

will experience steady stable in

crease in the dividend paid out from

level that was raised in 2006 In the

past three
years

Orkia has paid out

an ordinary dividend that has aver

aged 35 of earnings per share

diluted

The Board of Directors proposes to

pay dividend of NOK 2.25 per share

for 2008 The dividend will be paid

out on 6.5.2009 to shareholders of

record on the date of the Annual

General Meeting

04 06 08

500

250

NOK

GROWTH OF NOK 131.12.1982 31.12.2008

Orkla

ORKAS MARKET CAPITALISATION 31.12.1982 31.12.2008

120000

80000

40000

NOK million

Oslo Stock Exchange Benchmark Index

ORDINARY DIVIDEND PER SHARE

NOK

92 94 96 98 00 02

Add rosA vrdcrrd NOK 500 pe ohs

Add So old od rd 00K 0000 shoe

Proposed vidc rid

82 84 86 88 909294969800020406 82 84 86 88 90 92 94 96 98 00 02 04 06 08

78 ORKIA ANNUAl REPORT OO8



BUYBAKS OF TREASURY SHARES

LIa pelntn it U\ 111 inod icl buying bd tic diii 1iii 1iii
iIi 2C Oikbi bociolit total of

cc 00 liaicc ic rLla Ciii\ aliiit tü cif 1d1ec niitct iiidiiig at in 1\ eiag pi it ci cli iii of NOR

Un ii ii the fact lot ti ai kla ho hO1 ht hate of chiirec niitctiithiiig lit hi vc



RO1P1qAIR1Y
iii ANI VA UL CREA11ON

ft kI Iii iv Uiiii haP

ii ii Li
it ii CC dbiVC liii

IV
IVifi

it ii liiC\ ii

Vu dIV ti ViouuIi IiiiiV iiiiitiiiiii to

ii iih oui tiatt

iV it Li pCi it au II it ii

it Vi

Hi ii ti VCH1VLi

IV flIt IC Ii ii

ti HiH if III Hti

ti CI Huh 1V1IiiL

Ci ii ii VVIH iH itiai

Vt lilt Hit Vii

it It
HfiII1ViI1

IV II

Lii HC1 to tlui

if lid iVtC ilitH Cii Viii

Cf1 it iHi Vi ha

lit iii ha iH Ii Vii

Ii liii Ci uppait ill ii il II ii

lii uhulti Ulu HiVi tot 11111 HCI1

ttiuit iI ti
fdi IiiIUViISHi pi.i

ltI Hi

iIf Hi ii HI iud
if

1HV iii

fli
HHiH1 OH

IV Vi ut ii V1iIt
VVI Vi

Ct ii ViliCit Viii Ii

if IV
fill

iii lit

iiiuif
IH liii it

iilt id hi lu ii tlii Vt It ut

thi IliVit lit tH it hi Hi

XICCCIV cti ii
iput

tih Ii

Ii Viti
Vif

it Vii lii tt 1VHiVIH Ithi

Vithil ICH iCHi Vii

iHIVd it COIl tI HV hi Vi ii

ii 1HV it tlH Vii IiiCIi oil

ho hi ii fit oil to th VHCh
Vi

iLI ii .ilh
ii

it

Vii

liii

.ot lit It ia iiiI Vi iii

iliciult ii tt Iii HIt hi liii

Ci

it iii Vu1 il it ii
hVHi otl ha heHiVh hi it

ill iC Ii HHI ii

11 Vi

II

thi

iV

ii

CI VI VVV clii aid itiui

Ii CVV1I VI CIV VXpIH Hi

if titi\ Vi
VHit it

Ili IIH UHVI sI 1IIV V1IH

Iii Iii iii C1I1V1I

ut ii vi Hi iii Vit it

Vi Vii .1 hi ii



VAWE CREATUtjUti

tence that are inherent in the organisa

tion Moreover the ownership positions

that Orkia holds through the Share

Portfolio offer options for the Groups

further industrial development Many

of Orkias major industrial assets started

out as financial investments

The strategies of the various business

areas are described on pages 98-99

TOP LINE GROWTH

AND STRUCTURAL DEVELOPMENT

Orkla has an ambitious strategy for

industrial growth seeking to achieve

growth both organically and through

acquisitions Over time acquisitions will

be Orklas main source of growth

In its efforts to promote growth Orkia

makes full use of its broad range of in

dustrial operations However the Group

has established clear guidelines in its

expansion strategy which require that

growth must be

based on differentiable products that

hold strong positions or have the poten

tial to achieve such positions

within the Groups core competencies

within the geographical areas on which

Orkla is focusing

As fundamental principle Orida selects

opportunities for industrial expansion

on the basis of profitability and the

potential return on investment An

important factor when assessing

candidates for acquisition is the possibi

lity
of realising synergies in terms of

both structural organisation and opera

tional expertise In this way the value

of both existing and acquired businesses

is increased In particular the acquisition

and integration of small companies will

generate synergies that contribute to

increased efficiency and thereby to

future profitability and margin growth

From time to time Orkla makes major

acquisitions or sells businesses as part of

its asset reallocation strategy

ENHANCING COST EFFECTIVENESS

AND CAPITAL EFFICIENCY

Orklas focus on efficient operations

applies to both revenues and expenses

throughout the value chain The Groups

competitiveness must be strengthened

through continuous efforts to improve

cost effectiveness The most significant

projects in this area have been imple

mented in the fields of purchasing and

production/logistics Orkla has built up

central resource staff with the specialised

expertise required to carry out these

improvement processes However Orkla

also recognises the importance of trans

ferring knowledge from the central level

to the individual companies in the

Group distinction is therefore made

between redesign programmes and

continuous improvement programmes

Redesign programmes generate one-off

savings and are often carried out with

support from central staff Continuous

improvement programmes are the on

going processes implemented by the

companies to continuously enhance their

cost-effectiveness and competitiveness

In Orkia Brands Orkla has also built up

central marketing and innovation depart

ment The department not only provides

specialised expertise but also ensures the

spread of best practices This work is

key factor in achieving further top line

growth

Orkla focuses continuously on en

hancing capital efficiency and the

capital base is key element in the

incentive programme for executive

management which is based on

Economic Value Added EVA There is

particular focus on changes in current

capital and replacement investments

the latter defined as the investments

required in order to maintain opera

tions at the current level The follow

ing table shows current capital in

relation to operating revenues and

replacement investments in relation

to depreciation for Orklas industrial

operations over the past three years

Prices for key raw materials fell to

wards the end of 2008 and part of the

inflationary effect on working capital

in 2008 is expected to be reversed in

2009 Net renewal investments were

also higher than in 2007 mainly due

to ongoing restructuring processes
and

the implementation of the approved

business plan for Orkla Aluminium

Solutions which aims to provide

solutions and products that are better

adapted to customer needs

AVERAGE CURRENT CAPITAL AND REPLACEMENT INVESTMENTS1

2008 2007

Average current capital

01o of operating revenues 19.2 /o 18.1

Replacement investments

as /o ot depreciation 122 101

FlorTi dust ol uctlvoies Hero cal guns inst discor hued operot our to 2006-2007

Elker Alumni un had lower p1k input than Orkla
geicri or is

rot icluded i2088

2006

18.3
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Asset values

One possible model for

valuing Orkla is to distin

guish between industrial

assets where the value is

related to future earnings

from continuing operations

and the Groups negotiable

assets which have identi

fiable market values and

where earnings are not

part of Orklas operat

ing profit from industrial

activities

The main data necessary for valua

tion of Orkias assets are presented

below On this basis and by applying

his own assumptions for assessing the

value of the various assets an investor

will be able to undertake valuation

of the Orkla Group

ASSOCIATES

Orkla owns equity interests in several

companies that are reported as

associates The largest of these are

the 39.73 stake in the Renewable

Energy Corporation ASA REC and

the 42.5 stake in Jotun AS REC is

listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and

had market value of NOK 32 billion

at year-end In short time the compa

ny has become one of the global lead

ers in the field of solar energy RECs

operations encompass every stage of

the value chain from production of

raw materials to solar cells and

modules Jotun is well-established

global manufacturer of paint and

powder coatings and holds strong posi

tions in Asia and the Middle East The

company is steadily expanding and

has experienced good organic growth

in the past few years

The key figures for these companies

are shown in Note Investments in

associates accounted for under the

equity method of accounting to the

consolidated financial statements and

under the section entitled Orkla

Associates on pages 112-115

THE SHARE PORTFOLIO

As of 31 December 2008 the Groups

share portfolio had market value of

NOK 11.4 billion Unlisted shares ac

counted for 23 0i of the portfolio while

foreign shares mainly Nordic shares

accounted for 58 Unrealised gains

totalled NOK 847 million at year-end

Gains realised on shares domiciled in

the EEA are tax-free which also means

that losses realised on such shares are

not tax deductible The share portfolio

is presented as current asset at fair

value in the balance sheet In accord

ance with IFRS gains and impairment

charges/losses are reported in the in

come statement For further details

see Note i8 Share Portfolio to the

consolidated financial statements and

the section entitled Orkla Financial

Investments on pages ii6 119

REAL ESTATE

Orklas real estate business Orkia

Eiendom concentrates on developing

properties that largely derive from

the Groups discontinued industrial

operations The capitalised value of

Orklas real estate investments as of

31 December 2008 was NOK 1557

million The carrying value of

development projects was NOK 174

million The biggest projects are

Ringries Park and Idun where Orklas

stake is equivalent to development

potential of 40000 residential

property centrally located in Oslo

Results from Orkla Eiendom are

reported under Orkla Financial

Investments

FORESTS

The Group owns about i.i million de

cares of forest and uncultivated land

of which approximately 8ooooo de

cares are productive forest properties

The forests have capitalised value of

NOK 128 million excluding the fair

value of biological assets.Approximately

100000 m3 is harvested annually The

average market price for timber sold in

2008 was NOK 378 per m3 which is

10 lower than in 2007

In 2008 forested land in the central

area of south-eastern Norway was sold

at prices of between NOK iooo and

AK ANN
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NOK 2500 per decare depending on

the state of the forest and its
geo

graphical location The results from

forestry operations are reported under

Orkla Financial Investments

ELECTRIC POWER

EBITA from the sale of electricity

from the Groups own power plants

and from power trading is reported

under Elkem Energy and Borregaard

Energy In 2008 this amounted to

NOK 776 million The result from

trading operations was negative in

2008 ending at NOK 52 million This

is far lower than the trading results

reported in the last few years which

were as follows

Until 2008 the Group has produced

total of approximately 3.6 TWh of

hydroelectric power in normal year

The expansion of the Saudefaldene

plant was largely completed in 2008

which will increase total Group hydro

power production in 2009 to 4.1 TWh

Of Orklas total production capacity of

4.1 TWh 1.4 TWh is subject to licenc

es containing time limitation rever

sion clauses These licences will run

for an average
of 20 more years

The

remaining 2.6 TWh consists of leased

rights to 2.0 TWh due to expire in

2030 and perpetual rights to o.6 TWh
In 2008 the Storting passed resolu

tion whereby licerices will not be ex

tended beyond the original reversion

dates However the financial value is

intact since these assets may be sold to

central government/municipal compa

nies that are not subject to reversion

rules This means that Orkla must sell

these assets before the licence period

expires

Electric power is sold internally within

the Group on market terms and ex

ternally on the power market through

short-term and long-term contracts

Reference is also made to Note 27

Power and power contracts to the

consolidated financial statements for

further details regarding the power

plants

ELKEM SOLAR

Elkem Solar has for several years been

engaged in research on new more

cost-effective technology and the

manufacture of high purity silicon for

the solar industry In autumn 2006

Orkla decided to invest in production

plant with an annual capacity of

6ooo tonnes of solar-grade silicon

Investment costs relating to the pro
duction plant which was mechanically

completed at the end of 2008 are

estimated to total NOK
4.0-4.2

billion

Costs expensed in 2008 totalled

NOK 381 million and are included in

EBITA for Elkem Silicon related

Production volume is expected to be

built up gradually throughout 2009

reaching full capacity as from 2010

Elkem Solar has contracts covering

deliveries of 100 of the plants

capacity until 2011 and 50 of

capacity in the period 2012 2018

Elkem Solars sales will depend on the

market price of solar-grade silicon at

any given time Once the plant is fully

operational the company aims to keep

operating costs down towards USD 20

per kg

pJtI1q too ii sit lu to sq ii siqi
hOd ii tiuiqes

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

NOK 226 million

NOK 97 million

NOK 131 million

NOK 361 million

NOK 228 million
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Shares and

shareholders
Trading in the Orkia share

The Orkia share is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker code ORK All shares

have equal rights and are freely transferable Orkla is one of the largest companies listed

on the Oslo Stock Exchange and the value of Orkla accounted for 8.9 0/ of the Oslo Stock

Exchange Benchmark Index at the end of 2008 The Orkla share may also be traded through

Orklas Level-i ADR programme in the USA

The value of Orkia shares traded on the

Oslo Stock Exchange in 2008 amounted

to NOK 86.9 billion equivalent to 3.5

of the Exchanges total turnover An

average
of 5.5 million Orkia shares

were traded daily

Call and put options and forwards with

the Orkia share as the underlying share

are listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange

Due to cooperation on stock exchange

and clearing operations between the

Oslo Stock Exchange the Stockholm

Stock Exchange and the equity deriva

tives exchange EDX in London the op
tions are also available on these markets

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

As of December 2008 Orkia had

50613 shareholders compared with

40933 the year before At year-end

of the shares were owned by

foreign investors compared with 42.8

at the beginning of the year list of

Nordic and international brokerage

houses and analysts that track Orkla

ASAs financial performance regularly

may be found on page 129 The list is

updated on Orkias website under

Investor Relations

VOTING RIGHTS AND OWNERSHIP

Orkia has one class of share and each

share carries one vote and has par

value of NOK 1.25

No of shares

500

501 5000

5001-50000

50001 50000

500001-2500 000

cvr 2500000

The voting right for transferred share

may be exercised when the transfer has

been recorded by the Norwegian

Central Securities Depository within

the time limit for giving notice of atten

dance at the General Meeting Under

Norwegian law only shares that are

registered in the name of the share

holder may be voted If the shareholder

is unable to attend the General Meeting

and vote in person he or she may vote

by proxy Notice of attendance at the

General Meeting must be received by

Orkias accountholder DNB Nor

Security service rio later than 4.00 p.m
on 21 April 2009

ISSUE OF SHARES

The Board of Directors holds man

date granted on 24 April 2008 and

valid until the Annual General Meeting

in 2009 to increase share capital by

means of new share subscriptions by

total value of up to NOK 90000000
The capital is to be divided between

maximum of 72000000 shares each

with
par

value of NOK 1.25 The man
date may be utilised for one or more

share issues The
purpose

of the man
date is to simplify procedures for the

Board of Directors if it should
prove

desirable to further develop the Groups

core businesses by acquiring companies

in return for consideration in the form

of subscription of new shares or other-

O/ of capital

45 0/

3.92

6.1800

642 8.85 0/

119 12.68o

48 67.92/o

wise increase share capital by means of

private placings Such mandates have

regularly been granted by previous

General Meetings At the Annual

General Meeting on 23 April 2009 the

Board of Directors will propose that the

mandate be renewed until the Annual

General Meeting in 2010

TREASURY SHARES

On 24 April 2008 the General Meeting

adopted resolution authorising the

Board of Directors to acquire shares in

Orkla ASA with nominal value of up

to NOK 125000000 divided between

maximum of ioooooooo shares pro

vided that the companys holding of

treasury shares does not exceed 10

of shares outstanding at any given time

This mandate is valid until the Annual

General Meeting
in 2009 In 2008 Orkla

purchased iooooooo shares in Orkia

ASA which is equivalent to of

shares outstanding total of 0.7 of

shares outstanding were bought back in

2007 and 0.5 of shares outstanding

were bought back in 2006 As of 31

December 2008 Orkla owned

11917888 treasury shares

At the Annual General Meeting the

Board will
propose

that the Boards man
date to purchase Orkla shares be renewed

until the Annual General Meeting in

2010 Use of the mandate will be deter

mined by the extent to which the Board

of Directors deems the buyback of Orkla

shares to be advantageous for the com

panys shareholders at any given time

Shares acquired in accordance with this

mandate are to be cancelled or used in

connection with employee incentive

programmes in addition to the Groups

employee share purchase programme

21.12.2005

No of shareholders

21302

23827

675
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OWNERSHIP BY FOREIGN INVESTORS

VALUE tRATIQN4

50

Capital

Votes

91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08

Average number of shares outstanding diluted

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Average oo of shares issued 1034955560 1036430970 1041430970 1054029330 1066758715

Aseage of treasury shares 18640916 8624311 -9777465 23700235 -37136125

Average of shares outstanding 1016314644 1027806659 1031653505 1030329095 1029622590

Estimated dilution effect1 1515057 3485305 2726750 2310565 1655540

Average no of shares outstanding diluted 1017829701 1031291964 1034380255 1032639660 1031278130

As of 31 1221080 od 5500 Jo ei 10277 800 opt Oslo cxcuiIve manage oei Soc Ni Ic is dc iso doled Ii ociol state-oents

EMPLOYEE SHARE

PURCHASE PROGRAMME

To
encourage employees to make

long-term commitment to the Group

Orkia has for several years offered

employees the opportunity to purchase

Orkla shares at discount on the

market price The discount was in

creased from 20 to 25 in 2008

In autumn 2008 all employees in

Norway Sweden Denmark Finland

Austria Switzerland Poland Portugal

Romania Slovakia Spain UK USA

Germany Hungary Lithuania the

Netherlands Latvia Estonia Iceland

India Italy Belgium Brazil and the

Czech Republic received an offer to

purchase shares in Orkla ASA for up

to NOK 28000 each at 25 dis

count and based on the closing price

of NOK 42.25 on 12 November 2008

Employees purchased total of

1992381 Orkla shares under this pro

gramme The Group aims to continue

the programme in the years ahead

OPTION PROGRAMME

The Orkla Group has an option

programme for approximately 250

senior managers under which each

manager will in the future be entitled

to buy number of Orkla shares at

specified exercise price At year end

10277000 options had been issued

The scope of the option programme is

moderate equivalent to around of

outstanding shares For further infor

mation on the option programme see

Note Remuneration and contractual

arrangements to the financial state

ments for Orkla ASA

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with shareholders

investors and analysts both in Norway

and abroad is priority for Orkla

The Groups objective is to make certain

that financial markets have sufficient

information about the company to

ensure pricing that reflects underlying

values primary goal of Orklas in

vestor relations activities is to create

confidence by ensuring that all players

have equal access to financial informa

tion

WWW.ORKLA.COM/IR
Orkla publishes all relevant financial

information on its own website

Presentations interim reports annual

reports other financial information

stock exchange notifications and press

releases are posted on Orklas website

as and when they are made public

The website also contains general in

formation regarding the Orkla share

the share price performance and

shareholders

The 20 largest shareholders as of 31.12.2008

Shareholder No of shares 0/a of capital

Canica AS 139542000 13.6 On

Folketrygdfondet 121313110 11 0/n

Tvist AS1 77000000 7.5

JR Morgan Chase Bank Nominee 31283900 3.0 0/n

State St eet Bank and Trust Nominee 27551252 2.7 0o

BNY s/a Templeton Mutual Shares 24350543 2.4 /o

BNY s/a Templeton-Mutual Discovery 20568718 2.0 O/

JR Morgan Chase Bank Nominee 19650000 1.9

Clearstream Banking Nominee 17525161 0/

10 Canica Investor AS 16000000 1.6 0/

11 Drkla ASA 11917888 1.2 Os

12 Rasmussengruppen AS 9804000 1.0 0/

13 BNY s/a Templeton-Mutual Qualified Fund 9599083 0.9

14 JR Morgan Franklin Templeton Lending NomInee 8966651 0.9 0/

15 Dslo Pensjonsforsikring 8500000 0.8

16 JR Morgan Chase Bank Nominee 8409511 0.8

17 BNY s/a Temp eton-Mutual Beacon Fund 8348283 0.8 Os

18 Investors Bank Er Trust Company Nominee 8252748 0.8 0/o

19 DNB Nor Bank ASA 8066014 0.8 0/

20 Vital Forsikring ASA 7899246 0.8 0/

Total shares 584548108 56.8 0/

Total all Orkia shares 1028930970 100.0 0/

Number of outstanding shares 1017013082 98.8 0/

Or 10 Dooerrrber 200801011 Ink 00301 rod reiuted puiiies iso osed their ownership of 239942 000 Oikia shrros equ
vu 11 to

233 Ic of the total number of sharer ii Orklu caoico As JoistS AS aod Cueica iloestor AS urn purl ion reated iv stein Erik Hagen

On 13 july 2607 Franklin Tompleton Oreep di ciosed Is owoersl of of the shares ka Sha ehelders no.6 13 ond

17010 part of the rrar klir Tempo ioo Group

Sho es owned by Orkiu cur p10501 nq right
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Risk factors

General conditions challenging risk reducing measures intensified

As result of external factors the Groups overall risk level increased in 2008 At the same

time measures to reduce risk are considered to have been strengthened but all in all they

have not been able to offset the dramatic changes in external operating conditions Neverthe

less when the effects of diversification are also taken into account Orkla is still an organisation

that relatively speaking does not take high risks in relation to its risk-bearing ability The

Group is heavily engaged in relatively stable industries such as branded consumer goods and

hydropowe while the materials aluminium solar energy and financial investments sectors are

more volatile

Orklas overall risk level and risk-

reducing measures are largely related

to ongoing business issues faced by

the individual companies The risk

level in the respective business areas

can be described as combination of

probability and consequence illustrat

ed in the risk matrix on the next page
When carrying out risk assessment

both inherent and current risk levels

are assessed as well as the expected

future residual risk if further measures

are implemented

As it is unpractial to comment specifi

cally on each individual risk factor and

risk-reducing measure this chapter

therefore focuses on general risk fac

tors that affect cash flow and/or equity

and thus the valuation of the Orkla

Group Orklas risk
exposure

is largely

divided into strategic operational and

financial risks

Orkias strategic risk exposure is

related to the Groups overall assess

ments and decisions which for iii

stance are affected by the underlying

operational and financial risk factors

Orklas
exposure

to operational risk is

affected by both company-specific in

ternal factors and external factors for

instance those related to particular

sector or geographical market The in

ternal and external factors are sorted

into groups also referred to as risk

categories The most important in

ternal risk categories are processes

technology employees and manage-

ment The most important external

categories are operating parameters

suppliers market and other factors in

cluding risks that are triggered by the

spread of diseases for example salmo

nella undesirable acts for example

sabotage and meteorological and

geological factors such as extreme

drought cold precipitation and earth

quakes Financial risks are related to

factors such as access to capital and

liquidity changes in interest rates

changes in exchange rates counter-

party risk and financial contracts

uniform methodical approach to the

description of risks makes it possible

to compare risk levels across risk cate

gories and business areas and statisti

cal methods are used in the assess

ment of risk levels and risk bearing

ability This contributes to quality

assurance of the overall management

of the Groups risk profile To avoid too

great concentration of risk at Group

level exposure to individual units

sectors and geographical areas is close

ly monitored

Strategic risk

The financial and economic crisis that

began in 2008 is affecting Orklas busi

nesses Businesses particularly exposed

to cyclical trends such as Orkla

Aluminium Solutions Orkla Materials

and Orkla Financial Investments are

feeling the impact the most while Orkia

Brands is less affected by the crisis At

Group level the following factors have
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particular influence on the risk picture

Lower global demand

More difficult conditions for

expansion due to lower cash flow

and costlier financing

Higher settlement risk related

to customer insolvency

Greater risk of suppliers of strategic

raw materials becoming insolvent

Difficult operating conditions due to

significant fluctuations in currency rates

Due to Orklas diversified portfolio and

solid balance sheet the Group is basi

cally well placed to weather the chal

lenging macro economic situation Risk-

reducing measures have at the same

time been intensified in step with the

growing uncertainty There is however

an inherent risk related to the absence

of optimisation of the Groups asset

portfolio and consequently there is

continuous focus on and an opportunis

tic attitude towards developing the

Groups asset portfolio

There is also considerable focus on

opportunity risk risk related to missed

opportunities This entails for instance

not having the financial leeway to take

advantage of commercial opportunities

that are likely to
crop up in the after

math of the crisis Ensuring that the

Group continues to have sufficient free

dom of action and flexibility is therefore

priority

Operational risk

Generally speaking the short-term risk

level is highest in the most cyclical in

dustries This is particularly the case for

Orkla Aluminium Solutions but also

for Orkla Materials and parts of Orkla

Associates RE The proportion of the

Groups total risk in these areas must be

seen in conjunction with the size of the

businesses investments and infrastruc

ture and the potential loss of value that

this represents For Orkla Financial

Investments risk is primarily related

to changes in the value of the Share

Portfolio where it is mainly question

of balance-sheet risk and to lesser

degree cash flow risk as is the case for

the other operative units

Orkla Brands

For Orkla Brands declining margins

constitute the greatest risk On the in

come side risk is primarily related to

inability to successfully adjust prices

in step with changing raw material

and packaging prices the stronger

negotiating position of grocery market

actors lack of innovative ability the

gradual erosion of brand positions

focus on the negative health effects

of certain products and the increased

presence of powerful international

actors On the cost side underlying

price increases especially raw material

prices but also wage hikes as well as

unfavourable exchange rate develop

ment entail significant risk To coun

teract pressure on prices Orkla makes

active use of innovations and con

tinuously enhances its improvement

programmes The complexity oL and

risk in the value chain from sea or

land to table is another area on which

attention is focused for instance by

carrying out supplier audits

Orkla Aluminium Solutions

The greatest risk for Orkla Aluminium

Solutions is linked to the degree to

which Sapa Profiles meets the acquisi

tion assumptions on which the

establishment of the new business

in 2007 was based Despite the major

challenges posed by the short term

market conditions the goals an

nounced in the long-term business

plan have been maintained In addi

tion particularly in the short term

there is critical risk related to volume

trends and low margins for value-

added aluminium profiles Extensive

efforts are being made to ensure

LOW

Consequence

MEDIUM

CRITICAL

INSIGNIFICANT

SIGNIFICANT

The figure illustrates the relative risk exposure between Orkias different business areas Due to

ncreased risk concentration towards cyclical industries Drklas overall risk level has ncreased

somewhat from 2006/2007 However the Groups total risk exposure is still not considered to

be high compared to its ability to tolerate risk

HIGH
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sufficient flexibility in both the cost

base and prices and capacity is con

tinuously adapted

Market risk for Sapa Heat Transfer

and Building System is considered to

be somewhat lower than for Profiles

However there is some risk due to the

fact that relatively small part of the

business is in the Asian market which

is assessed to have considerable

growth potential

Orkia Materials

Elkem Solar constitutes the greatest

risk factor for Orkla Materials The

project has now reached the final stage

and the organisation has long been

working actively and systematically

to prepare for production start up
Nevertheless it must be assumed that

there is considerable risk related to

ramping up production with associat

ed impacts on financial results in 2009

Apart from this uncertainty is pre

sumed to be limited provided that it is

not necessary to undertake
any major

conversion while production is being

ramped up in 2009

The financial crisis is impacting on

Elkem in the form of significant pres

sure on prices and volumes To reduce

the effects of declining demand Elkem

initiated corresponding cuts in produc

tion capacity There is also strong

focus on preventing losses arising

from defaults on contracts particularly

with regard to payment obligations

Elkem is also exposed to risk related to

the supply and price of raw materials

freight rates power costs for the sili

con business and currency fluctuations

USD and EUR in connection with

ferrosilicon/foundry financial risk

management function has been estab

lished in Elkem to monitor financial

hedging as well as the trading busi

ness by means of clear mandates and

daily Value at Risk figures

Borregaard is exposed to risk related to

currency fluctuations especially USD

energy prices thermal energy
and elec

tric power strategic raw materials and

generally low profitability in the indus

try The process of closing Borregaards

plant in Switzerland was concluded in

the start at 2009 and thus reducing

Borregaards risklevel

Orkia Associates

Associates largely consist of Orklas

investments in REC and Jotun The in

vestment in REC represents critical

but acceptable risk for the Orkla Group

For further information about risk fac

tors for this company reference is made

to RECs website www.recgroup.com

Orklas equity interest in Jotun is not

considered to entail significant risk

Reference is made to Jotuns website for

further information www.jotun.com

Orkia Financial Investments

For Orkla Financial Investments the

greatest risk is related to further

decline on the stock market and the

consequent reduction in the value of

the Share Portfolio As result of the

financial crisis the value of the port

folio fell substantially in 2008 although

marginally less than comparable in

dexes Focus on good diversification

and continuous assessment of an in

crease in the Groups cash position

will help to limit this risk

Orklas Share Portfolio is primarily

concentrated on listed shares in the

Nordic countries More information

on matters related to the structure

and composition of the Share Portfolio

may be found in Note i8 to the

consolidated financial statements

The financial crisis has also height

ened challenges in the markets for

financial services Orkla Finans and

real estate Orkla Eiendom For Orkla

Finans risk is largely related to its

business model and the success of

efforts to reorient activities from

short term projects to more long-term

management revenues Risk for Orkla

Eiendom is primarily related to the

completion of projects risk in partly

owned companies and overall real

estate market trends Both businesses

represent relatively low potential loss

es at Group level

Orkia HQ/Other Business

Orkla HQ accounts for minor pro

portion of the Groups overall risk ex

posure but large proportion of con

tingency risks risks that are unlikely

to occur but that would have signifi

cant impact such as risk related to

compliance with laws and regulations

financial reporting taxation intellectu

property rights reputation and

corporate governance The Group

Executive Board monitors these risks

through ongoing operational reporting

and regular meetings with among

others the central treasury depart

ment

Financial risk

The financial crisis has rendered

financing conditions extremely difficult

However Orkla had strong balance

sheet with an equity to assets ratio of

and net gearing of 0.55 at the

end of 2008 The Group also has ro

bust financing structure with long-term

committed drawing facilities that will

more than cover refinancing needs in

2009 and 2oO Consequently the refi

nancing risk is considered to be low but

the geared ability to expand is limited

In many business areas Orkla has pro

duction and sales operations in several

different countries and is exposed to

financial risks such as price risk for

raw materials and finished products

currency risk interest rate risk

liquidity risk and credit risk more

detailed discussion of Orklas financial

risk factors and risks relating to hedge

instruments may be found in Note 23
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Corporate

governance
Orklas principles for good corporate governance aim to

provide the basis for long-term value creation to the benefit

of shareholders employees and society at large

VALUE cRNIrng

These principles cannot replace efforts

to promote sound corporate culture

but must be viewed in conjunction with

them Openness transparency account

ability and equal treatment underpin

confidence in the Orkia Group both

internally and externally

Statement of policy on

corporate governance

The Board of Directors at Orkia will at

all times ensure good corporate gover

nance and ensure that Orkla complies

with the Norwegian Code of Practice

for Corporate Governance issued on

December 2004 and last issued in

revised edition on December 2007

The topic of corporate governance
is

subject to annual assessment and

discussion by the Board which also

reviews the text of this chapter of the

annual report

The following review of Orklas prin

ciples for corporate governance
is in

accordance with the system followed in

the latest version revised in 2007 of

the Code of Practice This policy state

ment covers every single point in the

Code of Practice and describes the way

in which Orkla complies with the Code

Orkla has drawn up separate guidelines

for corporate ethical and social respon

sibility and conduct which may be

found on the Orkla website under

CR

Activities

Orklas mission statement is as follows

The objectives of the company are

to engage in activities comprising

industry commerce forestry transport

finance the acquisition and sale of

securities and other investments the

purchase sale development and man

agement of real estate the publication

of newspapers magazines and other

media services and any other activity

connected with the aforementioned

objectives The activities are conducted

by the company itself or by its sub

sidiaries in Norway and abroad

In accordance with its mission state

ment Orkla operates in several areas

In the past few decades the companys

basic structure has been concentrated

on household branded consumer goods

speciality materials and financial invest

ments The Group has long-term

approach and has created substantial

excess value for shareholders This an

nual report presents the goals and main

strategies of the Orkla Group and its

individual business area

Equity and dividends

As of 31 December 2008 Group equity

totalled NOK 50.1 billion which is

decline in equity of around NOK
billion compared with 2007 The

change is mainly explained by the re

sult for the year
the dividend paid out

and reduction of unrealised gains in the

share portfolio Orkla has pursued

consistent shareholder and dividend

policy for many years
This policy will

continue to apply Details of dividend

policy and paid-out dividends may be

found in the chapter entitled Investing

in the Orkla Share on pages 78-79

On 24 April 2008 Orklas General

Meeting adopted resolution to grant

the Board of Directors mandate to in

crease share capital by means of new

share subscription to total value of up

to NOK 90000000 divided between

maximum of 72000000 shares each

with par value of NOK 1.25 This

mandate applies for one year and may
be utilised for one or more share issues

It is intended to simplify the process in

the event it becomes relevant to further

develop the Groups priority areas by

acquiring companies in return for

remuneration in the form of newly

subscribed shares or by increasing

share capital through private placings

Similar mandates have regularly been

granted by previous General Meetings

At the same time the Board of Directors

was given mandate to buy back up

to ioaooo000 Orkla shares so that the

company as prescribed by law can

acquire and hold up to io of the

share capital similar mandate has

been granted each year
since 1998 The

treasury shares are purchased on the

stock exchange The chapter entitled

Shares and Shareholders on pages

84-85 gives more detailed explanation

of how this mandate has been utilised

Equal treatment of shareholders and

transactions with related parties

Orkia has one class of share and each

share entitles the holder to one vote

Further details of voting rights at

General Meetings are provided in the

chapter entitled Shares and

Shareholders on pages 84-8

The companys policy has been not to

dilute the shareholdings of existing

shareholders and in accordance with

this policy there have been no actual

increases in capital in the company in

recent years
The companys transac

tions in treasury shares are effected in

accordance with good stock exchange

practice in Norway

Orkla seeks to conform to the prin

ciples for equal treatment of share

holders and possible transactions with

related parties that are laid down in the
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Code of Practice and is generally

cautious as regards transactions with

shareholders members of the Board of

Directors executive lilanagenielit or

parties related to the above In order to

avoid
any

detriment to the Groups

reputation the Board of Directors con

siders it important to pursue policy of

transparency and caution in connection

with investments that may be consid

ered to entail an unfortunately close

relationship between the company and

member of the Board of Directors or

related parties In the Rules of

Procedure for the Board of Directors

the Board has therefore clarified the

requirements that apply to the
process

ing of transactions in which both the

company and member of the Board of

Directors may have interests

The company has drawn up special

guidelines for the private investments

of the executive management and

selected experts containing rules

regarding the obligation to actively in

vestigate investments the obligation to

obtain prior approval of investments

reporting obligations and disqualifica

tion in connection with Orklas internal

administrative procedures The objec

tive is to ensure compliance with public

and internal rules

Freely negotiable shares

All Orkia shares carry equal rights and

are freely negotiahle Transactions in

the Orkla share are described in more

detail under Shares and Shareholders

on pages 84-85

General meeting

Orkla seeks to ensure that as many

shareholders as possible are able to

exercise their rights by participating

in general meetings and that general

meetings are an effective forum for

shareholders and the Board of

Directors The general meeting is held

every year
before the end of May

The date of the
2009

Annual General

Meeting has been set for 23 April

Notice of general meetings and sup

porting information are distributed at

the latest two weeks prior to the date

of the general meeting arid are made

available on Orklas website under

Investor Relations no later than 21

days before the general meeting

Notification may be given in writing

by telefax or online and the final date

for notification is three working days

prior to the general meeting

Shareholders who are unable to attend

may vote by proxy
Further information

regarding use of proxies and the right

to shareholders to submit matters for

consideration at general meetings is

provided in both the notice of the

general meeting and on Orklas website

Under the Code of Practice the

Board of Directors the Nomination

Committee and the auditor must all

attend the general meeting At Orkla

general meetings the auditor the

Chairman of the Board of Directors

and the Chairman of the Nomination

Committee are always present to

answer questions Other members

of the Board and the Nomination

Committee normally participate

From the company management
the Group CEO and CFO are present

and other Executive Vice Presidents

have attended as necessary
In accord

ance with the companys Articles of

Association the general meeting

is chaired by the Chairman of the

Corporate Assembly

Nomination Committee

Pursuant to the Articles of Association

Orkla has Nomination Committee

that is elected by the General Meeting

The Committee consists of two to five

members and the General Meeting

elects the Chairman of the Nomination

Committee from among these mem
bers The members are elected for

term of up to two years at the time and

the General Meeting determines the

remuneration of the Nomination

Committee The Committees responsi

bilities are to present reasoned propos

als to the General Meeting concerning

the election of shareholder-elected

members to Orklas Corporate

Assembly arid proposals to the share

holder-elected members of the

Corporate Assembly concerning their

election of members to the Board of

Directors Information regarding which

members are up for election and how

input and proposals can be submitted

to the Nomination Committee is posted

on Orklas website under Investor

Relations Arrangements are made to

enable the general meeting to vote on

each of the candidates

The Nomination Committee also

presents proposal to the entire

Corporate Assembly concerning the

election of the Chairman and deputy

chairman of the Board of Directors

The Committee is then supplemented

by representative appointed by the

employee elected members of the

Corporate Assembly Details concerning

the composition of the Committee may

be found on
page

128 The company

management and the Board of

Directors are not represented on the

Nomination Committee

The composition and independence

of the Corporate Assembly and Board

of Directors

The composition of the companys gov

erning bodies is described on page 128

The Corporate Assembly is composed

with view to ensuring that it represents

broad cross-section of the companys

shareholders As prescribed by law the

Corporate Assembly elects its Chairman

and normally meets three times year In

2008 the General Meeting determined

term of service of one year for share

holder-elected members and deputy

members based on the rationale that an

annual assessment of the overall compo
sition of the Corporate Assembly will

ensure greater flexibility

The Chairman and the deputy chairman

of the Board of Directors are elected by
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the Corporate Assembly on the basis of

proposals submitted by the Nomination

Committee Pursuant to the Articles of

Association the shareholder-elected

members of the Board may be elected

for term of up to two years In 2007

the Nomination Committee announced

itsintention to propose term of service

of one year for shareholder-elected mem
bers and deputy members This intention

was followed up in 2008 and all the

shareholder-elected members of the

Board are therefore up for election in

2009 more detailed description of the

background qualifications and term of

service of each member of the Board of

Directors and the number of Orkia shares

they own is provided on pages 22-23

The composition of the Board of

Directors meets the requirements of the

Code of Practice with respect to Board

members independence of the compa

nys executive management main share

holders and material business relation

ships and there are few instances of

disqualification in connection with the

consideration of matters at Board meet

ings Representatives of the executive

management are not members of the

Board of Directors Pursuant to Article

of Orkias Articles of Association the

shareholder-elected members of the

Board of Directors are required to own

shares in the company

Pursuant to Norwegian law employees

must be represented in the governing

bodies of the company On this basis

and in accordance with the current

system of corporate democracy Group

employees have the right to elect seven

of the 21 members of the Corporate

Assembly of Orkla ASA Similarly

Group employees have the right to

elect three members to the Board of

Directors of Orkia ASA and two

observers

The work and responsibilities of the

Corporate Assembly and the Board

of Directors

The Corporate Assembly is charged by

law with oversight and supervisory re

sponsibilities in respect of the company

and the Board together with electing

the members and chairman of the

Board of Directors

The law stipulates that the responsibili

ties of the Board of Directors include

the overall management and oversight

of the company Each year the Board

of Directors adopts specific meeting

and activity plan for the following year

This plan covers strategic planning

other relevant business issues and

oversight activities The Boards activity

plan for 2008 stipulated eight meetings

one of which was scheduled for day

and half to deal with strategic
issues

In addition to this the Board has held

three meetings total of meetings

were therefore held in 2008 at which

the Board dealt with total of

matters The content of the work of

the Board of Directors is discussed in

further detail on pages 8-2 of the

Report of the Board of Directors

The responsibilities of the Board of

Directors are laid down in the Rules

of Procedure for the Board of Directors

which was adopted by the Board on

November 2004 and last revised

on May 2007 The Boards Rules

of Procedure which may be found

on Orklas website under Investor

Relations contain provisions regard

ing the responsibilities and duties of

the Board of Directors the general

HOW ORKLAS GOVERNING BODIES ARE ELECTED

EMPLOYEES OF ORKLA COMPANIES THE GENERAL MEETING

Elect in accordance with the Orkla Groups Elects on the basis of recommendation

system of corporate democracy by the Nomination Committee

THE CORPORATE ASSEMBLY

employee-elected members The entire Corporate Assembly elects its own Chairman 14 shareholder-elected members

employee-elected members THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Are elected on the basis of recommendation

by the Nomination Committee

employee-elected observers The entire Corporate Assembly elects the Chairman of the Board members

The ret Jpddt iegu iIy 01 Qrkt webs te

shareholder-elected
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managers duty to inform the Board

about important matters and the

administrative procedures of the Board

The Board has established permanent

Compensation Committee and
per

manent Audit Committee These com
mittees do not make resolutions but

supervise the work of the company

management on behalf of the Board of

Directors and
prepare matters for the

Boards consideration within their

specialised areas The committees

mandates are included in the Rules of

Procedure for the Board of Directors

The Compensation Committee is

chaired by the Chairman of the Board

of Directors Stein Erik Hagen and in

2008 the other members were Ase

Aulie Michelet and Aage Andersen

The Senior Vice President Human

Resources/Organisation is the commit

tee secretary The Audit Committee is

chaired by the Deputy Chairman of the

Board of Directors Svein Jacobsen

and in 2008 the other members were

Lennart Jeansson and Per Arnfinn

Solberg The Chief Internal Auditor is

the secretary of the Audit Committee

The Board of Directors carries out an

evaluation of its activities each year and

discusses improvements in the organi

sation and implementation of its work

An external person has regularly been

used to organise the evaluation of the

Boards work

Risk management and internal control

Every senior manager at Orkla is re

sponsible for risk management and

internal control in his or her area of

responsibility with view to ensuring

exploitation of business opportuni

ties targeted safe high-quality and

cost-effective operations reliable

financial reporting and compliance

with current legislation and regula

tions Orkias risk management system

is fundamental to the achievement of

these goals

The Groups Chief Risk Officer CR0
helps to ensure that all risk which is

significant for Orklas goals is identi

fied analysed effectively managed

and exploited across business areas

and professional disciplines This

entails among other things

Continuously monitoring important

risk indicators in order to reassess

the Groups level of risk if necessary

Drawing up and maintain instructions

and guidelines for risk management

emergency response and continuous

operations

Assisting in the implementation of

coherent risk management in ongoing

operations and in connection with

projects and major decisions

Presenting Orklas consolidated risk

profile to the Group Executive Board

the Board of Directors and the Boards

Audit Committee as well as suggest

ing adequate risk accept-criterias

Facilitating the spread of best risk

management practices throughout the

Group

Participating in internal board reviews

of the risk pictures/risk maps of each

business area to ensure that formal risk

assessments are uniformly carried out

presented discussed and concluded

Carrying out detailed risk analyses

in particularly exposed areas

Identifying communicating and

monitoring risk factors that are

critical to the Group in order to ensure

that adequate risk mitigation meas

ures are in place and avoid too great

consentration of risk in special areas

Ensuring that Orklas risk manage
ment is in accordance with relevant

regulatory requirements and in the

best interests of Orklas stakeholders

Being responsible for selected

measures to mitigate risk at Group

level

In addition to the linear top down/

bottom-up risk management process

based on the businesses value chain

risk management forum led by the

CR0 has been established where risk

managers from the various business

areas meet once every quarter to ex

change experience and knowledge

As part of the Groups internal control

system Orkla has an internal audit

function which cooperates with the

Chief Risk Officer and the external

auditor and has the following tasks

Verify that internal control procedures

that mitigate risk have actually been

established and are functioning as

intended

Assist the Board of Directors the

Group Executive Board and the busi

ness areas by providing auditing com

petence and capacity which includes

monitoring and control of selected

companies in the Group

Receiver of reports of irregularities

under the Groups whistle-blowing

system Further information on this

system may be found on Orkias

website under CR

The internal audit function is inde

pendent of the line since the Chief

Auditor reports to the Boards Audit

Committee and in special cases to the

Chairman of the Corporate Assembly

To ensure ongoing monitoring of in

dividual companies all boards of opera

tional subsidiaries are required to make

the companys risk picture and internal

audit an item of their agenda at least

once year

Remuneration of

the Board of Directors

All remuneration of the Board of

Directors is disclosed in Note to the

financial statements of Orkla ASA The

note shows that remuneration of the

Board of Directors is not linked to the

Groups performance and that no

ptions have been issued to members

of the Board of Directors

Remuneration of

the executive management
The Boards Compensation Committee

presents recommendation concerning

the terms and conditions for the

President and CEO to the Board of
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Directors and monitors the general

terms and conditions for other senior

employees of the Group The Board

assesses the President and CEO and

his terms and conditions once year

description of the remuneration of

the executive management and the

Groups conditions policy including

the scope and organisation of bonus

and share-related programmes is given

in the Board of Directors statement of

guidelines for the remuneration of ex

ecutive management cf Note to the

financial statements of Orkla ASA The

Board of Directors statement of guide

lines is considered by the Corporate

Assembly and sent to shareholders

together with the notice of the Annual

General Meeting

At the General Meeting on 24 April

2008 shareholders were given an expla

nation of the Groups conditions policy

and the Board of Directors statement

of guidelines for the remuneration of

executive management An advisory

vote was held on the Boards statement

of guidelines for executive remunera

tion for the coming accounting year

and the General Meeting adopted

resolution endorsing the Boards

statement of guidelines The General

Meeting also endorsed the guidelines

proposed by the Board for the continua

tion of an option programme for execu

tive management and the continuation

of the general employee share purchase

programme

Information and communications

Orkla seeks to ensure that its account

ing and financial reporting are worthy

of the confidence of investors Orklas

accounting procedures are highly trans

parent and since the beginning of 2005

Orkla has prepared and presented its fi

nancial statements in accordance with

the International Financial Reporting

Standards IFRS The Audit

Committee of the Board of Directors

monitors the companys reporting on

behalf of the Board

Orkla strives to communicate actively

and openly with the market The com

panys annual and quarterly reports

contain extensive information on the

various aspects of the companys activi

ties The companys quarterly presen

tations are transmitted directly on the

Internet and may be found on Orklas

website together with the quarterly

and annual reports under Investor

Relations comprehensive detailed

presentation of other information

reports and documents may also be

found on Orkias website All share

holders are treated equally as regards

access to financial information The

Groups Investor Relations Department

is responsible for maintaining regular

contact with company shareholders

and the Board is also regularly in

formed about the companys investor

relations activities The financial calen

dar for 2009 may be found on Orklas

webs ite under Investor Relations and

at the very beginning of this Annual

Report

Takeovers

The Board of Directors will not seek

to hinder or obstruct any takeover bid

for the companys activities or shares

unless there are particular reasons for

doing so In the event of such bid as

discussed in section 14 of the Code of

Practice the Board of Directors will

seek to comply with the recommenda

tions therein as well as with relevant

legislation and regulations

Auditor

The Board of Directors has determined

the procedure for the external auditors

regular reporting to the Board Each

autumn the external auditor presents to

the Board of Directors his assessment of

risk internal control and the quality of

financial reporting at Orkia at the same

time presenting
his audit plan for the

following year The external auditor also

takes part in the Boards discussions on

the annual financial statements On

both occasions the Board of Directors

ensures that the Board and the external

auditor are able to discuss relevant

matters without the presence of the

management The external auditor and

the President and CEO attend all meet

ings of the Boards Audit Committee

As regards the work of the internal

auditor reference is made to the section

above on risk management and inter

nal control

Orkla has established guidelines for the

right of the general management to use

the external auditor for services other

than auditing Responsibility for

monitoring such use in detail has been

delegated to the secretary of the Audit

Committee who is the Chief Internal

Auditor The secretary of the Audit

Committee receives an annual summa

ry
from the external auditor of services

other than auditing that have been

provided to Orkia and includes sepa

rate comments on these services in his

annual report to the Audit Committee

and the Board of Directors Details of

the companys and Groups use and

remuneration of the external auditor

are given in Note to the financial

statements of Orkla ASA Both the

Corporate Assembly and the General

Meeting are informed about the

Groups remuneration of the auditor

broken down into remuneration for

statutory auditing and remuneration

for other assistance/services

The auditor confirms his independence

regarding the participation in the

Auditing Committee and the Boards

discussions on the annual financial

statements
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Corporate

responsibility

Orklas most important

contribution to the local

communities in which the

Group operates is to develop

efficient profitable and

competitive businesses that

provide jobs tax revenues

and products that society

needs

Orkias Goals arid Values Principles

of Corporate Governance and Code of

Conduct describe the principles for

corporate responsibility at Orkla and

the general responsibility of the

Groups management and employees

in this respect Orkia also has policy

documents for specific areas

Orkla is committed to operating in

accordance with the principles set forth

in the UN Global Compact which is

largely based on the Universal

Declaration of Human Rights the

Kyoto Treaty the ILO declaration and

anti-corruption instruments

Orkla wishes to engage in sustainable

business and investment practices

that contribute to long term economic

environmental and social develop

ment Orklas products and services

must be reliable in terms of quality

origin and impact on both personal

health and the environment

By conducting ethically sound busi

ness operations Orkla will create

solid basis for confidence in the com

pany The very foundation of good

corporate governance is sound

corporate
culture underpinned by

appropriate operational management

and control systems

Orkla pursues business opportunities

while respecting human and labour

rights and continuously assessing the

social impact of its business opera

tions

Orkla will be sensitive to changes in

societys general perception of good

business practices and will evaluate

and adjust its own practices when

necessary

Roles and responsibilities

In order to ensure that Orklas busi

ness practices are in accordance with

the Groups corporate responsibility

principles each business unit is

responsible for evaluating the social

impact of its own activities and for

allocating sufficient resources and de

veloping measures to ensure that these

principles are observed Orklas Board

of Directors and Group Executive

Board address relevant issues in this

field as necessary
but also conduct an

overall annual review

At Group level the topic of corporate

responsibility is regularly discussed

and followed up in Orklas Corporate

Responsibility Forum which com

prises staff from various corporate

functions and from all business areas

From principle to practice

Each business unit must have appro

priate procedures for identifying po
tential conflicts of interest with respect

to particularly sensitive functions

transactions or areas of responsibility

As part of the effort to raise awareness

of employees attitudes to ethics and

social responsibility work continued

in 2008 on dilemma training which

consists of series of exercises in

handling ethical dilemmas and com

plex and conflicted situations that may
be encountered by Orkla employees

and managers

This training programme has been

carried out for new companies new

employees management teams and

trade union representatives either as

part of the integration process and

introductory programmes or as part

of ordinary management development

programmes The purpose is to pre

pare employees to deal with situations

that may arise and ensure that they

are familiar with the ethical principles

embodied in the Groups standards

Work on dilemma training and ethical

awareness-raising will continue

More information on corporate re

sponsibility may be found on Orklas

website www.orkla.com/cr Orkla also

issues separate sustainability report

available on the same website
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Environment
health and safety

Orkla engages in sound long-term sustainable operations acknowledging its responsibility for

its employees society and the environment This is prerequisite for future profitable growth

Accidents and poor health can ruin

human lives and have adverse effects

on business enterprises in the form of

sickness absence production loss and

damaged equipment and material

The basic aim of EHS risk assessments

at Orkla is to gain control of con

ditions exposed to risk ensuring that

no one is injured or becomes ill due

to work-related factors and reducing

serious incidents Every unit must

continuously assess its risk picture so

as to be able to carry out systematic

EHS and improvement activities

good risk culture ensures that proce

dures and rules are complied with and

is essential if risk management is to be

natural part of day-to-day operations

The working environment

health and safety

good safe working environment is

prerequisite for success One of the

main indicators of how well Orkla

runs its businesses and utilises its

resources is the Lost Work Day Rate

LWDR low injury rate indicates

that operations are well-organised

which means operating at no risk to

life or health and that the workforce

can be used in good productive way
Orklas vision is to achieve zero harm

In the past few
years

Orklas LWDR

rate has been around 10 but the rate

has varied considerably from one com

pany to another Orkla is not satisfied

with this result and has intensified its

efforts to reduce the number of work

injuries This is laborious
process

that calls for special efforts on the part

of management but the contribution

of all employees is required if the

injury rate is to be reduced

activities include the consumption of

significant amounts of energy and

substantial emissions of greenhouse

gases
Orkla is mindful of its responsi

bility for environmental issues

throughout the value chain from the

production of raw materials to custom

ers and consumers use of the finished

products This work has been priori

tised for many years through focus

on such areas as developing energy-

efficient operations and reducing

environmental emissions Orkla con

siders the development of environ

mentally friendly technology and

alternative energy sources to be crucial

to improving the climate situation

Focusing on solar energy by investing

in Elkem Solar and REC is Orklas

most important contribution In

addition Borregaard has over time

developed unique bio-refinery con

cept based on timber which provides

sustainable alternatives to oil-based

products

Orkla believes it is essential to develop

realistic goals and strategies for

preventing climate change However

this is time-consuming compre

hensive process since there are no

clear principles or guidelines for pre

paring complete set of climate ac

counts Orkla has therefore adopted

broad-based approach and has entered

into cooperation agreements with

several external research institutions

with view to gaining more knowl

edge The aim is to assess and docu

ment climate impacts throughout the

value chain life-cycle analyses in

order to be able to formulate specific

goals and plans for reducing green

house
gas

emissions

situation that poses several challenges

in relation to the local environment

Environmental work must generally

be carried out in accordance with the

guidelines in the international envi

ronmental standard ISO 14000

National legislation and local environ

mental requirements must be com

plied with and Orkla companies in

vest great deal of effort in meeting

the growing environmental demands

of employees customers consumers

and society at large Each enterprise

sets targets prepares activity plans

and establishes systems to secure and

report on its environmental activities

More information on Orklas EHS

work and activities and results

for 2008 can be found in the EHS

report on the Orkla website

www.orkla.com/ehs/2oo8

Environment climate and energy

The consequences of Orklas industrial

Orkla factories are major employer

in many towns and communities

NeFirher oF ejuriec boiling to ebreece per mililue hours worked

OkKFA ANNtJAI 2808 95
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hot regaard has one of the most advanced biorefinehes

in the world and leading position in manufacturing of

chemicals materials and fuels hased on renewable biomass

The company is continuously working towards developing

and commerciahzing its innovation portfolio

Lahoi atOf lOt

business cl.ve .nient

In Borrecaarrts biorefi nedes many clsffere nt products from

boia.ss substtu 101 oL baseci products are produced

Borreçaarcds new laboratory for biorebne
ry expenments \nis

openìed in sarpstiorçf last Septemoer Tue laboratory is vvel

euro pped to oeveloo buP hess opportun des in the borclc.rla n.o

betvree cli ro is try and io lop

The ioreti hi

ry
la bo rotors is an roportant pant uf Pu recfaa rd

nvestroen in developinci valuable biochemicals Here thcr

ncsearcbers consider tire wuole value chain -- from alternative

raw rd aterials via processes to fin ishecl prr.rclucts srrecui

ne500i rrli teac will strençthri the coropanyP expertise in the

cleveloproen of hirichernicals alternative hioincflcal raaac materials

new appi icat.ions chfferent techrioloqhss and processes ano will

conrrihute new rnicrohiolooical crxpertlse to Borrepaarcl Sevcrral
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Results for 2008
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DELIVERING
STRONG RESULTS
RE postid crating revenues of

191 inn tip O1T13r

with 200/ Operating profit before

deprec atron rrnpa rment harqes

and anortisa ion EBUDA endcd

the year at NOK 3219 miflion

compaied with NOK 31 12 miflion

in 200/ Jotuns oper ting revenues

totafled NOK 10/442 miHion an increase

of 18 00 the companys opcrating profit

Foil caric to NOK mrhnr from

NOK 803 miflion in 200/

RLCs contribution to aoun was

NOK 121/ rniflion

miUion in
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MARKET POSITIONS ON THE NORDIC GROCERY MARKET

PRODUCTS NORWAY SWEOEN DENMARK FINLAND

Frozen pizza

Ketchup

jam and marmalade

Preserved vegetables

Dressings

Herring

Codroespread

Bread products

Cordials/soft
drinks non-carbonated

Fresh pasta

Detergents

Personal care products

Dietary supplements
r3

Snacks

Textiles

Biscuits

Contectionery
ci

STPDNG No clearly larger than no ci GDDD No or No equivalent in size to No

PRFSENT No or weakeç clearly
weaker than No.1 ND PRESFNCE

and since then around 27
million

units have been sold In 2008 sales

of Define products to consumers

totalled NOK 233 million Orkla

Brands focuses strongly on the de

velopment of new Define products

Synergies and the spread

DI best practices

Inter-company synergies will be ex

ploited through the use of shared high

quality cost-effective support systems

and the spread of best practices

throughout the organisation
Human

resource development primarily takes

place in the line organisation but in-

house academies have also been estab

lished in Orkla and Orkia Brands which

cover the main links of the value chain

For several years now there has been

strong
focus on rationalising produc

tion operations
This work has consist

ed partly of continuously improving

operations at all factories and partly

of major improvement and redesign

projects supported by central project

staff Efforts to increase the efficiency

of production lines and production

structure will continue

Orkla Brands has established common
cost-effective support functions in

fields such as marketing and sales

purchasing and food safety

Corporate Development Marketing

Sales supports the line organisations

innovation and sales activities and

facilitates transfer of experience

across businesses Normative guide

lines and implementation pro

grammes are established for key

areas such as innovation advertising

development brand-building and

sales

Orkia Brands Purchasing was estab

lished to carry out purchasing of key

raw materials for all the individual

companies Purchases can thus be

coordinated to achieve larger volumes

and best practices are established in

strategic purchasing activities At the

same time expertise and experience

are transferred between the com

panies in Orkla Brands

Food safety is one of several building

blocks for creating and maintaining

confidence in the brands and

concepts To ensure stable high

standards of food safety at all fac

tories Orkla Brands has developed

its own food safety standard based

on the British Retail Consortium

standard Further in 2008 compre

hensive approval and audit system

for food safety was developed which

will also apply to Orkia Brands

suppliers

In the months and years ahead the

multi-local model will be developed

with the following objectives

High durable value creation by

delivering products that consumers

and retailers cannot do without

Growth both by increasing revenues

in existing businesses and through

acquisitions This growth will pri

marily take place in the markets in

which Orkla Brands currently

operates

Continuous focus on cost-effec

tiveness throughout the value chain

The operational companies will

receive support and guidance
from

Orkla Brands management to ensure

that these ambitions are realised Most

importantly expertise must be further

strengthened by training and develop

ing human resources Inter-company

exchanges of employees will play

vital role in this process
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Example Multi-local model

Krupskaya in the

heart of St Petersburg

CUS ORKLA BRANDS

An example of one of Orkia Brands many operational companies is the Russian confectio

nary company Krupskaya which was established in 1938 The factory has proud history

Production was maintained during the 900-day siege of St Petersburg during the Second

World War and the company still holds special place in the hearts of the citys inhabitants

Orkia acquired Krupskaya in 2006

and the company has developed

favourably since then In 2008

Krupskaya posted total sales of RUB

2.2 billion approx NOK 500 million

and at year-end the company had 845

employees Krupskaya reported im

proved results in 2008 and strength

ened its local positions

Value creation and local management

Krupskaya aims to become the leading

chocolate manufacturer in St

Petersburg and Northwest Russia The

company holds the No position in

the market in this region for chocolate

bars and boxed chocolate as well as

for loose individually wrapped choco

lates In the small chocolate segment

Krupskaya is No in the market

Krupskaya has focused on the largest

retail chains in St Petersburg and

Northwest Russia with which it has

entered into direct distribution agree

ments Since May 2007 the proportion

of chain-distributed Krupskaya choco

lates has grown from close to zero to

over 50 Chains originating in

Northwest Russia have gradually

established branches outside their

traditional home markets bringing

with them Krupskaya products

Insight and innovation

Local affiliations and proximity to con

sumers and retailers in St Petersburg

and Northwest Russia are core to

Krupskayas value creation number

of measures have been instrumental in

giving the Krupskaya brand stronger

local identity thereby strengthening

the companys position on its home

market

In close collaboration with the

renowned Russian Museum in St

Petersburg Krupskaya has developed

products that combine the companys

premium chocolates with motifs

from the very finest paintings in the

museums collection

Many of Krupskayas products have

strong emotional and visual associa

tions with local attractions and sights

in the area

Krupskaya has its own flagship store

centrally located in St Petersburgs

foremost shopping district

In 2008 these local ties were further

highlighted when Krupskaya signed

cooperation agreement with

St Petersburgs football team Zenith

Zenith/Krupskaya chocolates are now
sold all over the city

Synergies and spread

of best practices

Krupskaya has established successful

sales partnership with SladCo

Russian chocolate and biscuits compa

ny acquired by Orkla in 2005 In 2008

SladCo products were sold by

Krupskaya in St Petersburg and

Northwest Russia boosting sales

volumes significantly

In February 2008 Krupskaya initiated

comprehensive improvement pro

gramme with the assistance of the

staff of central corporate functions

at Orkla The analysis phase identified

potentials at every stage
of the value

chain and many of the improvement

measures have already been carried

out Among other things Krupskaya

has

Discontinued non-value

creating activities

Re-organised work responsibilities

Eliminated bottlenecks in

production lines

Improved material flows

As result of these improvement

efforts Krupskaya is now more

efficient supplier and is well prepared

to face increased competition in St

Petersburg and Northwest Russia

Local management From left Vyacheslav Skachkov Chief Financial Officer Marina Sergeeva Logistics Oirector

Philip Wegh Managing Oirector Alexander Shemchishin Purchasing Oirector Anatoly Mironovich Operations

Oirector Alexey Ostapchenko Sales and
Marketing Oilector and Alfiya Soloviova Human Resources Oirector
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GROUP DIRECTORY

Group directory

PARENT COMPANY

Oikla ASA

TO Box 423 Skoyeo

N0-0213 0510 Norway

Tel 47 2254 40 39

www orkla no

Urkla ASA

TO Box 162

NO-i 701 Sarpsbory Norway

Tel 4769 11 8090

Orkia ASA

Lokkenveien 204

N0-7332 Lokker york Norway

Tel 47 72 49 90 00

The
registered

office is in Sarpsborg

The Group Management is located in

Oslo

ORXLA BRANDS

Orkla Brands

P0 Box 4236 Nydalen

NO-O401 Oslo Norway

Tel. 47 22 89 50 00

www orklabrands.no

ORKLA FOODS NORDtC

P0 Box 711

NO-i 41 Kolboin Norway

Tel 476681 Ct 00

Stabburet AS

P0 Box 711

NO-i 411 Kolbotn Norway

Tel 476681 6t 00

www stabburet no

Stabburet AS Brxmrirrddal Norway

Stabburet AS Frediik Norway

Stabburet AS Grmsoy Kloster

Skien Norway

Stabburet AS dept dun Rygge

Rygge Norway

Stabburet AS Rygge Norway

Stabbuiet AS Strancla Norway

Stabburet AS dept Sunda

Oslo Norway

Sta AS Ualand Ncrrway

Stabbuiet AS Vigrectad Norway

Procordia food AB

Ellirrgevagen 14

SE-24 81 EslOy Sweden

Tel 46 413 65 000

www procordiafood.se

Procorciia Food AN Fagelmara

Swede

Procordia Food AN Kumla Sweden

Procordia Food AN Tnllarp Sweden

Procordia Food AB Vansbro Sweden

Procordia Food AB Orebro Sweden

Procordia Food AB Hofors Sweden

Abba Seafood AB

Box 24077

SE-400 22 Goteborg Sweden

Tel. 46 31701 44 00

Fax 46 31 701 44 90

www abbaseafood.se

Abba Seafood AN Kungsframn

Sweden

Abba Seafood AN Oddevalla Sweden

Abba Skaldjur AN Kungshamn

Sweden

Aktieselskabet Beauvais

P0 Box 139

OK-2630 TÆstrup Oenmark

Tel 45 43 58 93 00

www bea rivals Bk

Akfieselskabet Beauvais Svinninge

Denmark

Aktieselskabet Beauvais Fredericia

Den mark

Aktieselskabet Beauvais Ansagec

Denmark

Orkia Foods fenno-Baltic

Box 683

Fl-2036 Abo Finland

Tel 3582 410 414

www felixabba.fr

Felix Abba Oy Ab Abo Finland

Felix Abba Lahden tehdas

Lahti Finland

Oy Panda Ab Vaajakoski Finland

AS POltsamaa Fxrlix POltsarnaa

Estonia

SIA Spilvrr Riga Latvia

UAB Suslavrcius-Felix Kaunas

Lith uan ia

Bakers AS

PD Box 42 Okern

ND-0508 Oslo Norway

Tel. 47 22 88 03 00

www.bakers.no

Bakers AS dept Bryne Norway

Bakers AS dept Bwrum Norway

Bakers AS Grossistdistribuslon

Wholesale Distnbution Oslo

Norway

Bakers AS dept Haugesund Norway

Bakers AS dept Heba Brurnunddal

Norway

Bakeis AS dept Larvik Norway

Bakers AS depf Lillesand Norway

Bakers AS dept Martens Bergen

Norway

Bakers AS dept Nordfjordeicl Norway

Bakers AT dept Scm Norway

Bakers AS dept Singsds Bakeri

Norway

Bakers AS dept Trondelag Norway

Bakers AS dept kern Oslo Norway

Martin Nordby AS Oslo Norway

ORKLA BRANDS NORDIC

PD Box 4236 Nydalen

N0-D4D1 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 22 89 50 DO

Lilleborg AS

P0 Box 4236 Nydalen

NO-D4D1 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 22 89 50 DO

www hI leborg .no

www Ii leborg prof esjonel no

Lilleborg AS Ski Norway

Lilleborg AS dept Ello Kristiansund

Norway

Lilleborg AS dept Kronull Frei Norway

Nidar AS

N0-7DDS Trondheim Norway

Tel 47 7358 30 OD

www ni da no

Nidar AS Oslo Norway

Chips Ab

Strandgatan

AX-22 100 Mariehamn

Aland Finland

Tel 358 18 25 800

www.chips.fi

Chips Ab Haraldsby Aland Finland

Chips Ab Helsingfors Finland

Ab Chips Food Oy Vaalakoski Finland

KiMs Norway AS Oslo Norway

KiMs Norway AS Skreia Norway

KiMs A/S Sonderso Denmark

OLW Sverige AN Filipsiad Sweden

OLW
Svenige AN Solna Sweden

Latfood A/S Riga Latvia

Goteborgs Kex AB

SE-442 82 KungBlN Sweden

Tel 46 303 2D 90 00

www.goteborgskex.se

Swtre AS Oslo Norway

Sxetre AS dept Nord-Odal

Sagstua Norway

Axellus AS

PD Box 44

N0-1324 Lyxakec Norway

Tel. 47 22 53 48 00

www.axel lus no

www.axellxs.com

Axellus AS Oslo Norway

Axellus Dy Vantaa Finland

Axellus AS Ishel Denmark

Axellus AN Solira Sweden

Axellus Sp zoo Warsavz Poland

Axellus SIA Riga Laivia

Axellus Du Tallinn Estonia

UAB Axellus Vilnius Lithuania

Axellus s.ro Prague Czech Republic

Pierre Robert Droop AS

PC Box 4248 Nydalen

N0-D4D1 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 22 89 27 DO

www pierrerobertgrou no

Pierre Robert Group AN Malmo

Sweden

DRKLA BRANDS INTERNATIONAL

PC Box 711

N0-141 Kolbotn Norway

Tel 47 66 81 61 DO

Felix Austria GmbH

Felixstrasse 24

721D Mattersburg Austria

Tel 43 2626 61O0

www.felix at

Orkla Foods CIS

P0 Box 711

NO-i 41 Kolhotn Norway

Tel 47 66 81 61 DO

DAD Confectionery Grout SladCo

Moscow Russia

Confectiorrery Group SlarICo

Yekateninburg Russia

DAD Volahanka Confectionery

Plant Ulyanovsk Russia

Krupskaya Confectionery Factory

St Petersburg Russia

MTR Foods Limited

No 711 Cross KR Road

BSK Stage

Bangalore 560 070 India

Tel 91 80 26 76 DS 69

wwwmtrfoods corn

ORKLA FOOD INGRFDtENTS

PEt Box 423 Skoyen

N0-D213 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 2254 40 00

Idun Industri AS Hvam Norway

Idun lndustni AS Kokstad Norway

Idun Industni AS Rakkestad Norway

Candeco Coirfektyr AN Malinso

Sweden

Nimatopaal Dala-Brna AN

Dala-Jarna Sweden

Fnirna Vafler Arhus Denmark

Odense Marcipan A/S

Odense Denmark
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GROUP DIRECTORY

Bcechs Condito A/s Hobro

Denmark

Natuivi Food Cusuaiiu taly

Credin Group Freixeira Portugal

Cred Polska Sobotka To and

Credin Denmark juelsminde

Denmark

Credir Productos Alimenticios

Barcelona Spain

Credin Russia Ulyanovsk Russia

Credin bageripartner A/S

Vejie Denmark

Dragsbk A/S Thisted Denmark

Karnavorur Hk Inbak Peykjavik

Iceland

UAB Vilniaus Margarino Gamykla

VMG Vilnius Lithuania

Poznan Onion Poznan Poland

KS Foods Farup Denmark

Kolding Salattabrik Kolding Denmark

Gwdabakstur Reykjavik Iceland

Blume Food 1/5 Panders Denmark

Naturli Hotbjerg Denmark

BoFood Karlshamn Sweden

Bast International Denmark

KaKa AB Lomma Sweden

KaKa AB Sollentuna Sweden

KaKa AB Drebro Sweden

KaKa Czech Prague Czech Republic

Belusa Foods Belusa Slovakia

Jastbolaget AB Sollentuna Sweden

MiNordija Kaunas Lithuania

LaNordija Riga Latvia

Vilmix Tallinn Estonia

Orkia Foods Romania SA

Bucuresti Romania

OF Romania Craiova Pomania

OF Romania Covasna Romania

DF Romania asi
Romania

ORKLA AWMINIUM SOLUTIONS

Sapa AB

Box 55DS

SE-i 14 85 Stockholm Sweden

Tel 46 459 59 GD

www sapagroup com

Austria

Sapa Building System Vertriebs

GmbH Gleisdort

Belgium

Sapa Bu ding System Lichtervelde

Remi Claeys Aluminium N5

chtervelde

Sapa PC Profiles NV/SA Ghlin

Saga PC Profiles NV/SA Lichtervelde

Sapa Building System Nv Landen

Sapa Bu Iding System NV

Lichtervelde

Canada

Sapa Protiles Inc Sa es Dftice

Vancouver

China

Sapa Heat Transter Shangha Ltd

Shanghai

Sapa Protiles Shanghai Lid

Shanghai

Czech Republic

Sapa Protily .0 Dstrava

Sapa PC System CL s.r.o Kladno-Sitnà

Denmark

Sapa otiler A/S Grvna

England

Saga Building Systems Ltd Ashchurch

Sapa Building System AB

Sales Dttice Chester

Saga Components Pressweld Ltd

Gloucester

Sapa Profiles UK Ltd Cheltenham

Sapa Protiles UK Ltd Tibshelt

Estonia

Sapa Profiilid AS Sales Dttice

Ha rju maa

Finland

Sapa Proti lit Dy Sales Dttice Espoo

France

Sapa Protile Puget SA

Puget Sur Argens

Sapa Lacal SNC Le Garric

Sapa Profiles Albi SNC Ce Garric

Sapa PC System SAS La Chapelle

dArnentiŁres

Saga Building System France Puget

Sur Argens

Germany

Sapa Aluminium Trot In GmbH

Dtfenburg

Sapa Aluminium Protile GmbH

Sales Dttice OUsseldort

Sapa Building System GmbH Patingen

Saga Heat Transfer Tubes Pemscheid

Hungary

Sapa Protiles Ktt Szdkestehervar

Italy

Saga Protili SrI Fossanova

Sapa Protili S.r Feltre

Sapa Profili S.r Bolzano

Latvia

Saga Protili SIA Sales Dttice Riga

Lithuania

Sapa Building System Vilnius

UAB Saga Protiliai Kaunas

Mexico

Sapa Monterrey

Netheilands

Sapa Aluminium Bk Hoogezand

Sapa Extrusions Inc Harderwilk

Sapa Profiles NL Bk Harderwilk

Saga Prot Ies NC B\5 Drunen

Sapa Pole Products DrJnei

Saga Tubing Harderwijk

Saga PC System B\ Breda

Norway

Saga Profiler AS Sales Dttice Kjeller

Poland

Sapa Aluminium Sp 00 Lodz

Sapa uminium Sp 0.0 Trzcianka

Sapa System Sp 0.0 Warsaw

Portugal

Sapa II Pertis SA CacØm

Sapa Building System Cacem

Romania

SC Saga Protiles SPL Chisneu Cris

Slovakia

Saga Profily a.s Liar nad Hronom

South Korea

Saga Heat Transter Korea

Sales Dttice Seoul

Spain

Sapa Holdings Spain SC

Sales Office Barcelona

Sapa Profiles Perifalsa La Coruna

Saga Profiles La Selva Tarragona

Sapa Profiles Navarra Pamplona

Sweden

Saga AB Technology Finspang

Saga Automotive Vetlanda

Saga Building System AB Vetlanda

Saga Heat Transfer AB Finspang

Sapa Industriservice AB Finspang

Sapa Industriservice AB Skultuna

Sapa Komponenter AB Vetlanda

Saga Lackeririg AB Vetlanda

Sapa Mass Transportation Finspang

Saga Prof Ibearbetning AB Finspang

Saga Profilbockning AB Vetlanda

Sapa Profiler AB Vetlanda

Sapa Profiler AB Sales Office

Gothenburg

Saga Profiler AB Siles Ott ce

Stockholm

Sapa Prof ler AB Sales Office Umea

Sapa Thermal Management

Stockholm

Switzerland

Saga Aluminium Profile AG

Sales Office Zurich

Sapa Building System sarI Sevaz

Turkey

Saga PC System Turkiye AS Istanbul

USA

Norca Heat Transfer Sales Office

New York

Sapa Profiles Inc Portland Oregon

Sapa Industrial Extrusions Inc

Cressona Pennsylvania

Saga lndustrra Extrusions Inc

Morris Illinois

Saga Industrial Extrusions Inc

Spanish Fork Utah

Sapa cabricated Productc

Magno Arkansas

Saga Extrusions CCC Oelh Louisiana

Sapa Extrusions Inc Catawba

North Carolina

Saga Extrusions Inc Yankton

South Dakota

Saga Louisville Kentucky

Saga Catawba

North Carolina

ORKLA MATERIALS

ELKEM

Elkem AS

PD Box 5211 Mat orstuen

NO-O3D3 Os Norway

Tel 47 22 45 Dl 00

www.elkem com

Elkem Energi

TO Box 5211 Mat orstuen

NO-D3D3 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 22 45 01 00

Elkem Handel Oslo Norway

Elkem Fornybar Energi Oslo Norway

Elkem Energi Siso Straumen Norway

Elkem Energi Bremange Svelgen

Norway

Elkem Saudetaldene Sauda Norway

Orkla Finans Commodity Trading
AS

Oslo Norway

Elkem Silicon

PD Box 5211 Majorstuen

NO-O3O3 Oslo Norway

el 47 22 45 01 uu

Elkem Bremanger Svelgen Norway

Elkem Thamshavn OrkangeF Norway

Elkem Salten Straumen Norway

Elkem Tana Tana Norway

Mªrnes Kvarts ttbrudd Sandhorny

Norway

Elkem Foundry Products

Foundry and Special Products

PD Box 5211 Matorstuen

NO-D3D3 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 22 45 01 00

Elkem Bjolvetossen Alvik Norway

Elkem Bremangek Svelgen Norway

Elkem Iceland Akranes Iceland

Elkem Metal Canada Ch coutimi

Canada

Elkem Foundry Products Thionvi Ic

France

Elkem Foundry Ctrina

Elkem Materials

PD Box 8126 Vagsbygd

NO-4675 Kristiansand Norway

Tel 47 38 Dl 75 DD

Elkem Materials Pittsburgh USA

Elkem Materials South America

ORKi ANNLJAi ci now 125



GPOUP DIRECTORY
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NO 7675 Kr stiai No

Irl 47 DOt ID

Elkern tlarbc lila Fe nipany

gxrd
Hu \rDu

iii ui Ruyioi

run

Elke Wi We odusirial

5cr Binil

kern arbor irboden vado

Sc ma rail

Elkorxr Per eve or ii venfure

Will airk Scull AIr

Elkem Solar

PD Box 1104 vagvl yqd

NO4675 KrixU 10511 Norway

Ic i7 3201 DO

Elkem Metals Inc

P.O Box 266

P11tshurgl PA l2 IF 0266 USA

Tel 412 2C 721

Elkem Logistics

PU Box 211 Maloi tm

NO 1303 Dub Noiva/

Tel 47 2245W
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Elkem Research
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Elkem Representalive Office

Moscow Dxxx

freT Malerials rrgvpon Science

Park igapore

Iber Foundry

Las Aren xViicayr Spa

bc Malerialx Solar

Barce ona Spain

Elkern RepreserilaTvc Off cc

Prarjrrc vecl Rep

Dusseldorf Gerrnany

Elkerxr Sales and Markel ng

Serv ccx Elkern Metals Pillsburgh

Peooxvlxair USA

Rrpresenfalixe Office

Hour P2 li Fly Velnairi

BORREGAARD

Bonregaard

PD lox 1o2

NO 1701 Sarpsborg No way

Tel 47C9 11 8000

www born gaard corn

Borregaard Cheiiell Sarpsborg

Norway

Be regllid Energ
Sa borg Norway

Borregaard Ingredrenls Sarpxborg

Norway

Borregaa LrgnoTech Sarpxborg

Norway

Borregaard Synfhcsrs Sarpxborg

Norway

Germany

Borregaard Deulxch and GmbH

Dusseldorf

Borregaard Oem sch Ind GrnbH

LignoTech Werk Karlsruhe

Kadsrulic

India

Elkem Bcrrcgaa lid Nay

Mcmli

Italy

Borregaard ha SpA Madone

Borreguard liv SpA Ravenna

Japan

Borregaard Indusiriex Ltd lapan

Branch oko

Norway

Borregaxrd md Lid Sarpsborg

Borregaard Trwlaidslos AS Kvinesdal

Derramega Nutrilronal Oils AS

Leknes

Denomega Nulrrtronal Or AS

Alesund

Denomega NuIr tronal Oils AS

6am Fredrksfad

Oraveen ndusl park AS

Gamle Fredr kxlad

Poland

Bormegaa Poland Boxcar

Singapore

Borregaard SEA Pie Lid

South Africa

Lrgnojecb Soulh Africa Umkomaax

Spain

rgiolech Iberica To relavega

Borregaard berica SF Barcelona

Sweden

gnojech Sweden AB
Vargcri

Switzerland

Borrejaard Schwerz AG edhola

United Arab Emirates

Bormegaard Middle East Dubai

USA

LignoTecfr USA nc Brrdgewaler

New
Jersey

grrojech USA Inc Rolhsch Id

Wisconxi

Denornega Nutr lioia Oils

Boulder Colorado

Vietnam

Elkem Representation Olfice

Ho Chi Minh CrIy

ORKLA FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Orkla ASA Share Portfolio

PD Box 423 Skoyen

NO-0213 Dxci Norway

Tel 47 225440 00

www.orkla.com

Onkla Finans ASA

DO Box 1724

NO 0121 Oslo Norway

Tel. 47 22 40 08 00

www.orklx Ii iran x.no

Orkla Firrans Dx Norway

Okla Bergen Norway

Orkla Frnaix TrondE vim Norway

Orkla Finaix Slavangec Norway

Or kla Li lairs Sa idvrka Norway

Or kla ox ix Kr s0anxand Norway

Ork mans Tcrnsberg Norway

Orkla Firrans Harrar Norway

Dikla Tromso Norway

Orkla Finans Commodity Trading AS

Half nyc en 65

PD Box 521 Malomslxa

ND 0303 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 224511 00

Urkla ASA Eiendom

PD Box 423 Skoyen

ND 0213 Oslo Norway

Tel 47 22 40

Borregaard Skoger AS

DO Box 102

NO-24O1 vrn urn Norway

Tel. 47 6211 16 50

AS Bormeseir Sy hog Norway

Bonregaard Valox Elverum Norway

SB Skog Elverurn Norway

sfwood AS Elverurn Norway

Norxk Skogsenergn AS

Norway

Nygard Pm Mxelum Skogkorrfor AS

Amneberg Norway

Brobeng Skogs AB Bogringen

Sweden

OTHER COMPANIES

Orkla Shared Services AS

PD Box 7189 Maorxlueo

ND 0307 Oslo Norway

Te 47 2219 61 00

Chr Salvesen Er Chr Thamss

Communications Aktieselskab

Lckkenvcicn 204

NO 7332 Lcikkcn Vrrk Norway

Tub 47 72 49 90 DO

Austria

olech gnoxu fonate Haidels

GnbH SI Vahfn

Brazil

Melbar Produlor de Ligrxna Lfda

Sao Paolo

China

Bormcgaa ndxxtr es rniled

Shangira Rep exentainve Office

Sh
ngl

Czech Republic

otecli gurosulfoiale Haide

GrnbH Paxkov

England

Ban egiarcl UK Id Wanrwgton

Lhc shire

France

Borregaard France S.a .1 Pa ix

121 iruei xxxi



Dag Opedal

Torkild Nordberg

Ole Enger

Bjern Wiggen

Roar Engeland

Terje Andersen

Hilde Myrberg

President and CEO

Executive Vice President

Executive Vice President

Executive Vice President

Executive Vice President

Executive Vice President

Executive Vice President

HEADS OF BUSINESS AREAS

CORPORATE FUNCTIONS effective March 2009

FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING

Geir Solli

Senior Vice President Finance

Frode Kronstad

Senior Vice President

Corporate Accounting

Lars Rosg

Vice President

Financial Planning and Analysis

Join Tore Bern Larssen

Senior Vice President IT

Rune Helland

Senior Vice President

Investor Relations

Jan Thomsen

Chief Risk Officer

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

Per Fiedler

Senior Vice President

Corporate Development Operations

Pal Eikeland

Senior Vice President

Corporate Development Purchasing

Erik Barkald

Senior Vice President

Mergers Ti Acquisitions

KjeII
Sundsli

Senior Vice President

corporate Development Asia

OTHER CORPORATE FUNCTIONS

Hilde Myrberg

Human Resources/Organisation

Karl Otto Tveter

Senior Vice President Legal Aftairs

Ole Kristian Lunde

Senior Vice President

Communications

HÆkon Mageli

Senior Vice President

Corporate Affairs

Fridthjof Rer

Chief Internal Auditor

Pal Knutzen

Senior Vice President

Taxes

ORGANISATION

Organisation

THE GROUP EXECUTIVE BOARD The Group Executive Board is in charge of the day-to-day administration of Orkla

Further detailS regarding the members are presented on page

Orkia

Orkla Brands

Orkia Aluminium Solutions

Orkla Materials

Orkla Financial Investments and corporate Development

Chief Financial Officer cr0

Corporate Functions

Atle Vidar fohansen Ole Enger

ORKIA FOODS SAPA PROFILES ELKEM REC ASA SHARE PORTFOLIO

NORDIC 3973 O/o

Erik ThorsenBjoro Wiggen Thomas Oybo

ORKLA BRANDS SAPA BUILDING BORREGAARD JOTUN AS ORKLA FINANS

NOROIC SYSTEM 425 O/o

Jan
Dye Rivenes Hans Johaisson Per Msrlie Morten Eon Bjarn

SlBtto

ORKLA BRANDS SAPA HEAT ORKLA EIENDOM

INTERNATIONAL TRANSFER

Paul Jordahl Michael Mononen Morten Grongstad

ORKLA FOOD

INGREDIENTS

Jorn Unneberg
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Governing bodies and elected representatives

Corporate Assembly

Elected by the shareholders

KnLrt Brundtlond

Rune Bjerke

Ketil Houg 600

Johrrn Andresen

ETsabetti Grieg 500

1dm Kreutzer

Ni Is-Henrik Petlerssoi 80
Goon Wcersted

OlaLig Svarva

Dag Medell 13450
Lars Windfeldt 120265

Anne Gudefin

Marianre Blyslad

MIs Selte 51000
hid Lirjiern owned

biy

Deputy members

teije
Venvold 1000

Anne
Bingitte ossurrn 6500

Scilla Tieschow Hokholt 71965
Benedikte Blow

Ann Kristin Brautosel

Andreas
Engei 000

Lawyer

Group PreOdent arid CEO

Finance Director

CEO and OWriei

CEO

CEO

Lawyei

Country Seriioi Executive

Managing Directoi

Group President and CEO

Poitfolio Manager

Lawyei

Nuance Dirmtor

Group President and CEO

tic nec

Agricultural economist

Company Secretary

Porttolio Manager

DNB Nor 27129164
Oslo Pensjonstorsikring 8500000
Ferd AS 3266500

Grieg
International AS 18500

Storebrand 1941175
Law firm of Schtdt AS

Nordea 6392818
Eolketrygdfondet 121313110
Posten Norge AS

Franklin Templeton Investments

86438738
Law firm of P0 Sommernes DA

Canica 238342000

Veidekke ASA

Foirrco AS

StatoilHydro ASA 4655950

Folketrygclfondet 121313110

Stein Erik Hagen Chairman

Svein Jacobsen Deputy Chairman

Peter Ruzicka

Borg yen

Lennart Jeansson

Ase Aulie Michelef

Kristin Skogen Lund

Aage Andersen

Gunn Liabe

Per Arnfinn Solberg

eieerci by iSo inyioyecs

Employee-elected Board observers

Peer Sorensen

Kenneth Hertz

Employee-elected Deputy

Board members

Liner
Stofningshaug 882

Bjurn Rune Hennksen 1182

Roger Vangen 2037

Terje Utstrand 529
Sidsel Kjeldaa.s Salte 4534

Board of Directors

Elected by the employees Personal deputies for Deputies elected by

Kai Erik Andeisen 8964 the Swedish and Danish employees
Auditor

ens Mrrrten Rcieisrhrd representatives Rune Skac 50 Einst Young AS

an Ally loft 5082 Robert fohansson 379 Gke TAsted 234
Jan Egil Haga

Sverre Olsen 80 Per Carlsson Cecilie Borgen
State-authorised public accountant

Karirr ohansson Joan Brogger

Lsa MBntylB

Lene Anne Larsen 929

Figures in brackets indicate the number of

Nomination Committee
shares owned as of 31 Decernrber 2008 including

Nomination Cominntterr elected Knut Bnundtlrind Chairman Olaug Svarva
those owned by related

parties Figures in

by the General Meeung Elisabeth Grieg 4500 Sveee Olsen 80 for electron of
brackets after the name of the employer indicate

cf Aiticle 18 nt the Aiticles Idar Kreutzer Chairman of the Board
the number of shares owned by the employer

of Assocnatioir Leiv Askvig it
For shares owned by the Boanc of Directors and

Board observers see page 22-23

Corporate democracy at Orkia

Active participation by the employees in the
governing

borfies both at Group level Committee of Union Representatives meets regularly with the Groups

and in the individual subsidiaries is an important element rf decision-making executive management to discuss matters relevarrt to thcr Group

processes at Orkla common aim has been to evolve representational arrange

rnrents that adegurtey ensure broad-based involvement and genuine influence To ensure that the employees in the Groups other companies in Europe are

also informed of important matters concerning the Group arid tfrat their

the employees elect three of the ten members of Drklas Board of Duectors opinions on such matters are heard an agreement regarding European

and two observers One third of the members of the Corporate Assembly are Works Council EWC has been established at Orkla

elected by tIne Gioup errnployees

In addition to the
corporate arrangements mentioned here tfre employees

Air International Commnttee of Union Representatives has been established as is customary have representatives on the Board of Directors of the individual

for employees of thr Norwegian Swedish and Danish companies in the companies in the Group The
following

is list of the members of Onklas

Orkla Group This arrongemenf ensures broad repiesentafion for Group Internafional Committee of Union Representatives as of 31 December 2008

employees hosed on company uruon and country The International

Orkla Committee of Union Representatives

Working Committee Per Arnfnnn
Scrberg

Committee of Shareholders

Aage Anderserr Cfrrnrmrrn Einan Stofrnngshaug Representatives Goran jofrainssorr

horny Bengtsson t3cputy
Chairman Peer Sorensen Dan Andersson

Kerinetfi Hertz Terte Utstrand Per Tronvoll

Gunn Liabo Asmund Dybedah Roger Vangen

Ake Ligardh Nils Enik Nilsson Bjrn Rune Henriksen

Sidsel Keldais Silty Sanne ster
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Brokerage houses and analysts

HOUSES INVESTOR

An updated list of the brokerage

houses that regularly track

Orkias activities is available

on Orkias website under

Investor Relations Orkia

wishes to emphasise that the

analysts estimates and opinions

are their own and that they do

not necessarily represent Orklas

views Orkla does not necessarily

agree
with the content of the

analyses nor with the information

conclusions or recommendations

contained therein

ABG SUNDAL COLLIER

Contact Dag Sletmo

Telephone 47 22 01 60 00

E-mail dag.sletmooabgsc.no

ARCTIC SECURITIES ASA

Contact Eivind Bergkªsa

Telephone 47 21 0132 28

E-mail eivisd.berckaasa@arcticsec.no

RS PLATOU MARKETS AS

Contact Terje Mauer

Telephone 47 22 01 63 00

E-mail t.mauerydtplatoumarkets.com

HANDELSBANKEN CAPITAL MARKETS

Contact Tore DstLty

Telephone 47 22 94 08 35

E-mail tooso6y7ltandelsbanken.se

DNB NOR MARKETS

Contact Einar Kilde Evensen

Telephone 47 22 94 88 50

E-maiL eiaar kilde.evensen@dnboor.no

SEB ENSKILDA ASA

Contact Atle Vereide

Telephone 47 21 00 85 00

E-mail atle.vereicleydenskilda.no

FIRST SECURITIES AS

Contact Einar Sttcmstad

Telephone 47 2323 80 00

E-mail einat.strornstadyzlirst no

FONDSIINANS ASA

Contact Per Haagensert

Telephone 4723113000

E-mail
per haagenseny7londshnans.no

CARNEGIE ASA

Contact Preben Rasch-Olses

Telephone 47 22 00 9359

E-mail pro.ucarnegie.so

ARGO SECURITIES

Contact Heririk Schultz

Telephone 47 24 14 74 00

E-mail henrik.shcultzh7atgosec no

CREDIT AGRICOLE CHEUVREUX

Contact Daniel Oem

Telephone 46 87 23 51 75

E-mail dovi ny cheuvreux .com

DANSKE EQUITIES

Contact Nils Dye Kjerstad

Telephone 4722861325

E-mail oils ove.klerstadyjidanskebank.com

PARETO SECURITIES ASA

Contact Marianne Blaauw

Telephone 47 22 87 87 00

E-mail marianne.blaauwtzpareto.no

PIPER JAFFRAY LTD

Contact Torben Summer

Telephone 44 203 142 8817

E-mail torben.s.sommerrdiplc.coto

STANDARD AND POORS

Contact Ankit
Jais

Telephone 44 207 176 3221

E-mail ankitjain standardandpoors com

UBS INVESTMENT BANK

Contact Clot Cederholm

Telephone 46 453 7306

E-mail olof cedetholmaubs.com

ORION SECURITIES ASA

Contact Tomas Skeivys

Telephone 37 5246 19 62

E-mail tskyesecurities.no
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Investor contacts at Orkla

Name Rune Helland Name Siv Merethe Skorpen Brekke

Telephone 47 22 54 44 11 Telephone 47 22 54 44 55

E-mail rune hel land yTorkla no E-mail siv inerethe brekke44orkla .00

Main sponsor of

SOS-barnebyer
Nobel Peace Center

Lgnkig hielp ii Iotdret Nobels Fredssenter

Sponsor of

LLL1
THE OSLO CENTER




